

National Center for Research in Vocational Education

& University of California, Berkeley

A Guide for Improving Career Guidance Programs

Carolyn Maddy-Bernstein Zipura B. Matias

University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign

MDS-1294 • November 1999

National Center for Research in Vocational Education University of California, Berkeley 2030 Addison Street, Suite 500 Berkeley, CA 94720-1674

Supported by The Office of Vocational and Adult Education U.S. Department of Education

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This publication was developed at the University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign through the Improving Career Guidance Programs project. We are indebted to many individuals and organizations who gave of their time, materials, and wisdom to make this publication a truly useful and relevant material. The Project Advisory Committee consisted of Nancy Perry, Executive Director, American School Counselor Association (ASCA); Pat Schwallie-Giddis of George Washington University; Judy Ettinger and Roger Lambert of the University of Wisconsin-Madison, Center on Education and Work; Judy Petersen of the Granite School District and Granger High School in Utah; Nancy Harris of the Illinois State Board of Education; Laura Ward, President of the American Career and Technical Education Association; and Gisela Harkin, Career Guidance Program Officer of the U.S. Department of Education's Office of Vocational and Adult Education (OVAE). In addition, Gisela examined all the materials and participated in all deliberations about this publication and the project. Sylvia Clark of the Texas Department of Education and Laura Messenger and Jackie Friederich of OVAE also provided guidance to the project staff. Drs. Messenger and Friederich met with the Project Advisory Committee when possible.

Lynn Jensen and Dawn Kay, Utah State Office of Education, and Judy Petersen, Granite School District and Granger High School, allowed us a closer look at how the state implements its comprehensive career guidance programs. We visited with energetic individuals and looked at outstanding programs in the following schools: Provo High School, Lehi High School, and Fairfield Junior High School. We have used some of the materials from these schools for this guide.

In December 1998, several individuals participated in a focus group discussion and provided initial comments and suggestions about the form of this publication. The focus group participants were Cynthia Edwards and Dan Farrow, Marion County Tech Center, Marion, South Carolina; Rhea Nell Harper and JoAnn Walter, Central High School, San Angelo, Texas; Jeri R. McGraw, McKinney, Texas; and Ken Harriman, Elko High School, Elko, Nevada.

On June 29, 1999, we conducted a one-day Post Conference Workshop during the 1999 ASCA Convention in Phoenix, Arizona. Participants of the workshop received copies of handouts that became part of this guide. This guide was revised based on the overall feedback about that workshop.

Participants of the workshops we completed in San Diego, Baton Rouge, and Miami-Dade used the materials that became part of this guide. Their comments and feedback about the materials and the workshop procedure helped in the further revision of this publication. Finally, many of the materials used as samples and examples in this guide are from the application packets submitted by the exemplary programs. We are grateful for the willingness of these programs to share their materials. The address and contact persons for each of the programs is available in Chapter 4.

The following exemplary career guidance programs were included in this project:

CAREER AND TECHNOLOGY EDUCATION GUIDANCE AND COUNSELING PROGRAM Garland Independent School District Garland, Texas

CAREER AND TECHNOLOGY EDUCATION CAREER GUIDANCE AND COUNSELING PROGRAM Katy Independent School District Katy, Texas

CAREER GUIDANCE AND COUNSELING PROGRAM Caddo-Kiowa Vocational Technical Center Ft. Cobb, Oklahoma

PROJECT SOAR—SUCCESS OPPORTUNITIES THROUGH ARTICULATED RESOURCES Metro Tech Oklahoma City, Oklahoma

SPRINGDALE HIGH SCHOOL'S CAREER GUIDANCE AND COUNSELING PROGRAM Springdale Public Schools Springdale, Arkansas

AREA VOCATIONAL GUIDANCE AND COUNSELING PROGRAM Elgin/New Leipzig Public Schools Elgin, North Dakota

CAREER AND TECHNOLOGY EDUCATION GUIDANCE AND COUNSELING PROGRAM Birdville Independent School District Haltom City, Texas

CAREER GUIDANCE AND COUNSELING PROGRAM School District of Flambeau Tony, Wisconsin

SCHOOL-WIDE COUNSELING PROGRAM TO SUPPORT TECH PREP Elk Grove High School Elk Grove Village, Illinois

VAN BUREN INTERMEDIATE SCHOOL DISTRICT'S COMPREHENSIVE CAREER GUIDANCE PROGRAM Vocational-Technical Center Lawrence, Michigan

Kuna Career Counseling Program Kuna High School Kuna, Idaho THE CAREER CONNECTION'S FOUNDATION: THE CAREER PLANNING SYSTEM Volusia County Schools DeLand, Florida

COMPREHENSIVE CAREER GUIDANCE AND COUNSELING PROGRAM Zapata High School Zapata, Texas

RICH SOUTH HIGH SCHOOL: HORIZON PROGRAM Richton Park, Illinois

DORCHESTER DISTRICT TWO CAREER DEVELOPMENT INITIATIVES Summerville, South Carolina

La CROSSE CENTRAL HIGH SCHOOL GUIDANCE/CAREER CENTER La Crosse, Wisconsin

CAREER DEVELOPMENT CENTER San Joaquin Delta College Stockton, California

ALLIED JOBS PROGRAM Northeastern Oklahoma A&M College Miami, Oklahoma

THE PATHWAY PROGRAM St. Petersburg Junior College St. Petersburg, Florida

STUDENT SERVICES/COUNSELING PROGRAM Renton Technical College Renton, Washington

SHARED COUNSELOR PARTNERSHIP PROGRAM North Harris College Houston, Texas

CAREER PLANNING AND EMPLOYMENT SERVICES Parkland College Champaign, Illinois

LEWIS AND CLARK COMMUNITY COLLEGE: CAREER AND EMPLOYMENT SERVICES Godfrey, Illinois

TONY GOETZ ELEMENTARY SCHOOL CAREER GUIDANCE AND COUNSELING PROGRAM Muskogee, Oklahoma

A Guide for Improving Career Guidance Programs

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

A comprehensive developmental career guidance and counseling program helps students understand themselves, explore the career options available to them today and in the future, and make realistic academic and career plans and decisions. It also results in an increased interest in learning. The purpose of this guide is to assist those who want to develop or improve their career development programs by adapting the best practices from exemplars and other models and using standards suggested by national groups. Relevant information includes the guidance and counseling framework that the National Center for Research in Vocational Education uses for identifying exemplary programs, benefits of comprehensive programs, national standards and state models, and an inservice model for improving career guidance programs. Finally, resources to help in the improvement process such as pertinent legislation, exemplary programs, references, and worksheets are included.

A Guide for Improving Career Guidance Programs

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Acknowledgments	i
Executive Summary	v
Introduction	ix
Chapter 1. Comprehensive Career Development Programs	1
Chapter 2. Standards for Career Development Programs	9
Chapter 3. Improving Career Guidance Programs	19
Chapter 4. Resources	35
Exemplary Career Guidance and Counseling Programs	37
Elementary and Secondary Education	37
Postsecondary Education	52
Legislation with Pertinent Career Development Mandates	59
Carl D. Perkins Vocational and Applied Technology Education Amendments of 1998	59
School-to-Work Opportunities Act of 1994	66
Elementary and Secondary School Counseling Improvement Act of 1999 (newly introduced)	69
Glossary	73
Bibliography	77
Directory of State Career Development/Guidance Coordinators/Supervisors	85
Directory of State Occupational Information Coordinating Committees (SOICC)	93
Appendix A. Worksheets	99
Pre-Workshop Assessment Form	101
Team Planning Worksheets	121
Action Plan Form	125
Follow-Up Schedule	127
Evaluation Forms	129
Self-Study for Meeting Comprehensive Counseling and Guidance Program Standards (Utah)	131
Comprehensive Guidance Program Audit (Utah)	139
Appendix B. Project Advisory Committee Members and U.S. Department of Education Staff	143

Tables

1	National Center for Research in Vocational Education's Components of Exemplary Career Guidance and Counseling Programs	3
2	Benefits of Comprehensive Counseling and Guidance Programs as Reported by Utah Schools	8
3	National Career Development Guidelines' Competencies by Area and Level	11
4	American School Counselor Association's National Standards for School Counseling Programs	12
5	A Summary of the Process To Implement a National Standards-Based School Counseling Program	13
6	Program Plan Template	29
7	Stages of Concern: Typical Expressions of Concern About the Innovation	32
Figure	es	
1	Comprehensive Guidance Program Structure Recommended by Gysbers and Henderson	14
2	The Utah Model for Comprehensive Counseling and Guidance Program	17
3	The Implementation Dip	34

INTRODUCTION

Educators are constantly searching for better ways to serve students—from striving for students to achieve academic and technical skills; to helping them understand themselves and their direction in life; to meeting their emotional, social, and mental needs. But educators must avoid creating a hodgepodge of uncoordinated and scattered programs and services characterized by unnecessary duplication of efforts and failure to reach our nation's diverse student population. Educational institutions should strive for a comprehensive, developmental program designed to serve the *identified* needs of all students. A coordinated, comprehensive program also ensures that weaknesses and other problems can be easily identified and addressed. In light of recent violent episodes in our nation's schools, educators face increasing pressure to connect with *every* student. One means of meeting this challenge is through the provision of a comprehensive developmental career guidance and counseling program that serves K-12 students and those at the adult level. Such a program will help students understand themselves, explore the career options available today and tomorrow, make realistic academic and career plans and decisions, and increase student interest in learning.

Background

This 1999 National Center for Research in Vocational Education's (NCRVE) Career Development Project was funded to (1) assist selected urban sites in implementing comprehensive career development programs and (2) produce a guide on best practices addressing the benefits from comprehensive programs, how others can replicate these programs, and providing contact information for additional assistance and resources. In order to accomplish the first goal, we designed a professional development program to enhance the work of schools seeking to improve career development programs. This guide is the fulfillment of the second goal.

The first steps in accomplishing both goals began by searching the literature on professional development, school reform, and leadership for school change; conducting focus groups; and meeting with the Project Advisory Committee both as a group and through a number of phone discussions with individual members. In addition to the Project Advisory Committee members, who are recognized state and national leaders in the field of career guidance and counseling, U.S. Department of Education staff provided guidance and attended at least one meeting of the Project Advisory Committee. (Appendix B contains a list of the Project Advisory Committee members and U.S. Department of Education staff who participated). The following organizations cosponsored the professional development program:

- U.S. Department of Education
- American School Counselor Association
- Association of Career and Technical Education

- Association of State Career Development/Guidance Supervisors
- University of Wisconsin–Madison, Center on Education and Work

Since 1994, the Office of Student Services and the Career Development Project at NCRVE's University of Illinois site has worked with the U.S. Department of Education, and the organizations listed above to identify exemplary career development programs. To date, 24 programs have been identified. While there had been a concerted effort to encourage other sites to adopt/adapt these programs and practices through traditional inservice efforts, those efforts did not result in widespread adoption of the identified programs.

During 1999, the Career Development Project focused on designing and implementing an in-depth professional development program to assist schools to develop or improve their comprehensive career development programs. Drawing from the research on facilitating effective change in schools as well as our work on exemplary programs, the staff developed an inservice program to help schools adopt or adapt the exemplary programs and practices identified over the last five years. During the summer and fall of 1999, we field-tested the professional development model at three urban sites (San Diego, Baton Rouge, and Miami-Dade public schools). In all, we worked with a total of 12 teams, each team consisting of 4-15 members. Chapter 3 contains information on the inservice model developed through this project.

The material in this monograph is based on

- our work in identifying exemplary career development programs at the NCRVE, University of Illinois site.
- the exceptionally rich career guidance and counseling/career development literature available today.

Overview

The purpose of this guide is to assist those who want to improve their career development programs by adapting the best practices from exemplary career guidance and counseling programs. We begin by presenting in Chapter 1 a definition of career development, the guidance and counseling framework that the NCRVE uses for identifying exemplary programs, and a short discussion of the benefits of comprehensive programs. Because most exemplary programs are based on researched and widely accepted models, we present in Chapter 2 a summary of national standards and guidelines. We also include an example of a state career guidance and counseling model.

In Chapter 3, we show the professional development model for improving career development programs and strategies that schools can use as they implement their career development program plan or improvement effort. Chapter 4 includes a variety of resources for developing or improving programs. Finally, the worksheets participants used during workshops to plan better career development programs are included in Appendix A, and a listing of the Project Advisory Committee members and the U.S. Department of Education staff is included in Appendix B.

CHAPTER 1. COMPREHENSIVE CAREER DEVELOPMENT PROGRAMS

It is generally accepted that *career development* is a lifelong process which incorporates general education, occupational training, and work, as well as one's social and leisure life. According to the National Career Development Guidelines (Kobylarz, 1996; NOICC, 1989), a career guidance program . . .

- is identifiable but integrated with other programs within the institution.
- enhances the career development knowledge, skills, and abilities of all students by establishing program standards.
- uses coordinated activities designed to support student achievement of the standards.
- supports the delivery of the program through qualified leadership; diversified staffing; adequate facilities, materials, and financial resources; and effective management.
- is accountable, with evaluation that is based on program effectiveness in supporting student achievement of the career guidance and counseling standards. (NOICC, 1989, p. 1)

Gysbers and Henderson (1994) submit that guidance programs (1) have characteristics such as student outcomes, activities, and processes to assist students in achieving these outcomes, professionally recognized personnel, materials and resources, and evaluation techniques; (2) are developmental, providing activities on a regular, planned, and systematic basis to assist students to achieve specified competencies, and comprehensive, providing a full range of activities and services such as assessment, information, consultation, counseling, referral, placement, follow-up, and follow-through; and (3) feature a team approach in which all school staff are involved (pp. 31-32).

Clearly, good education programs have elements other than those directly related to the program activities. Elements such as administrative support and parent involvement may not always be apparent but are usually an integral part of good programs. Thus, the National Center for Research in Vocational Education (NCRVE) researchers set forth the following criteria as a framework for identifying or developing exemplary career development programs (Maddy-Bernstein, 1994; Maddy-Bernstein & Cunanan, 1995; Wermuth & Phelps, 1990).

The Guidance and Counseling Framework

The framework for identifying exemplary guidance programs consists basically of four clusters of components: (1) program delivery, (2) the collaborative and articulation efforts, (3) the leadership and support given the career guidance and counseling

program by the institution (e.g., school principal, community college administration, policies that support the program), and (4) evaluation (see Table 1).

Most of the first set of components—*Career Guidance and Counseling Program Plan*—are adapted from the National Career Development Guidelines (Kobylarz, 1996; NOICC, 1989). According to a Department of Labor publication,

there is widespread agreement that career guidance, properly implemented, addresses three broad competency areas involved in the career development process. [The author notes these competency areas abound in the literature and are reflected in the National Career Development Guidelines.] Ideally, career guidance programs will enhance:

- Self-knowledge and self-awareness: Conscious examination of personal values, interests, and goals [including the assessment program];
- Educational and occupational exploration: Presentation and integration of information and experience; and
- Decision-making and career planning: Understanding the interrelations between the self and the world and developing skills to make realistic choices and rational decisions. (Allum, 1993, p. 9)

Chapter 2 contains information on the standards and guidelines for career development programs. While addressing the needs of diverse student populations should be inherent in all the elements of exemplary guidance programs, the two other components in this cluster are included to emphasize the need to serve all students. In addition, support services (e.g., peer counseling program, volunteers) and a strong career information delivery system enrich guidance programs.

The second group of components—*Collaboration, Articulation, and Communication*—stresses the significance of forging strong partnerships with parents, businesses, teachers, and community organizations. Effective career guidance and counseling programs have substantial community and business support.

The third set of components—*Institutional Support, Leadership, and Program Evaluation*—are typical of any good program. Such programs have strong administrative support, financial assistance, a comprehensive professional development program, and qualified personnel.

The final group of components—*Evaluation*—is also typical of outstanding programs. Assessing and evaluating program effectiveness must be continuous and include a variety of techniques. Formal follow-up of program completers and early leavers is necessary for program improvement.

NATIONAL CENTER FOR RESEARCH IN VOCATIONAL EDUCATION'S COMPONENTS OF EXEMPLARY CAREER GUIDANCE AND COUNSELING PROGRAMS

- A. Career Guidance and Counseling Program Plan
 - 1. Assisting Students/Clients To Achieve Career Development Competencies
 - 2. Addressing the Needs of Diverse Student Populations
 - 3. Program Support Services
- B. Collaboration, Articulation, and Communication
 - 1. Family/Parental Involvement and Support
 - 2. Faculty/Staff Involvement in Career Guidance and Counseling Program
 - 3. Intra- and Interagency Collaboration
 - 4. Collaboration with Business
- C. Institutional Support, Leadership, and Program Evaluation
 - 1. Institutional Support
 - 2. Facilities
 - 3. Financial Support
 - 4. Guidance Personnel Qualifications
 - 5. Professional Development
- D. Evaluation
 - 1. Evidence of Program Effectiveness
 - 2. Follow-Up of Program Completers and Noncompleters

Source: Maddy-Bernstein and Cunanan (1995), p. 14

Benefits of a Comprehensive Program

Why should schools develop a comprehensive career development program? What benefits will the students get out of a comprehensive system? These are questions often asked by teachers, counselors, and administrators and rightly so. Educators in recognized exemplary programs assert that assisting students in their career planning is a common sense approach to education. Comprehensive programs offer the following benefits to the students:

• All students are served—no one falls through the cracks. A comprehensive program ensures that all students receive the attention/services they need commensurate to their needs. These programs also help schools keep track of every student so no one is overlooked or forgotten. The *WE* program at Zapata High School, Zapata, Texas, uses the advocacy strategy to ensure that each and every student has an adult advisor with whom they interact at least twice a week throughout the year outside of their classes and other school activities (see *Best Practices: Advocacy* on p. 6 of this guide). In other schools, mentoring and similar programs offer students an adult role model and someone with whom they can discuss issues confronting their daily life.

- Comprehensive systems address individual needs—not all students need the same services. Although comprehensive programs offer a full range of activities and services, not all students need the same kind or level of services. These programs use a variety of assessments to determine the student's needs, as well as interests, abilities, and aptitudes and can offer appropriate services. For example, some students may need more one-on-one counseling, others may need help with post-high school transition, while others may require referral to other service providers.
- Mismatch between students' post-high school plans and the education/training requirements of top jobs—necessitates good career education and planning. Provo High School in Utah reports that 98% of its incoming freshmen indicate they plan to get at least a bachelor's degree and attend a university after high school. Yet, only 30-35% of the students who graduate actually obtain postsecondary education (Ward & Evans, 1998). The *1997 Digest of Education Statistics*, published by the National Center for Education Statistics, shows that 77% of 12th graders expect to go to college right after graduation; yet, only 50% of them graduate. This points to a need for more guidance and instruction on career planning—something that comprehensive programs do.

The *National Career Development Guidelines: K-Adult Handbook 1996* (Kobylarz, 1996) further lists the following benefits of career development programs: (1) reducing individual risks by promoting higher self-esteem and improving social adjustment; (2) preparing individuals for the changing workplace by increasing their understanding of the relationship between education and employment; (3) increasing program accountability by evaluating program components through regular assessment of individual achievement; and (4) promoting program coordination and articulation by defining a sequence of delivery for program activities, reinforcing learning from previous levels and reducing duplication of services.

In Muskogee, Oklahoma, the Tony Goetz Elementary School's exemplary career guidance and counseling program has a component called Job Experience Program for Elementary Students (JEPES) (see boxed article *Job Experience Program for Elementary Students* on p. 5 of this guide). After only one year of implementation, school staff reported the following outcomes:

- 88% of the 4th and 5th grade students chose to be a part of JEPES, completed the necessary paperwork, and were hired.
- 90% of the students felt this program helped them to be better students.
- 90% felt that this experience would help them make better decisions in the future regarding career choices.
- 17% drop in behavior problems in just one year.

In addition, the school reports a 9.4% increase in math and 4.8% increase in reading scores in the national standardized test.

The state of Utah began implementing a comprehensive guidance program model in 1989 that strongly emphasized development of the Student Education Occupational Plan (SEOP). A total of 240 schools had implemented the model by 1998. The Office of Education commissioned two surveys: the first in 1994 to gather detailed information about actual SEOP practices and products, and the second in 1997 to determine the impacts of more fully implemented comprehensive guidance programs on the SEOP process and related indicators. The latter study concluded that more fully implemented comprehensive guidance programs on all aspects of the SEOP process as well as other aspects of guidance in the schools. Successes were reported in the following areas: placement of district and state SEOP policies, increased parent support and involvement in the SEOP process, more available and accessible career exploration activities, increased amount of time counselors spend working directly with students, and increased student participation and interest in the SEOP process. Table 2 summarizes the benefits for students, parents, teachers, administrators, local boards of education, business representatives, and guidance personnel that have been reported by Utah schools implementing a comprehensive counseling and guidance program (Utah State Office of Education, 1998).

Job Experience Program for Elementary Students (JEPES) Tony Goetz Elementary School Muskogee, Oklahoma

JEPES is a career awareness unit developed by school staff that integrates the National Career Development Standards and school-to-work components with the Oklahoma State Department of Education PASS objectives. A project designed to "employ" all students in 4th-5th grades, it is a social studies unit that provides students with actual job experiences, including the application and résumé writing process, interviewing, actual hiring, completion of time cards, and an actual paycheck. The unit helps promote school pride and student responsibility, lowers discipline problems, and helps students explore school-created jobs as possible career options. It also promotes positive social interaction between students and the business world, thus fostering a better relationship between school and the community.

Subjects Covered: Social Studies, Language Arts, and Math

National Career Development Guidelines Met: Competencies I - XII

PASS Objectives Met: Social Studies: 4th grade—IV and VI, 5th grade—III, IV, and V; Language Arts: I, II, and III; Math: I, II, III, IV, VI, VIII, and X

Age/Grade Level: 4th-5th grades

Activities: Students will research and learn about various careers; learn how to complete necessary paperwork to apply for a job; participate in a job fair; have an opportunity to apply, interview for, and work at a school-created job; learn how to complete and turn in time cards relating to their jobs; receive, manage, and have an opportunity to spend their student paychecks; and learn various job duties as well as general job requirements such as punctuality, responsibility, cooperation, and teamwork.

Materials/Supplies Needed: Mock paperwork—cover letter to parents explaining the program, application, résumé, job descriptions, student time cards, payroll checks, or play cash, interview sign up sheets, interview question sheets, and appointment cards. Items for students to purchase with paychecks may vary depending on students' preferences—privilege passes, pizza, toys, school supplies, and so on.

For more information about JEPES, contact Pam Bradley, Principal, 2412 Haskell Boulevard, Muskogee, Oklahoma 74403; (918) 684-3810.

BEST PRACTICES: ADVOCACY

by Carolyn Maddy-Bernstein, NCRVE, University of Illinois site, and Velma Garza, Zapata High School

Background:

Zapata, Texas, is a rural border town in an economically disadvantaged area with a school system boasting a 0.6% dropout rate for 7th-12th grades and a 94% attendance rate. The presence of a very supportive administration and caring teachers and staff make school a welcome place for Zapata youth. Zapata High School is a school that has consciously worked to try different ways to help students become successful. School personnel have actively participated in initiatives that promote a better school environment for the students.

Zapata High School is a recipient of the 1997 National Exemplary Career Guidance and Counseling Program award from the National Center for Research in Vocational Education and the U.S. Department of Education Office of Vocational and Adult Education.

The Advocacy Program:

Zapata High School runs an advocacy program called *WE*. The program is coordinated by the guidance staff but each teacher and administrator serves as an advocate who is responsible for 13 to 17 students for the four years they are in high school. Groups are assigned alphabetically by their graduating class. Teachers give up one conference period every two months to meet with their advocacy groups. Advocacy meetings take place for $1\frac{1}{2}$ hours every other week on Wednesdays. The classes meet on a rotating period by period schedule (e.g., first Wednesday meeting is held during the first period, second Wednesday meeting is held during the second period, and so on).

During advocacy meetings, teachers and students work on the career development curriculum and other age appropriate activities to meet the career, educational planning, and social needs of every student. The program uses a four-year developmental career guidance and counseling plan/timeline. Several commercial curricula are used that vary according to grade level. For example, teacher advocates working with seniors use the A.P.P.L.E. Resource Guide: Applying Practical Principles for a Lifetime of Employment. A variety of activity books are also used to enhance the different curricula. Activities from the National Career Development Guidelines for 9th-10th grades and 11th-12th grades are incorporated into appropriate grade-level lessons. When appropriate, teachers refer students to counselors. In addition to the career development curriculum, the advocacy groups are structured to help students increase self-esteem and self-understanding. The school has a strong staff development program to prepare faculty and staff to discuss other age-appropriate topics such as dating violence and date rape.

(continued next page)

BEST PRACTICES: ADVOCACY, CONTINUED

Another feature of the program is the requirement for each teacher advocate to make a yearly visit to the home of each student in his or her advocacy group. The visits, which are dubbed "REACHING OUT," are designed to provide *positive* feedback to parents on their children. Teachers complete a short form describing the outcome of the visit. To provide continuity and better understanding of their students, the advocates work with their assigned students until they leave high school.

The advocates and students sign a contract that details the commitment of the advocate and the responsibilities, as well as commitment of the students. For example, the advocate agrees to provide instruction in a variety of areas, a positive and safe environment, and a commitment to be present at meetings and home visits. The student agrees to honor the meeting dates and to come on time with an open mind and a positive attitude. Students also fill out an evaluation form that provides feedback about the lesson or topic and recommendations for improving or retaining the topic in the curriculum.

Counselors and administrators support the teachers in this program by providing the curriculum, videos, computer software and materials, and print materials. They also serve as substitutes when teachers are absent. While teachers started the advocacy program with some reluctance and many doubts, they have grown to believe it is an extremely worthwhile activity that improves student behavior and increases teacher morale. Clearly, students are being served and the program is very popular. On the program evaluation, the students frequently request the program be offered on a weekly basis. While student attendance has increased significantly since the implementation of the program, it is interesting to note that students and faculty have close to perfect attendance on advocacy meeting days.

National Career Development Guidelines (1989) is published by the National Occupational Information Coordinating Committee.

A.P.P.L.E. Resource Guide: Applying Practical Principles for a Lifetime of Employment is a 1995 publication of Curtis & Associates, Inc., Kearney, NE.

This article was published in the Winter 1999 issue of *Career Watch*, a publication of the American College Personnel Association.

BENEFITS OF COMPREHENSIVE COUNSELING AND GUIDANCE PROGRAMS AS REPORTED BY UTAH SCHOOLS

BENEFITS FOR STUDENTS

- 1. Guarantees guidance services to all students.
- 2. Promotes a developmental approach in sequencing guidance activities.
- 3. Increases the opportunity for counselor-student interaction.

BENEFITS FOR PARENTS

- 1. Provides support for parents regarding their child's development.
- 2. Establishes a system for a student's long-range planning.
- 3. Increases opportunities for parent-counselor interaction.

BENEFITS FOR TEACHERS

- 1. Encourages positive, calendared activities and supportive working relationships.
- 2. Promotes a team effort to address developmental skills and core competencies.
- 3. Increases teacher accessibility to the counselor as a classroom presenter and resource person.

BENEFITS FOR ADMINISTRATORS

- 1. Creates a structured program with specific guidance content.
- 2. Provides a means for measuring effectiveness of guidance programs.
- 3. Enhances community image of the guidance program.

BENEFITS FOR LOCAL BOARDS OF EDUCATION

- 1. Presents the rationale for including guidance as a comprehensive program in the school system.
- 2. Provides district patrons with current data regarding student competencies obtained through guidance program efforts.
- 3. Establishes a basis for determining guidance funding allocations.

BENEFITS FOR BUSINESS, INDUSTRY, AND LABOR

- 1. Provides increased opportunity for collaboration and active participation among counselors and business, industry, and labor communities.
- 2. Increases accessibility to the counselor.
- 3. Prepares a potential workforce with decisionmaking skills, pre-employment skills, and increased worker maturity.

BENEFITS FOR GUIDANCE PERSONNEL

- 1. Defines a clear role and function that are educationally based.
- 2. Eliminates nonguidance functions and revitalizes a professional identity.
- 3. Provides a tool for program management and accountability.

Source: Utah State Office of Education (1998)

CHAPTER 2. STANDARDS FOR CAREER DEVELOPMENT PROGRAMS

Those who want to develop or improve their career development programs are fortunate to have a wealth of research-based, field-tested standards and models as guides. Several individuals and organizations have invested a great deal of time and effort to put together comprehensive models that include not only the content but the organization and processes that can be used to implement a successful career guidance program. The majority of exemplary programs we have seen use one or a combination of models and standards to develop their program. This chapter presents a brief description of these models. Because most programs also utilize the Secretary's Commission on Achieving Necessary Skills (SCANS) competencies as a basis for their activities and/or curriculum, we have included the skills here as well. Finally, at the end of this chapter, we present the Utah State Model for Comprehensive Counseling and Guidance which is based on two standards.

Standards and Models

The National Career Development Guidelines. The NOICC launched the National Career Development (NCD) Guidelines initiative in 1986. Its purpose is to strengthen and improve comprehensive, competency-based career counseling, guidance, and education programs. The NCD Guidelines' model for a comprehensive career development program consists of three elements: (1) content, (2) processes, and (3) structure. The content is defined by competencies, which are broad goals for career development, and indicators, which describe specific knowledge, skills, and abilities that individuals must develop to achieve a competency. These are organized into three major areas: (1) self-knowledge, (2) educational and occupational exploration, and (3) career planning (see Table 3). Standards state how and at what level or rate individuals will achieve a specific indicator. They are established by the educational institution, agency, or business organization and represent local decisions and circumstances. Processes are approaches used to actually deliver the program content, and structure is the framework that supports the program's activities (Kobylarz, 1996).

National Standards for School Counseling Programs. In 1997, the American School Counselor Association (ASCA) published the book *Sharing the Vision: The National Standards for School Counseling Programs* (see Campbell & Dahir, 1997). This book offers a definition of school counseling programs, its goals, components, and benefits. More importantly, it presents the standards for three student development areas—(1) academic, (2) career, and (3) personal/social—and the competencies which define the specific knowledge, attitudes, and skills that students should obtain or demonstrate as a result of participating in a school counseling program (see Table 4).

In Vision into Action: Implementing the National Standards for School Counseling Programs, Dahir, Sheldon, and Valiga (1998) provide school counselors with the direction and guidance to implement the standards through a five-phase process: (1) discussion, (2) awareness, (3) design, (4) implementation, and (5) evaluation. Table 5 includes a summary of the purpose and key questions for each step of the process.

The Comprehensive Guidance Program Model. Gysbers and Henderson (1994) recommend a comprehensive guidance program model with three elements: (1) content; (2) organizational framework, activities, and time; and (3) resources (see Figure 1).

The content element identifies student competencies considered important by the school district for students to master as a result of their school's comprehensive guidance program. The organizational framework element contains three structural components and four program components along with example program activities and counselor time distributions across the four program components. Finally, the resources element presents the human, financial, and political resources required to fully implement the program.

The Developmental Guidance and Counseling Program Model. The Developmental Guidance and Counseling Program model, which was developed by Robert Myrick (1997), consists of eight goals which characterize almost all developmental guidance and counseling programs. Each goal is further delineated by a set of general objectives that, in turn, can be described more specifically through expected observable outcomes. In addition, each of the goals are true for all schools (K-12). Particular attention and emphasis to various objectives are usually grade-level related, considering developmental stages and tasks appropriate for each age group. The eight goals are as follows:

Goal 1: Understanding the School Environment

Goal 2: Understanding Self and Others

Goal 3: Understanding Attitudes and Behavior

Goal 4: Decision Making and Problem Solving

Goal 5: Interpersonal and Communication Skills

Goal 6: School Success Skills

Goal 7: Career Awareness and Educational Planning

Goal 8: Community Pride and Involvement

The goals and objectives of Myrick's model are guided by seven principles of developmental guidance programs. These assumptions provide direction as to how a program can be implemented and evaluated.

- 1. Developmental guidance is for all students.
- 2. Developmental guidance has an organized and planned curriculum.
- 3. Developmental guidance is sequential and flexible.
- 4. Developmental guidance is an integrated part of the total educational process.
- 5. Developmental guidance involves all school personnel.
- 6. Developmental guidance helps students learn more effectively and efficiently.
- 7. Developmental guidance includes counselors who provide specialized counseling services and interventions.

NATIONAL CAREER DEVELOPMENT GUIDELINES' COMPETENCIES BY AREA AND LEVEL

Elementary	Middle/Junior High School	High School	Adult
SELF-KNOWLEDGE			
Knowledge of the importance of a positive self-concept.	Knowledge of the influ- ence of a positive self- concept.	Understanding the influ- ence of a positive self- concept.	Skills to maintain a posi- tive self-concept.
Skills to interact posi- tively with others.	Skills to interact posi- tively with others.	Skills to interact posi- tively with others.	Skills to maintain effec- tive behaviors.
Awareness of the impor- tance of growth and change.	Knowledge of the importance of growth and change.	Understanding the im- pact of growth and de- velopment.	Understanding develop- mental changes and transitions.
EDUCATIONAL and O	CCUPATIONAL EXPLO	RATION	
Awareness of the ben- efits of educational achievement.	Knowledge of the ben- efits of educational achievement to career opportunities.	Understanding the rela- tionship between educa- tional achievement and career planning.	Skills to enter and par- ticipate in education and training.
Awareness of the rela- tionship between work and learning.	Understanding the rela- tionship between work and learning.	Understanding the need for positive attitudes to- ward work and learning.	Skills to participate in work and lifelong learning.
Skills to understand and use career information.	Skills to locate, under- stand, and use career information.	Skills to locate, evaluate, and interpret career information.	Skills to locate, evaluate, and interpret career information.
Awareness of the impor- tance of personal re- sponsibility and good work habits.	Knowledge of skills necessary to seek and obtain jobs.	Skills to prepare to seek, obtain, maintain, and change jobs.	Skills to prepare to seek, obtain, maintain, and change jobs.
Awareness of how work relates to the needs and functions of society.	Understanding how work relates to the needs and functions of the economy and society.	Understanding how so- cietal needs and func- tions influence the na- ture and structure of work.	Understanding how the needs and functions of society influence the na- ture and structure of work.
CAREER PLANNING			
Understanding how to make decisions.	Skills to make decisions.	Skills to make decisions.	Skills to make decisions.
Awareness of the inter- relationship of life roles.	Knowledge of the inter- relationship of life roles.	Understanding the inter- relationship of life roles.	Understanding the im- pact of work on indi- vidual and family life.
Awareness of different occupations and chang- ing male/female roles.	Knowledge of different occupations and chang- ing male/female roles.	Understanding the con- tinuous changes in male/ female roles.	Understanding the con- tinuing changes in male/ female roles.
Awareness of the career planning process.	Understanding the pro- cess of career planning.	Skills in career planning.	Skills to make career transitions.

Source: Kobylarz (1996)

American School Counselor Association's National Standards for School Counseling Programs

I. Academic Development

	Standard A:	Students will acquire the attitudes, knowledge, and skills that contribute to effective learning in school and across the life span.		
	Standard B:	Students will complete school with the academic preparation essential to choose from a wide range of substantial postsecondary options, including college.		
	Standard C:	Students will understand the relationship of academics to the world of work, and to life at home and in the community.		
II.	Career Development			
	Standard A:	Students will acquire the skills to investigate the world of work in relation to knowledge of self and to make informed career decisions.		
	Standard B:	Students will employ strategies to achieve future career success and satisfaction.		
	Standard C:	Students will understand the relationship between personal qualities, education and training, and the world of work.		
III.	III. Personal/Social Development			
	Standard A:	Students will acquire the attitudes, knowledge, and interpersonal skills to help them understand and respect self and others.		

- *Standard B:* Students will make decisions, set goals, and take necessary action to achieve goals.
- *Standard C:* Students will understand safety and survival skills.

Source: Campbell and Dahir (1997), p. 17

A Summary of the Process To Implement a National Standards-Based School Counseling Program

Step	Purpose	Key Questions
1. DISCUSSION Develop a vision statement.	Depict the ideal future.	What should be the results of our efforts for students?
Create a school counseling leadership team.	Decide who needs to be involved.	What factors need to be considered?
2. AWARENESS Review national and your current program student competencies.	Understand the current situation of your students' needs.	What needs to change to help our students achieve success?
Use information and data.	Be aware of the expectations of your program.	
Review district and state standards and expectations.	Identify key issues/challenges.	
3. DESIGN Select competencies.	Prioritize and consolidate the competencies.	What specific outcomes do we want students to achieve?
Develop strategies and activities.	Ensure that your program will impact all students.	What approach will we take to reach those outcomes?
	Ensure that you have support from all of the stakeholders.	What political and institutional factors should we consider?
4. IMPLEMENTATION Put the plan into action.	Determine programmatic actions and strategies that will produce the desired outcomes.	Who will do what, when?
5. EVALUATION Evaluate progress.	Define benchmarks to measure progress.	How will we know when we have achieved our goals?
	Assess student progress in achieving standards.	

Source: Dahir, Sheldon, and Valiga (1998), p. 32

FIGURE 1



COMPREHENSIVE GUIDANCE PROGRAM STRUCTURE

Source: Gysbers and Henderson (1994), p. 67

The Secretary's Commission on Achieving Necessary Skills. What skills will prepare our youth to participate in the modern workplace? What skill levels do entry-level jobs require? In 1990, U.S. Department of Labor secretary Elizabeth Dole established the Secretary's Commission on Achieving Necessary Skills (SCANS) to answer these questions. As a result of the commission's research, it was determined that to find meaningful work, high school graduates need to master certain workplace skills. These skills, now commonly known as SCANS skills, include five competencies and a three-part foundation of skills and personal qualities that define effective job performance.

Workplace Competencies

Resources	 Identifying Organizing Planning Allocating time, money, materials, and human resources
Interpersonal Skills	 Participating as a team member Teaching others new skills Serving clients and customers Exercising leadership Negotiating Working with diversity
Information Skills	 Acquiring and evaluating information Organizing and maintaining information Interpreting and communicating information Using computers to process information
Systems Skills	Understanding systemsMonitoring and correcting performanceImproving and designing systems
Technology Utilization Skills	Selecting technologyApplying technology to a taskMaintaining and troubleshooting technology
	Foundation Skills
Basic Skills	 Reading Writing Performing arithmetic and mathematical operations Listening Speaking
Thinking Skills	 Thinking creatively Making decisions Solving problems Seeing things in the mind's eye Knowing how to learn Reasoning
Personal Qualities	 Responsibility Self-esteem Sociability Self-management Integrity Honesty

The Utah State Model

The Utah State Model for Comprehensive Counseling and Guidance is a marriage between the National Career Development (NCD) Guidelines competencies and indicators and Gysbers' Comprehensive Career Guidance Model. The framework follows that of Gysbers but the content uses the NCD Guidelines' competencies (see Figure 2). The Utah model has identified twelve standards to guide and direct program development and implementation:

- 1. Local school board approval of written program
- 2. Advisory and steering committees
- 3. Formal guidance program needs assessment
- 4. 80% of counselors' time devoted to direct services to students (guidance curriculum, individual planning, and responsive services) with no more than 20% of counselors' time devoted to system support and nonguidance activities
- 5. Program serves all students
- 6. Individual planning process which involves guidance curriculum activities, assessment, and parent involvement
- 7. Inclusion in the guidance curriculum for identified student competencies
- 8. Assist students in post-high school placement
- 9. Articulation of guidance program with schools in feeder system
- 10. Guidance program budget to provide for facilities, materials, and equipment
- 11. Responsive services available to all students
- 12. Professional development/training of all guidance team members, teachers, and others

Utah's model includes a complete process to assist schools in implementing a comprehensive guidance program, including a systematic professional development program, an explicit implementation strategy, and a funding mechanism. Schools use a self-study as a tool for program implementation (see Appendix A – *Self-Study for Meeting Comprehensive Counseling and Guidance Program Standards*) and an audit instrument for program enhancement (see Appendix A – *Comprehensive Guidance Program Audit*). A description and more thorough discussion of the Utah model can be found in a 1998 publication by the Utah State Office of Education entitled *Utah Model for Comprehensive Counseling and Guidance*.

FIGURE 2

THE UTAH STATE MODEL FOR COMPREHENSIVE COUNSELING AND GUIDANCE PROGRAM

FRAMEWORK	PROGRAM DELIVERY COMPONENTS	CONTENT	RESOURCES
Conceptual Framework • Mission Statement • Rationale • Benefits • Assumptions Structural Framework • Steering Committee • Project Advisory Committee • Staffing Patterns • Budget • Guidance Resources • Facilities SUGGESTED TIME D	 Guidance Curriculum Classroom Presentations Structured Groups Individual Planning SEP/SEOP Advisement Assessment Responsive Services Individual Counseling Small Group Counseling Consultation Referral System Support Management Public Relations Professional Development Evaluation 	 Competencies Self-Knowledge Educational and Occupational Exploration Career Planning 	 Human School Community Business and Labor Political School Boards Legislature Policy Financial State Funding Grants Technological Equipment Management Systems
		Percentages	
	Elementary School	Middle/Junior	High School

	Elementary School	Middle/Junior High School	High Schoo
Guidance Curriculum	40	35	25
Individual Planning	10	25	35
Responsive Service	35	25	25
System Support	15	15	15
Totals	100	100	100

Source: Utah State Office of Education (1998), p. 7

A Guide for Improving Career Guidance Programs

CHAPTER 3. IMPROVING CAREER GUIDANCE PROGRAMS

Good programs do not develop by accident but result from deliberate actions taken by educators that produce programs that affect students' lives in a meaningful way. The first section of this chapter presents an inservice model developed and field-tested during 1999 by the NCRVE *Improving Career Guidance Programs* project. The National Career Development Guidelines, the ASCA Standards, the Utah model, the Gysbers and Henderson model, and others (see Chapter 2) offer strategies for improving guidance and counseling programs. Our purpose here is not to duplicate those efforts but rather to describe the process we developed by blending the planning and implementation processes from those programs with the content from recognized exemplary guidance and counseling programs, which were identified for the purpose of serving as program models.

The second section of this chapter presents a discussion of recommended strategies for planning and implementing career guidance and counseling programs. The strategies are mostly based on actual experiences of exemplary programs and suggestions we have solicited from various groups who have examined this publication. The strategies are more common sense than novel. Where appropriate, sample forms, communications, and materials used by exemplary programs are incorporated as well.

This chapter also includes a brief discussion of the importance of managing change in any school improvement effort. Much of the discussion is taken from the extensive research and work undertaken by the Southwest Educational Development Laboratory in this area.

Background and Project Steps

Educators in charge of professional development at the state, district, or school level continually seek effective delivery models. The focus of this project was to design a program to encourage educators to adapt or adopt exemplary career development programs and practices. Our work was guided by a Project Advisory Committee representing the U.S. Department of Education, ASCA, the Association of Career and Technical Education, the Association of State Career Development/Guidance Supervisors, and the Center on Education and Work at the University of Wisconsin–Madison. The following summary of the process we used should be of interest to local, district, and state school leaders as they design similar programs.

- 1. Work with the Project Advisory Committee to establish priorities for the project staff, to identify career guidance and counseling resources and models, and to recommend sites for field tests.
- 2. Review the literature on implementation models (e.g., National Career Development Guidelines) and effective professional development models.

- 3. Identify field-test cities and work with district coordinators to find high school sites interested in improving career development programs. The coordinators served as partners to project staff, made physical arrangements for workshops, gathered resources, and so on.
- 4. Work with team leaders from each of the 12 school sites and with the three district coordinators to become familiar with sites, identify needs, and determine the exemplary programs that best match their needs.
- 5. Contact exemplary program representatives determined to best match teams' needs.
- 6. Design and conduct $1\frac{1}{2}$ -day workshops for each district (three districts identified, with a total of 12 teams).
- 7. Design and conduct a monthly follow-up with each team leader and each district coordinator.
- 8. Conduct evaluation (formative and summative).

The work of the project staff followed the models for improving guidance and counseling programs and the literature on improving education programs. In general, all the models recommend similar strategies (Hord, Rutherford, Huling-Austin, & Hall, 1987; Gysbers & Henderson, 1994; Utah State Office of Education, 1998):

- There should be a recognized need to change the school programs.
- All those involved in implementing a new program should work together to establish the program direction (e.g., mission and vision).
- The program to be implemented should be based on good research and proven practices.
- Those who will implement the new program should be involved in designing the implementation and evaluation plan, including an ongoing professional development effort.
- A student needs assessment should be conducted.
- The school's strengths and resources should be identified and built on.
- School leadership should provide resources and ongoing assistance to educators implementing the program (e.g., new materials, equipment, staff development based on identified needs, mentors, coaches).
- There should be a process in place to monitor implementation and provide appropriate assistance.
- The evaluation or a means to determine the degree of success should be designed up-front, not as an afterthought.

Professional Development

Effective professional development is essential to successful school reform. According to the U.S. Department of Education (1998), good professional development programs

- should be planned collaboratively by those who will participate in and facilitate the implementation of the work.
- require substantial time and other resources.
- should be driven by a coherent long-term plan.

Educators must make wise use of their limited resources by creating professional development programs that are relevant, comprehensive, and target the *identified* needs of all those involved in implementing a new program. These activities should be designed to help educators move through all stages of program implementation from early stages when they need awareness and information to learn about the innovation to later stages when they are in the midst of implementing and need help with the *how to* dimension. Less utilized professional development approaches such as site visits to model programs, demonstrations of new techniques by practitioners engaged in the practice or innovation, mentoring, and coaching may be more appropriate techniques in the later stages of implementing a new program (Hall & Hord, 1987; Hord et al., 1987).

The inservice program for this project is designed to address the tenets of good professional development and includes the following design features:

- The content and process of the inservice program is planned in cooperation with identified sites.
- Each school's strengths and needs are determined through a written assessment instrument.
- Conduct a workshop that results in an action plan and timeline produced by site teams.
- Include practitioners from recognized exemplary comprehensive developmental guidance programs as workshop presenters and facilitators.
- After the workshop, contact team leaders and district coordinators at regular intervals to determine further needs and assist where possible.
- Plan for a follow-up workshop.

The first objective of this inservice project was to identify school(s) wishing to improve or develop their comprehensive career development program to serve as field test sites. As a rule, local and state personnel who design professional development programs skip this step because they have predetermined groups to serve. The project staff's task was lessened considerably when grant managers at the U.S. Department of Education suggested the project staff identify three urban sites. Suggestions for urban school districts and a district contact person(s)/coordinator(s) who might wish to work with the project were solicited from members of the Project Advisory Committee. The identified sites were San Diego, California; Baton Rouge, Louisiana; and Miami-Dade, Florida. A total of 12 high schools sent teams to participate: two in San Diego, three in Baton Rouge, and seven in Miami-Dade.

During the spring and summer of 1999, the NCRVE project staff worked with the identified teams to implement the inservice model developed through this project. The discussions below will provide readers with a better understanding of that process.

1. Collaborative Planning. The project staff had lengthy discussions with district coordinators from each of the three urban sites to clarify their expectations for this program as well as those of the project staff. The discussions helped shape the workshop's agenda and content. The collaboration also served to help the project staff learn about participating schools, including the school climate, problems, other ongoing or new efforts to change their programs, and so on.

The district coordinators were also asked to identify schools that would participate based on the following criteria:

- Schools should have a sincere desire to improve their career development program.
- Schools should select teams to participate who will attend workshops and continue to work through the planning and implementation stages (a team must have more than one person, preferably 5-15).
- Team membership should be voluntary.
- The principal and/or other administrators should be a member of participating teams.
- A team leader should be identified.
- Teams would meet prior to the two-day inservice to complete the program assessment and possibly begin planning.

While not every team in the project met all the recommended criteria, those teams who appeared to be most successful, at least in the early stages of planning and implementation taking place at the time of this writing, are those teams who met most of the criteria stated above.

District coordinators also made physical arrangements for the workshops, coordinated plans with school teams, reproduced workshop materials, and assisted the project staff during the workshops.

2. Pre-Workshop Program Assessment. Each team was asked to complete a program assessment to determine their school's strengths and areas for improvement. The assessment instrument is based on the components of comprehensive career development programs (see Table 1). The format and wording is based on a similar assessment developed by Lambert and Ettinger (1995) and adapted with permission (see Appendix A – *Pre-Workshop Assessment Form*). The purpose of the assessment was twofold. First, it required team members to review their program based on a set of components shown to be present in exemplary programs. The review enabled teams to identify potential areas or goals to address during the workshop and also to determine resources already available in their school and community that may assist during the implementation of their program plan. Second, it promoted teamwork and cooperation.

3. Workshop. The one- to two-day workshop held at each of the three sites was designed to provide ample time for (1) participants to learn about good career development programs and (2) teams to make plans for including a career development program in their school improvement effort. Project staff, in collaboration with district coordinators and exemplary program representatives, served as workshop leaders and facilitators. The format was designed to guide teams through the planning process using structured team exercises and through nonstructured time for teams to work as needed.

The workshop exercises are based on research on facilitating change in schools (Brown & Moffett, 1999; Condliffe, 1999; Hall & Hord, 1987; Hord et al., 1987) and are designed to encourage teams to *discuss, clarify*, and finally *record* their decisions on a team worksheet (see Appendix A – *Team Planning Worksheets*). The structure and the activities helped teams work together in an orderly manner, clarify their goals and responsibilities, establish accountability during planning (not an afterthought), plan for assessing outcomes, and provide for time to continue teamwork. They include the following directions:

- Select a leader to keep members on track, a recorder to keep records of the proceedings, and a reporter to share their work with other teams (the leader is to serve as the team's contact person in post workshop follow-up).
- Reach consensus and record the team's agreed upon definition of career development.
- Reflect on the major problems in the team's school and suggest ways a career development program might solve that problem.
- (Major thrust of workshop) *Clearly define and record* the team's expectations for the project they are planning, including what they will do, who will be responsible, who will benefit, what will determine the outcomes/evidence of success, how will the outcomes/evidence be measured, and who is accountable.
- Set target dates for team meetings during the year.
- Plan professional development activities for program implementors by
 - deciding how the professional development content will be determined.
 - setting dates for activities.

During the workshop, each of the exercises was preceded by a discussion on good practice. Facilitators assisted each team, answered questions, gathered resources, and acted as a "sounding board." At the workshop's conclusion, leaders collected an action plan from each team that detailed the steps or the process involved, persons responsible, target dates, resources needed, expected outcomes, and assessment. The action plan served as a guide for NCRVE staff during the post workshop follow-up contacts that took place in the fall of 1999.

- 4. Ongoing Assistance. After the workshop, the project staff made monthly contacts with each of the 12 team leaders (September through December) and the three district coordinators. The monthly follow-ups were made to determine progress on the teams' action plans and to provide assistance to team members in locating resources and materials to aid their planning and implementation. The monthly calls enabled project staff to monitor the process of implementation and suggest ways to avoid pitfalls. The calls also served as a means to keep educators focused and act as a reminder that work needed to continue despite busy schedules. As mentioned above, exemplary program representatives were also available to answer questions and advise teams when contacted.
- **5. Future Workshop Planning.** Each site was encouraged to plan and conduct a follow-up workshop six to nine months after the initial workshop to address issues that arose in the implementation of the plans and to learn from the successes of other participants/teams. For the field-test teams, all three district coordinators were amenable and supported the idea of holding the workshop.

Workshop Evaluations. Leaders used daily evaluations to assess "what works" in the workshop content and format. The Day One Evaluation was used to gauge satisfaction of participants and to make necessary adjustments for the second day. Day Two Evaluations provided an overall assessment of both days' activities. Results of the latter showed an extremely high degree of satisfaction with both the workshop content and the format by participants at all three sites. The results were shared with the invited exemplary program representatives and the district coordinators.

Invited Presenters. Practitioners from exemplary programs have great credibility with other practitioners who clearly prefer to hear from people who have "been there, done that." Thus, representatives of selected recognized programs that best matched the aspirations and needs of the teams at the particular site served as presenters and facilitators. District coordinators and team members reviewed abstracts of the 24 recognized exemplary programs (see Appendix A – *Exemplary Program Abstracts and Contact Information*). From those materials and further discussion with NCRVE project staff, the sites requested exemplary programs that might serve as their models. For example, a site with one or more teams considering a teacher/advisor delivery model for the career development program might request representatives from the Springdale High School, Arkansas, program or the Zapata High School, Texas, program.

During the workshops, exemplary program representatives made brief presentations about their programs, served as consultants and facilitators to teams during their work sessions, and encouraged teams to incorporate exemplary practices into their action plans. The representatives are also available for several months after the workshops to provide ongoing assistance and to answer questions or offer advice by phone.

Recommended Planning Strategies

During the workshop and in the follow-up contacts, the project staff encouraged teams to use proven planning and implementation strategies gleaned from those who have effectively improved their programs. The following strategies are taken from our work with exemplary programs and from other sources such as the *National Career Development*

Guidelines: K-Adult Handbook 1996 (Kobylarz, 1996), the Southwest Educational Development Laboratory's Leadership for Change training materials, and the American School Counselor Association publications.

Putting a Team/Committee Together. Teams are encouraged to use a steering committee and other working committees with membership from as many stakeholders as possible. The steering committee should include a number of people who are clearly committed to change and are in a position to effect change (e.g., administrators; teachers; counselors; support staff; business and community representatives, especially major employers; students and student advocacy groups; parents; and representatives from postsecondary institutions). The steering committee members form subcommittees or working committees, each one responsible for recruiting members to assist in planning and implementing the work assigned.

It is also helpful to have business and community leaders on the steering committee. Not only are they able to enhance marketing efforts of the new program but may also tap resources unavailable or unknown to educators.

Below are sample teams from exemplary programs:

Volusia County, Florida's Career Connection Program Steering Committee consisted of representatives from the following groups: Agricultural Science and Natural Resources, Business and Marketing, Communication and Arts, Engineering and Manufacturing, Health and Human Services, Volusia County Schools, Flagler County Schools, Daytona Beach Community College, Vocational and Rehabilitation Services, Chamber of Commerce, Government Agencies, the Private Industry Council, and the Labor and Employment Sector.

The Rich South High School's Vision 2000 School Improvement Committee was comprised of teachers, administrators, parents, and students. The committee was charged with looking into the possibilities of the block scheduling system as part of the school's Vision 2000 initiatives.

It is very important to involve critical individuals in committee work (Hord, 1993). Often, these individuals ask the hard questions, thus evoking healthy discussion that may lead to more agreement than would otherwise be possible. In our work with exemplary schools, we have interviewed a number of individuals who have been transformed from critics to staunch program advocates as a result of their involvement.

• Assessing Student Needs. One of the most beneficial tools for redesigning any portion of the school program, and one that is critical to restructuring an entire school, is a comprehensive, well-constructed assessment to determine student needs. While whole school comprehensive assessments take a great deal of time, resources, and coordination, it gives users an unparalleled basis for program improvement based on input from parents, community members, teachers, administrators, and the students themselves.
When schools restructure based on clearly defined areas of need, the work of faculty and staff is clarified and job descriptions have real meaning. For example, school counselors can profit greatly from established priorities that define their work, thus eliminating unrelated tasks such as scheduling and administrative details; administrators are able to offer sound reasons for additional budget; and school board members have a rationale for policies. There is little question everyone in the school reaps the benefits of a well-defined, needs-based program, but none more so than the students.

• Assessing the Career Development Program. A program assessment helps a committee take stock of the program's resources, needs, and strengths. It will highlight where gaps exist and help the committee focus. A number of publications include guides for assessing the career guidance and counseling/career development program such as the *National Career Development Guidelines: K-Adult Handbook 1996* (Kobylarz, 1996) which features several instruments that can be completed and adapted to each school's needs.

For this project, we adapted Lambert and Ettinger's (1995) Career Development Plan and combined it with the NCRVE framework for exemplary career guidance and counseling programs (see Table 1 and Appendix A – *Team Planning Worksheets*). The resulting assessment includes items that address each component and requires a simple check on the column chosen (Yes, No, Somewhat, and Not Applicable). Completing the assessment as a team activity is extremely important. It gives the team an overview of the program and a good starting point for their planning process. During the field test, a number of team members were amazed at the numerous career development activities already in place in their school and realized a comprehensive, coordinated program would be less daunting than they had envisioned.

• Deciding Direction for the Career Development Program.* When teams reply with full candor to the assessment survey, gaps in program components are revealed, as well as program strengths. An important next step is to determine areas/components which require improvement. At this point, it is vital to the success of future planning and implementation that the team clearly agree to a common direction and envision the outcome(s) of their work. A shared, common vision minimizes confusion, gives structure to setting goals, and enables the group to work more harmoniously (Hord, 1993). It would be useful to most educators to use one of the many "visioning" exercises available to educators. They are designed to provide structure to this important step in program improvement.

Once there is agreement, the vision statement must be written and shared widely with everyone who will be involved in planning and implementing the program. The work continues until there is general agreement that a common vision is in place. Sample vision and mission statements from exemplary programs follow.

*Note: As educators begin to plan and implement any new program, they must work within the bounds of their overall school improvement plan and district plan. Fortunately, comprehensive career development programs have been shown to have the desirable outcomes that will usually address the majority, if not all, of most school improvement goals.

Mission and Vision Statements Volusia County Career Connection Program DeLand, Florida

Mission: The mission of the Volusia County Career Connection Program is to facilitate the transition of students from school to work by implementing the Career Connection and assuring its continuing success.

Vision: The Career Connection Program will develop maturity and work ethic in students and instill in them the belief that they will be able to use and apply what they learn in school to the real world.

Vision Statement Zapata High School, Texas

Zapata High School ensures that the diverse and unique individual students' needs are met and that ALL students acquire the knowledge, develop the skills, and master the concepts necessary to graduate, to succeed in the students' occupational choice, and to become effective citizens and workers in our society.

A good resource for developing the vision and mission statement is Southwest Educational Development Laboratory's (SEDL) Leadership for Change materials. Contact SEDL at 211 E. Seventh Street, Austin, TX 78701-3281, (800) 476-6861, fax: (512) 476-2286, e-mail: webmaster@sedl.org, internet: www.sedl.org/ welcome.html. Their worksheet for developing a mission statement asks the following questions:

- Who will do it?
- What will they do?
- For whose benefit?
- What is the outcome or evidence?
- Who is accountable?
- Developing the Program Plan. Once a direction and a common vision is in place, the next step is to develop a program plan or a plan of action. A program plan could take any form. Kobylarz (1996) presented several elements of a program plan in the NOICC handbook. We adapted these elements and present the template on Table 6. For the workshop, we asked the teams to use a shorter action plan form found in Appendix A *Team Planning Worksheets*. It may be necessary to gather more information about the initiative or focus of the improvement effort through site visits to programs who have implemented the same program, inviting an expert to discuss the program, or reading the literature about the program. For example, Rich South High School's (see Appendix A –

Exemplary Program Abstracts and Contact Information) Vision 2000 School Improvement Committee was charged with examining how the block scheduling system might enhance the school's vision and belief statements. The committee members spent two years studying research, visiting a number of restructured high schools, and holding numerous discussions about the block scheduling system.

• **Planning for Implementation.** The program plan is the roadmap to implementation. It will have steps, milestones, target dates, and expected outcomes. It is also important to remember the different stages of concern that people go through during the change process (see Table 7) so that appropriate measures are taken to ensure everyone is on task and that proper interventions are set in place.

A critical part of the plan is the inclusion of potential planning dates or times to ensure work is on schedule. Failure to establish regular meeting times can be a major hindrance to implementation.

• Planning for Evaluation. Although evaluation is a crucial component to improving a program, it is one that is often neglected. Plans for both ongoing and summative evaluations should be made to ensure an accurate measure of the effectiveness of the improvement effort. Progress in the improvement effort should be monitored through ongoing evaluation activities that may include classroom visits, use of journals, focus groups, as well as the traditional survey questionnaire. Continuous assistance throughout the implementation process should be provided through school or classroom visits, peer observations or coaching, mentoring, and support groups or teams.

Ongoing evaluation activities may include classroom visits, use of journals, focus groups, as well as the traditional survey questionnaires.

Exemplary programs use a variety of ways to determine program effectiveness:

- The La Crosse Central High School, Wisconsin, guidance program uses annual data collected by the ACT company and results of parent and senior exit surveys.
- Lewis and Clark Community Colleges' Career and Employment Services uses a combination of surveys: (1) user surveys from Career and Employment Services Center, (2) pre- and posttest results from a career class, and (3) results of an annual Occupational Follow-up Study conducted by the college.

TABLE 6

PROGRAM PLAN TEMPLATE

Title

Mission/Vision

Standard or Model upon which the program is based

Description

- Processes the specific career development procedures for each standard
- Activities specific activities for each standard such as lesson plans, units, courses, and so on
- Program Participants individuals who will experience the activity
- **Staff** personnel who will deliver the activity (counselors, teachers, mentors, community resource professionals, and volunteers)
- **Timeline** a schedule describing when each of the activities will begin and end

Structure

- Leadership who will *manage* the program, their roles and responsibilities, and support requirements
- **Staffing** a description of each type of staff member, and their roles and responsibilities
- **Facilities and Resources** a list of the types of facilities needed, including space, equipment, materials, and supplies
- **Budget** a formal budget detailing the financial resources required and potential sources (local/district, state, others)
- Management Plan a description of all management tasks needed to ensure successful implementation of the program
 - Planning and Development
 - Implementation
 - Involve committees and subcommittees
 - Conduct staff development
 - Monitor program implementation
 - Evaluate—ongoing and summative—and use results for improvement

Program Schedule – a timeline for the delivery of the program, with processes and activities listed by month and groups being served

Evaluation Plan – a strategy for an ongoing and summative evaluation of the program, the report and its audience, and for using the results for program improvement

Planning for Professional Development. An important aspect of the program plan is the professional development component. The Southwest Educational Development Laboratory (Hord, 1994; Hord et al., 1987) maintains that a major factor in creating successful programs is provisions for training and professional development. In addition to the more traditional models for professional development, useful practices include site visits to model programs, mentoring and/or coaching, and seminars and workshops about the program delivered by experts from within or imported from other programs across the country. See Chapter 4 – *Exemplary Career Guidance and Counseling Programs* for a description and contact information of exemplary programs available for site visits. To identify mentors/coaches from your state, contact your state career guidance and counseling consultants (see Chapter 4 – *Directory of State Career Development/ Guidance Coordinators/Supervisors*).

Project implementers need time set aside for inservice. An important consideration when planning inservice is determining how the focus of the inservice will be identified (e.g., survey faculty and staff for their needs). It is important to meet the needs of those implementing the program by making sure that their or their representative's input is included when making these decisions.

The plan should include a component on developing or purchasing reference and other materials. A word of caution about disseminating materials: Busy educators often fail to read materials unless they have been given a reason for taking time to do so. Try to kindle their interest by emphasizing the importance of the information and even directing them to pertinent parts.

During the planning and early implementation of the Zapata High School's Advocacy Program, the principal led one-hour weekly workshop sessions that featured materials such as

- Texas Education Agency's One Student at a Time.
- Stephen Covey's Seven Habits of Highly Effective People.
- National Association of Secondary School Principal's Breaking Ranks.

Future sessions will focus on the following materials:

- Elaine Lee's The Power Principle
- Peter Serge's The Fifth Discipline

Understanding and Managing School Change

For over a decade of providing technical assistance through the NCRVE, we have listened to scores of practitioners who are in settings where various education reforms are occurring. While some have described very sound, proven strategies known to facilitate change, too frequently they relate stories of poor professional development programs, little or no technical assistance from their school or the district, a poor understanding of the changes taking place, frustration, and failure. The literature on schools is replete with information on facilitating change. However, it appears that when planning and implementing new programs or attempting to improve ongoing ones, many educators leading school change are either ignorant of or simply choose to disregard the relevant research.

The Concerns Based Adoption Model. When designing the professional development program for this project, we felt it was extremely important to help team members understand the nature of change in education and what has been shown to be effective strategies for accomplishing change. The work of the Southwest Educational Development Laboratory (SEDL) on effective school change is most applicable. Their years of research have generated basic guidelines for facilitating change and have provided us with the Concerns Based Adoption Model (CBAM) (Hord et al., 1987). The following discussion is based on their work.

CBAM is a client-centered approach to changing education that defines seven stages of concern that individuals experience as they progress through the adoption or implementation phases of change. The stages are characterized by their expressions of concern at the various stages (see Table 7). CBAM, designed to enhance the efforts of educators who are leaders of change, is based on the following principles that policymakers, school administrators, and every person in a position to effect change in education should understand and apply.

Change is . . .

- a process, not an event.
- accomplished by individuals, not institutions.
- a highly personal experience.
- a developmental growth process.
- best understood in operational terms.

TABLE 7

STAGES OF CONCERN:

TYPICAL EXPRESSIONS OF CONCERN ABOUT THE INNOVATION

	Stages of Concern		Expressions of Concern
	6	Refocusing	I have some ideas about something that would work even better.
IMPACT	5	Collaboration	I am concerned about relating what I am doing to what other instructors are doing.
	4	Consequence	How is my use affecting kids?
TASK	3	Management	I seem to be spending all my time in getting material ready.
	2	Personal	How will using it affect me?
SELF	1	Informational	I would like to know more about it.
	0	Awareness	I am not concerned about it (the innovation).

Resource: From *Leadership for Change* (Transparency H.6) by Southwest Educational Development Laboratory, Austin, Texas.

Change is a process, not an event. When we understand this basic tenet of the change process, many common problems are avoided. Consider the following example:

A high school has implemented a block schedule based on 90-minute periods of instruction. Early in the second year of the new scheduling format, problems began to surface. While some students and parents praised the new system, there were many complaints students were bored because teachers lectured the entire class; students were not getting the required instruction; students were doing homework during the last half hour of every class, etc. Upon examination, it appeared that about 30% of the teachers had actually understood and used new teaching techniques better suited to longer class periods. Others were in various stages of understanding and usage. It was also noted that none of the new teachers had any inservice for teaching in the block system and many of the teachers who had the inservice provided the prior year found it very inadequate.

Clearly, any major change in an education system occurs over time, and may take a number of years. Understanding this simple tenet is basic to the entire process of changing education and has many ramifications. For example, to successfully implement a new program, a comprehensive, long-term professional development program, which is based on identified needs, must be in place. There is an established procedure to monitor progress and identify problems; other changes placing great demands on teachers are held until teachers are able to absorb them.

Change is accomplished by individuals. While any one person or group of people may believe some reform or innovation will vastly improve their school, those who will be charged with implementing the program will ultimately be responsible for its success or failure. Successful leaders of school change know their first task is to get buy-in from as many of those front-line people as possible.

Change is a highly personal experience. At some time or another, most leaders of change have been frustrated and probably even annoyed with colleagues who resist and perhaps even block efforts to implement a new program. While many believe an educator's focus should be on helping students, any change in schools may greatly increase the work of teachers and staff and result in their discomfort.

Even when a new innovation is carefully planned and implemented, some problems and confusion will occur. During the implementation phase of any major change, it is very important for educators to understand there will almost certainly be some degree of upheaval and confusion. This time has become known as the "implementation dip" (SEDL, *Leadership for Change* [Transparency IX.9], adapted from Busick & Inos, 1992) (see Figure 3). These periods are usually marked by complaints, discouragement, and questioning the wisdom of the change. For example, when block scheduling is implemented, there may be computer glitches, teachers and students confused about times, and any number of other problems. In most cases, once the problems are addressed, adjustments made, and the new techniques and/or materials learned, the confusion will subside and a new routine will be in place; however, it is important for those in charge to monitor progress and quickly address concerns or questions of teachers, students, parents, and others with interest in the school. To fully understand CBAM and its uses, the reader should examine the resources available from SEDL at 211 E. Seventh Street, Austin, TX 78701-3281, (800) 476-6861, fax: (512) 476-2286, e-mail: webmaster@sedl.org, internet: www.sedl.org/welcome.html.

FIGURE 3

THE IMPLEMENTATION DIP



CHAPTER 4. Resources

EXEMPLARY CAREER GUIDANCE AND COUNSELING PROGRAMS
Elementary and Secondary Education
Postsecondary Education 52
Legislation with Pertinent Career Development Mandates
Carl D. Perkins Vocational and Applied Technology Education Amendments of 1998 (includes specific sections)
School-to-Work Opportunities Act of 1994
Elementary and Secondary School Counseling Improvement Act of 1999 (S.1443) (Introduced in the Senate July 27, 1999 – Action has not been taken as of the date of this publication.)
GLOSSARY 73
BIBLIOGRAPHY 77
Directory of State Career Development/ Guidance Coordinators/Supervisors
DIRECTORY OF STATE OCCUPATIONAL INFORMATION COORDINATING COMMITTEES (SOICC)

EXEMPLARY CAREER GUIDANCE AND COUNSELING PROGRAMS (1995-1999)

ELEMENTARY AND SECONDARY EDUCATION (Programs listed according to year recognized)

CAREER AND TECHNOLOGY EDUCATION GUIDANCE AND COUNSELING PROGRAM

Dr. Phillip Gilbreath, Director Garland Independent School District Harris Hall Administration Building P.O. Box 469026 Garland, TX 75046-9026 (972) 494-8540 Fax: (972) 494-8541 E-mail: pagilbre@garlandisd.net

Located in one of the fastest growing areas in Dallas county, the Garland Independent School District (GISD) serves over 43,000 students in grades K-12 in 58 school campuses and one cooperative center. GISD offers Career and Technology Education (CATE) programs that empower students to achieve their potential and experience success through a comprehensive, integrated program. Students have access to information and receive assistance in the development of skills necessary for decisionmaking, problem solving, and career and life planning. The program is an organized team effort consisting of counselors, teachers, administrators, librarians, parents, private industries, and community organizations. Every team member is committed to promoting the educational, psychological, social, and career development of all students.

CATE counselors perform several responsibilities, including coordinating all career interest survey testing, providing personal guidance to students in making career choices and selecting appropriate courses, providing CATE course information to middle school and high school students, and serving on advisory councils. Career and assessment materials (e.g., Ohio Career Interest Survey, Boy Scout Survey, Discover Computer Assisted Career Assessment, Decisions Guidance Booklet), career activities (e.g., career night, college night), and counseling strategies (e.g., individual and group counseling, classroom guidance) enable students to do career investigation and educational planning. The success of the guidance program in addressing the diverse needs of its student population is due in part to the strong support of parents and the community.

This program was recognized as exemplary by NCRVE's Office of Student Services during the 1995 National Exemplary Career Guidance and Counseling Program search.

CAREER AND TECHNOLOGY EDUCATION CAREER GUIDANCE AND COUNSELING PROGRAM

Bonny Green, Director Katy Independent School District Miller Career Center 1734 Katyland Drive Katy, TX 77493 (281) 396-6000 Fax: (281) 396-6123

The mission of the Career and Technology Education program in Katy Independent School District (ISD) is to integrate career awareness, technical preparation, and academic excellence to train students to become productive citizens in a global workforce. Career awareness begins at the elementary level with career week programs and the implementation of a guidance curriculum. Career exploration is emphasized in middle and junior high school where students participate in the ACT's Career Planning Program (CPP). The CPP is an assessment designed to provide students with accurate, comprehensive information about their abilities and interests and help them explore and identify career paths.

Katy ISD's Career Guidance and Counseling Program uses individual and group counseling to address students' career development needs and concerns. Professional development activities are conducted for counselors, teachers, and other school personnel to increase their knowledge and understanding of career exploration, counseling, postsecondary training options for students, school-to-work, applied academics, and local partnerships. In addition, courses that promote increased self-concept and effective interpersonal and leadership skills, including Career Investigation, Psychology, Sociology, and Health, are offered at the secondary level. The Miller Career Center, which serves as the central site for Katy ISD, is rich with current computer-based career resources that are available to students every day.

This program was recognized as exemplary by NCRVE's Office of Student Services during the 1995 National Exemplary Career Guidance and Counseling Program search.

CAREER GUIDANCE AND COUNSELING PROGRAM

Glenda Taylor, Program Supervisor Caddo-Kiowa Vocational Technical Center P.O. Box 190 Ft. Cobb, OK 73038 (405) 643-5511 Fax: (405) 643-2144 E-mail: Gtaylor@ck.tec.ok.us

A comprehensive career development program, the Career Guidance and Counseling Program of Caddo-Kiowa Vocational-Technical Center (C/K VTC) helps secondary students from its sending schools and adult students set educational and career goals. Through a "building block" format that begins in kindergarten through 12th grade, students learn the importance of continued personal growth and good communication skills, improving self-awareness and self-advocacy, and exploring several career options. Adult students are afforded many of the same opportunities available to secondary students in a slightly different format.

Students are assisted in developing and implementing an individualized career plan based on their knowledge gained through the program. An important component of the Guidance Program and Career Counseling is job placement. To facilitate the transition from school to work, all students are required to attend job readiness classes and participate in on-the-job training in their field. Various strategies are used to assist the approximately 1,600 students every year, including individual and group counseling, career awareness activities, and testing. Materials used include vocational assessment tools and a wide variety of career resources in the form of videos, books, handbooks, and games.

This program was recognized as exemplary by NCRVE's Office of Student Services during the 1995 National Exemplary Career Guidance and Counseling Program search.

PROJECT SOAR (SUCCESS OPPORTUNITIES THROUGH ARTICULATED RESOURCES)

Brenda Nixon, Director, Counseling/Enrollment Metro Tech 1900 Springlake Drive Oklahoma City, OK 73111 (405) 424-8324 Fax: (405) 424-9410 E-mail: bnixon@metrotech.org

A consortium of Oklahoma City schools initiated Project SOAR (Success Opportunities through Articulated Resources) to plan and implement an articulated education program that includes academic and vocational education for area students. At the core of the project are career education and preparation components. Project SOAR participants have access to an extensive career guidance and counseling program that includes (1) career awareness, (2) career exploration, and (3) career planning. Each component has a well-developed curriculum that is integrated into school programs. In addition, the Oklahoma City schools' career guidance and counseling program adapted the National Career Development Guidelines developed by the NOICC.

Each of the eleven middle schools and twelve high schools in the district has a Career Resource Center (CRC) to serve every student as well as many adults in the community. The CRCs, which are funded collaboratively through Project SOAR, Metro Tech, and the vocational-technical education program, serve as a hub, not only for dispensing information, but for the school's career development curriculum. Students earn one credit in the CRC by completing a comprehensive career development curriculum that includes making a video interview, learning the "Top Jobs in the 2000s," "dressing for success," and completing a four-year education plan. CRC files a portfolio, containing assessment data, coursework, successes, honors, a résumé, and a career plan for every student on both disk and hard copy. Students, counselors, and teachers routinely use the computers and other resources in the CRCs.

This program was recognized as exemplary by NCRVE's Office of Student Services during the 1995 National Exemplary Career Guidance and Counseling Program search.

SPRINGDALE HIGH SCHOOL'S CAREER GUIDANCE AND COUNSELING PROGRAM

Jan Streubing Counselor/Vocational Coordinator Springdale Public Schools 1103 W. Emma Street Springdale, AR 72764 (501) 750-8883 Fax: (501) 750-8897 E-mail: jstreubi@jcf.jonesnet.org

The Career Guidance and Counseling Program of Springdale High School (SHS) is part of a total team effort within the school to help approximately 1,600 students every year prepare for the world of work and/or further education. SHS students receive intensive career guidance and counseling by (1) taking a one-semester Career Orientation course in 8th grade during which their learning styles, career interests, and aptitudes are assessed; (2) building their career portfolio; (3) participating in guidance activities that stress teamwork, conflict resolution, and use of leisure time; (4) selecting a career major and developing a program of study in 10th grade; (5) taking the ASSET by ACT and/or Armed Services Vocational Aptitude Battery in 11th grade; (6) attending the College Fair and Career Fair during 11th and 12th grades; and (7) maximizing the career resources available at the school's Career Center, a state-of-the-art facility.

A teacher advisory system, based on a "Career Action Plan" (CAP), makes it possible to respond to the career guidance needs of this large number of students. Teacher advisors, trained by counselors, meet monthly with approximately 20 students. The commitment of counselors, teachers, parents, administrators, business and industry, and students to continue improving the guidance program at SHS accounts for the success of the program in (1) exposing students and parents to different educational and occupational opportunities, (2) responding to the counseling needs of a diverse group of students, and (3) assisting students to successfully transition from school to work and/or postsecondary education.

This program was recognized as exemplary by NCRVE's Office of Student Services during the 1995 National Exemplary Career Guidance and Counseling Program search.

AREA VOCATIONAL GUIDANCE AND COUNSELING PROGRAM

Kim K. Schock, Area Vocational Guidance Counselor Elgin/New Leipzig Public Schools 110 NW Street, P.O. Box 70 Elgin, ND 58533 (701) 584-2374 Fax: (701) 584-3018 E-mail: kschock@sendit.nodak.edu

Serving four small rural communities in southwest North Dakota, this comprehensive program strives to foster career development of students at all levels, with an emphasis on serving the needs of students from 7th-12th grades. The program is based on the National Career Development Guidelines and operates on a Management by Objectives plan which includes a needs matrix that outlines students' activities for the whole year. The matrix shows career information activities and the dates they are conducted, interest and values, aptitude and achievement, orientation information, peer tutor needs or opportunities and other special needs, and meetings with counselors or other school personnel. Ninth through 12th grade students take the CHOICES program, a required career class taught by both academic and vocational teachers, as well as administrators and staff, parents, and Project Advisory Committee members. Every student in the district's four schools has a career portfolio that is updated yearly and given to students upon graduation. A Project Advisory Committee composed of a student, a community member, and a guidance counselor determines resources for the guidance program. The guidance counselor provides teacher inservice so that teachers can incorporate relevant career-related activities into their courses. Job shadowing activities are conducted in conjunction with a school-to-work grant. An annual follow-up of all graduates is also conducted. Completion rates for all vocational programs are very high, and the annual dropout rate is usually zero.

This program was recognized as exemplary by NCRVE's Office of Student Services and the U.S. Department of Education during the 1996 National Exemplary Career Guidance and Counseling Program search.

CAREER AND TECHNOLOGY EDUCATION GUIDANCE AND COUNSELING PROGRAM

Dr. Ed Foster Birdville Independent School District 6125 East Belknap Haltom City, TX 76117 (817) 831-5786 Fax: (817) 838-7261 E-mail: Linda Anderson@qm.birdville.k12.tx.us

The goal of the Birdville Independent School District's (BISD) career guidance and counseling program is to assist students in making effective plans to achieve their educational and career goals. A variety of career awareness activities is available to BISD elementary students as a regular feature in their curriculum. During middle school, students focus on careers through classes and career days. In high school, students continue learning about themselves in relation to the world of work and must choose a career pathway. This K-12 program, administered through the district office and implemented in all schools, is a team effort of counselors, teachers, administrators, librarians, parents, businesses and industries, and community organizations. Student services counselors, campus counselors, and crisis counselors are available to assist every BISD student. Three certified career counselors work closely with all district counselors, teachers, and the entire team to identify resources, assess student interests and aptitudes, initiate programs, and incorporate career development activities.

High-quality materials designed for BISD students are available to help them develop career and education plans and select career pathways. Teachers at all levels incorporate career information into their classes to support students in making good career-related decisions. A commercial career information system is available on each middle and high school campus. All schools work closely with parents and are site-based managed. A handbook is available to assist elementary and middle school counselors and teachers in guiding students in their career development. In addition, guest speakers often parents—visit classes to talk about their careers, and local business representatives frequently visit all the BISD schools. Career information is disseminated through parent meetings, student handbooks, group and individual counseling, assemblies, news media, cable television, videotapes, handouts, and word of mouth. An internship program is available, and students have many opportunities to discover their interests and aptitudes.

This program was recognized as exemplary by NCRVE's Office of Student Services and the U.S. Department of Education during the 1996 National Exemplary Career Guidance and Counseling Program search.

CAREER GUIDANCE AND COUNSELING PROGRAM

Doug Spielman, Counselor Chuck Ericksen, Community Education Director School District of Flambeau P.O. Box 86 Tony, WI 54563 (715) 532-5559 Fax: (715) 532-5405 E-mail: dspielman@centuryinter.net

Located in a rural and economically disadvantaged part of northwestern Wisconsin, the School District of Flambeau serves only 700 students in 7th-12th grades; nonetheless, it is a significant part of the Flambeau community. The Flambeau Career Guidance and Counseling Program (FCGC) is integrated into all aspects of the K-12 curriculum and student progress is documented through portfolios. Students access information through the Wisconsin Career Information System and a wide variety of other state and national resources.

The nationally recognized Flambeau Community Education Program and the FCGC participate in a cooperative arrangement based on partnerships established over time. Teachers, students, and staff interact with members of the community who mentor, teach classes, and provide job shadowing and community-based learning experiences. In addition, some individuals serve on advisory councils, school improvement teams, and ad hoc action committees. Workshops, classes, forums, focus groups, and special presentations are conducted through the community education program. These activities focus on job skills development, personal development, career counseling, community leadership training, professional development, and parenting skills. Students, parents, and community members of all ages participate in these learning activities.

At all levels, the curriculum emphasizes experiential learning and helps students develop an "inside view" of various professions through entrepreneurship, artist-in-residencies, and youth service learning programs. In addition, project-based learning engages students in real-life problem-solving and allows students to demonstrate their academic and vocational skills. Students are involved in the FCGC program through peer mentoring and peer instructional services in the areas of economics, entrepreneurship, leadership, peer pressure, anger management, drug and alcohol refusal skills, traffic safety, self-esteem, and health.

SCHOOL-WIDE COUNSELING PROGRAM TO SUPPORT TECH PREP

Dr. Anna Marie Yates, Counselor Elk Grove High School 500 W. Elk Grove Boulevard Elk Grove Village, IL 60007 (847) 718-4455 Fax: (847) 718-4515 E-mail: ayates@dist214.k12.il.us

The School-Wide Counseling Program To Support Tech Prep at Elk Grove High School serves approximately 1,700 students every year. Its purpose is to organize and update a well-defined system of guidance activities to promote the career development of all students representing many cultures with diverse academic abilities. Led by a team of nine counselors, the counseling program addresses the needs of all students through various services, including English as a Second Language, the Talent Development Program, counseling, special education services, and advisory groups. Guidance and counseling activities are shared by other school personnel, including the social worker, school psychologist, school nurse, services learning director, staff of the special education department, assessment director, and all student services personnel.

The counseling program is an integrated part of the total educational process at Elk Grove High School and involves all school personnel. This outcome-based program is organized into a planned curriculum which empowers students to learn more effectively and efficiently. The program provides specialized counseling and intervention services and offers maximum student growth and development in three domains:

(1) educational/academic—learning to learn; (2) personal, social, physical—learning to live; and (3) career—learning to work. A key feature of each student's career development is the development of a portfolio, which includes all test results, the student's best work, a résumé, and a cover letter. Junior and senior students can gain experience in the workplace by participating in the Public Service and Community Resource course, volunteer work, and internships. The strong school and business partnerships in Elk Grove provide students with the opportunity to work at places that match their work style or preferences.

This program was recognized as exemplary by NCRVE's Office of Student Services and the U.S. Department of Education during the 1996 National Exemplary Career Guidance and Counseling Program search.

VAN BUREN INTERMEDIATE SCHOOL DISTRICT'S COMPREHENSIVE CAREER GUIDANCE PROGRAM

Donald Olendorf, Administrator for Special Programs Van Buren Intermediate School District Vocational-Technical Center 250 South Street Lawrence, MI 49064 (616) 674-8001 Fax: (616) 674-8726 E-mail: dolend@vbisd.org

The Van Buren Intermediate School District's Comprehensive Career Guidance Program helps youth and adults in Lawrence, Michigan, the state's second poorest county, (1) make informed career and educational decisions, (2) develop and implement individual career plans, and (3) prepare portfolios to document their progress toward educational and career goals. The program is founded on Donald Super's idea that an effective career guidance and development program enhances students' ability to make sound career decisions and plans. Additionally, the program incorporates technology into its guidance content and delivery to better meet the needs of students in the fifteen local school districts, educators, employers, and the community at large.

Counselors at the Van Buren Technical Center collaborate with counselors and teachers in the local districts to help all students in their career and educational planning. Teachers use the Prefolio workbooks to help 8th or 9th graders identify their top career interests and abilities. Students participate in various structured career awareness and exploration activities, including reading, computer information, job simulations, career internships, job shadowing, and work-based learning. With the counselor's guidance, students translate their decisions into career plans known as Employability Development Plans (EDP). In addition to the EDP, students also develop a four-year program plan based on their career and postsecondary decisions. The EDP is the starting point for student-managed portfolios that document students' progress toward the goals outlined in their career plans. While the EDP is the index for the portfolio, a résumé based on student information in the portfolio serves as its summary.

The Van Buren Vocational-Technical Center's Guidance Program was recognized as an exemplary program by the U.S. Office of Education in 1986 and by the U.S. Army in 1994 under its Planning for Life Awards.

This program was recognized as exemplary by NCRVE's Office of Student Services and the U.S. Department of Education during the 1996 National Exemplary Career Guidance and Counseling Program search.

KUNA HIGH SCHOOL, KUNA CAREER COUNSELING PROGRAM

DebAnn Rippy, Vocational Counselor Kuna High School 1360 Boise Street Kuna, ID 83634 (208) 922-1002 Fax: (208) 922-1026 E-mail: DebAnn@oz.sd.003.k12.id.us

The Kuna School District's comprehensive, developmental career guidance program moves students progressively through an organized, age-appropriate curriculum. The program is based on the Idaho Comprehensive Guidance and Counseling Program K-12 model, which is modeled after the National Career Development Guidelines. The focus at the elementary level is on a variety of career awareness activities embedded in the curriculum. For example, parents and others visit the classroom to discuss their work, teachers relate their curriculum to jobs, and students take field trips to businesses. At the middle school level, many teachers relate their curriculum to work. In addition, two-month long classroom units are taught through the language arts classes cofacilitated by trained teachers. The curriculum for these career guidance units is developed by the Kuna middle and high school counseling staff. After being provided with commercial inventories and career information at the 7th grade level, students in the 8th grade identify their "dependable strengths." All students leave middle school able to articulate their strengths and how they relate to the world of work. Students have access to career

information from print sources and from commercial software. Students are encouraged to plan their high school program of studies based on their interests and strengths.

The high school career guidance curriculum is both exploratory and preparatory with an ongoing emphasis on planning for future education and careers. The heart of the program takes place in language arts classes. In fact, the language arts teachers are staunch supporters of this approach to career development. Ninth grade students explore careers through commercial software programs, job clusters, fantasy job searches, and supporting videos. These activities are supplemented through several 90-minute class periods in which counselors and teachers assist students in developing high school plans. Tenth grade students focus on their interests and learning/working styles through commercial assessment instruments. In the 11th and 12th grades, career guidance is highly focused and more personalized. Students use print materials, videos, and computers to link with career information. They combine this information with data in their portfolio, which contains material accumulated over several years, to develop career-related research projects for language arts. These projects provide extensive career orientation through required interviews of people in the career field being studied and job shadowing experiences. The research culminates in papers and presentations for all students. Teachers help students develop their résumés and practice interviewing through mock interviews conducted by local businesspeople. Students also have opportunities for internship experiences.

The Kuna career guidance program is a highly collaborative, integrated effort supported through professional development. All teachers participate in a weeklong work-based experience and receive training in using computer career information and guidance systems. While one high school counselor is assigned to career counseling, all the high school counseling staff believe career guidance is crucial to student development and focus much of their work with students on career exploration and planning. Parental involvement takes place at every level of career guidance activity.

This program was recognized as exemplary by NCRVE's Office of Student Services and the U.S. Department of Education during the 1997 National Exemplary Career Guidance and Counseling Program search.

VOLUSIA COUNTY SCHOOLS, THE CAREER CONNECTION'S FOUNDATION: THE CAREER PLANNING SYSTEM

Lisa Guess, Career Connection Specialist Volusia County Schools 200 N. Clara Avenue Brewster Center DeLand, FL 32721-2118 (904) 734-7190 x4768 Fax: (904) 738-6963

The Volusia Flagler Career Connection Consortium has created a seamless school-to-work system to facilitate the transition of all students. The consortium uses the Career Connection Planning System to provide an array of choices in educational programming that meet individual needs and engage all students in the career development process. The system has been adopted by all ten high schools, the 12 middle schools, and the alternative education centers. The results of this young program already include increased attendance rates, decreased dropout rates, and increased applied technology

enrollments and completions. Parents and teachers report an increase in student enthusiasm for coursework because students now see the relevancy of education to their futures.

The Career Connection Planning System is based on the Florida Blueprint for Career Preparation Career Competencies, derived from the National Career Development Guidelines. This initiative blends School-to-Work, Tech Prep, and Carl Perkins legislation; High Schools That Work; Florida's Blueprint for Career Preparation; and Career Academies. The Career Connection collaboratively works with IDEA, Title I, JTPA, Blueprint 2000, the Workforce Development Board, and the Volusia Flagler Community Transition Team (a special needs inter-agency council). By working with these programs and initiatives, the Career Connection, now in its third year of operation, provides a comprehensive school-to-work system for all students.

District teachers, administrators, and staff work to make their vision of *Linking Learning to Life* a reality. This motto is prominently displayed in school classrooms and halls, as well as on stationary, coffee mugs, and other places. Teachers use techniques acquired in a strong professional development program to relate classroom learning to real life. A Career Planning Sequence for 6th-12th grades is currently in use. A link to the elementary schools is being piloted in two schools during 1996-1997.

The elementary and middle school career awareness and exploration programs prepare all students to understand themselves and the world of work. During middle school, a career planning and development curriculum is infused into regular classes. Results of student interest inventories and other assessments and career development activities are kept as part of their *V.I.S.A.* (Visual Information of Student Assessment/ Activities). Students and their parents use their *V.I.S.A.* to select a career cluster in high school and design a 4-6-8 year course of study. Career Plans are updated annually with help of counselors and a Career Connection facilitator.

All the area high schools are at some stage of organizing their curriculum around career clusters, with some schools having the clusters in place. The Career Planning System is designed to help students and parents make wise decisions when opting for a career cluster and a plan of study. Of course, there is total flexibility in moving between clusters as students mature and make new choices.

In 9th grade, all students take a Career Research class in which they begin to develop their student portfolio. It contains their numerous high school career development activities, which may include more career and educational assessments; information on their internships, youth apprenticeships, job shadowing, and career mentors; résumés; vocational education; and a senior project based on the students' chosen career cluster. They also begin the development of their *Passport*, the students' link to postsecondary options. The *Passport* includes a career research section, a SCANS competency acquisition section, and a career job search section. Extensive collaborative efforts exist between the schools and the community, including business and industry and community colleges. Parents are active participants in schools.

ZAPATA HIGH SCHOOL, COMPREHENSIVE CAREER GUIDANCE AND COUNSELING PROGRAM

Velma Moran Garza, Counselor Zapata High School Box 370 Zapata, TX 78076 (956) 765-6542 Fax: (956) 765-9204

The Zapata County (Texas) Independent School District has implemented a comprehensive, developmental K-12 career guidance and counseling program. The program is facilitated by very capable, well-trained counselors who assist teachers at all levels to provide this effective, districtwide program, based on the National Career Development Guidelines. While Zapata is a rural border town in an economically disadvantaged area, their school system boasts a .6% dropout rate for 7th-12th grades and a 94% attendance rate. The presence of a supportive administration and caring teachers and staff make school a welcome place for Zapata youth.

High school students have access to a wide range of career development assessment activities, a good career information delivery system, peer tutoring and teacher tutoring programs, and a service learning program. A unique program helps migrant students complete their studies during the shortened time period when they can be in school each year. Parents are active participants in school activities. A wide array of intercommunity collaborations exists that help provide school supplies, child care, clothing, and other services to students.

The high school career guidance and counseling program is coordinated by the guidance staff, but each teacher takes responsibility for 13 to 17 students in the school's unique advocacy program called *WE*. Teachers meet with their advocacy groups for $1\frac{1}{2}$ hours every other week to work on the career development curriculum and other age-appropriate activities to meet the career, educational planning, and social needs of every student. Groups are assigned by their graduating class and meet on a rotating schedule. In addition to the career development curriculum, the advocacy groups are structured to help students increase self-esteem and understand themselves. They discuss other age-appropriate topics such as dating violence and date rape. As a part of this program, teachers must make a yearly home visit to provide positive feedback to parents on their children. Counselors and administrators support the teachers in this program by providing the curriculum, videos, and print materials. While teachers started the Advocacy Program with some reluctance and many doubts, they have grown to believe it is an extremely worthwhile activity that improves student behavior and increases teacher morale.

RICH SOUTH HIGH SCHOOL: HORIZON PROGRAM

Phyllis P. Nixon, Counselor 5000 Sauk Trail Richton Park, IL 60471 (708) 747-5500 Fax: (708) 747-5565

Rich South High School serves over 1,000 students from a middle class community in a suburban area south of Chicago. Each student has a personal educational and career plan developed through a structured four-year career guidance and counseling program called Horizon. Because of the plan and the experiences associated with completing the plan, each student has identified a career area that fits his or her interests and aptitudes. More importantly, they are aware of their educational options and have lined up experiences both at school and in the community that will help them understand and better fulfill their future career plan.

Horizon is delivered through a four-year developmental curriculum taught by guidance counselors in cooperation with the social studies, English, foreign language, technology, and math teachers. Teachers incorporate career development curriculum into their classes. They fully support the program and encourage their students to be actively involved. As proof of their belief in the program, those interviewed by the site visit team reported that they periodically bring their own children who attend other schools to use the Rich South career center's resources.

Changes in the guidance and counseling curriculum are made based on input from a Career Advisory Council composed of teachers, parents, students, and business representatives who meet once a month. Additional feedback is obtained from the Focus Group for Career Education made up of business representatives, the Superintendent, and the Vice-Principal who meet quarterly.

Students avail themselves of work and community experiences through the following: (1) the Community Experience Program—an on-the-job career research experience for 11th and 12th graders, (2) a local mall provides space and entrepreneurial assistance to the marketing class, (3) a job shadowing experience for at-risk students offered in coordination with the Business Education Career Initiative (BECI) and the South Suburban Gang Initiative, (4) the Internship and Cooperative Education Program for 12th graders who meet prerequisites, and (5) Career Fairs. The BECI program involves over forty businesses who provide the daylong job shadowing experiences.

Teachers and counselors believe their school "is successful because of everyone's willingness to find out how they can change what they do so students acquire the skills that businesses want." To help teachers design lessons that are more meaningful to the students, the school has initiated a Teacher Job Shadowing (teacher exchange) program through which teachers observe a worker in a chosen industry. The worker in turn comes to class and observes the teacher.

DORCHESTER SCHOOL DISTRICT TWO CAREER DEVELOPMENT INITIATIVES

Janice Jolly, School-to-Work Coordinator 1101 Boone Hill Road Summerville, SC 29477 (843) 832-7026 ext. 14062 Fax: (843) 821-3989 E-mail: jjolly@dorchester2.k12.sc.us

Dorchester School District Two serves over 15,000 students from K-12th grades. Its coordinated, comprehensive career guidance and counseling program begins at the kindergarten level with career awareness activities and lessons that incorporate National Career Development Guidelines. Counselors and teachers provide classroom career development curriculum, service learning opportunities, and school-based enterprises. At the K-5 level, examples of these activities include *Wee Deliver*, a school post office run by the students while performing tasks that call for the integration of math and language arts skills; and the Cookie Factory Banking Program, a school-based, multigrade student-run cookie factory and store at which students sell stocks as well as cookies. The factory was opened with a loan from a bank. A bank representative also comes in and provides a seminar about saving, opening an account, and other banking operations.

In the middle school, every 6th grader takes an interest inventory and begins to explore areas of their highest career interest. During the 7th and 8th grades, mentoring opportunities are also offered based on the students' interests. Students stay with their mentors for two-three hours each month to either shadow or conduct full-scale experiments. In the 8th grade, students take various inventories, conduct research on their highest interest areas, and begin to think of potential courses for the 9th and 10th grade levels. They begin to work on their career portfolio they will keep through 12th grade. They also enter relevant experiences in their Student Career Planner. They participate in well-organized field trips to businesses and career schools. In addition, they learn about careers and economic planning decisions using The Real Game, an educational game that is incorporated year-round into the social studies curriculum. Students may participate in VIP Tutors, a peer tutoring program designed to assist students with special needs in skill development and other school activities. During Career Fair and Career Vehicle Days, students investigate three different occupations through interviews and information from booths and report their findings in a written and oral assignment for their language arts classes.

In the 10th grade, students are assessed using PLAN, an assessment tool that identifies a student's interest and abilities while measuring his or her achievement. Using this information as well as all they have learned about themselves throughout the program, students develop their course of study for the 11th and 12th grades. Counselors and teachers work to help students plan their courses and also to look at various work-based experiences such as internships, service learning, mentoring opportunities, apprentice-ship, co-op programs, cadets, and school-based enterprises. For example, students in the Teacher Cadet program observe and teach classes at all levels. All students are given their Student Career Planner at the end of the 12th grade with a final interest assessment prior to graduation.

LA CROSSE CENTRAL HIGH SCHOOL GUIDANCE/CAREER CENTER

Doris Skogstad, Counseling and Guidance Department Chair 1801 Losey Boulevard South La Crosse, WI 54601 (608) 789-7900 Fax: (608) 789-7931 E-mail: dskogsta@sdlax.k12.wi.us

Central High School is a comprehensive high school serving about 1,300 students yearly. The school has a comprehensive career guidance program that is built on a threestep approach: (1) Know Yourself, (2) Explore the World of Work, and (3) Make a Match. The program has a Career Center facility located near the guidance offices. The Career Center offers a multitude of career materials and computer stations with exploration and planning programs. In addition to the regular office hours, the Career Center is open in the evening twice a month for parents and students to use the facilities or confer with counselors.

Know Yourself: In the first step of their program, counselors work with the students to help them understand themselves, their interests, and their values in terms of work and life. Freshmen write an essay on their dreams for the future which is graded by the English teacher; copies are submitted to the counselors for their use. They then take a battery of assessment instruments available in the Career Center either using paper and pencil or the online version. The assessments include My Future Quiz, Birkman Career Style Summary, The Career Interest Game, and Kingdomality Personal Preference Profile.

Explore the World of Work: During the second step, counselors, teachers, aides, and volunteers help students learn more about careers and the world of work. Students are aided by a variety of resources available at the Career Center, including a number of computer software programs as well as resources available online. Students learn career planning, how to conduct a career search, today's top jobs, and trends in the labor market. They also explore various materials and conduct computer searches for information regarding postsecondary options and financial aid. The assessments and research that students conduct are designed to help them decide on either of six career pathways, which is their next step.

Make a Match: This phase is designed to help students understand various aspects of jobs in a career cluster. Students participate in a wide range of experiences, including career fairs, field trips, and resource people who speak to classes about their careers. They may also participate in any of the following paid or unpaid activities: youth apprenticeships, co-op programs, mentorships, certificate programs, and job shadowing. Students can also opt to take a one semester, elective Careers class during their freshman year that provides a wide variety of activities to assist them in their career development, including the development of a portfolio and a résumé.

CAREER GUIDANCE AND COUNSELING PROGRAM

Tony Goetz Elementary School Pam Bradley, Principal 2412 Haskell Boulevard Muskogee, OK 74403 (918) 684-3810 Fax: (918) 684-3811

At Tony Goetz Elementary School, all the activities, projects, and instruction focus on careers. Students' skills in positive interaction with others are practiced through classroom guidance activities, including situational role paying and the peer mediation program. Students are continually exploring educational and occupational opportunities through interest inventories, teacher-developed lesson plans, field trips, and job experience opportunities. Students voluntarily perform school-based jobs during their recess time; keep time sheets; and are paid in "tiger bucks," which are spendable at the school store.

This schoolwide initiative has had a profound impact on every aspect of teaching and learning, as well as on parent and community involvement. Classroom teachers develop and provide instructional activities and units that incorporate National Career Development competencies. Instructional specialists complement the traditional curriculum with programs and projects that have career awareness and range from research activities in preparation for the school Job Fair to student job shadowing and teacher externships. Faculty and staff serve as advisors, supervisors, and evaluators for the school-based jobs that students perform. Staff also have planned professional development activities that complement the schoolwide focus on careers.

Business partners maintain active involvement in many aspects of the career guidance program. They serve in an advisory capacity in the development of curriculum materials; as resource speakers and hosts for job shadowing, field trips, and teacher externships; and as promoters of the program's various activities. Parents are involved in the planning and promotion of activities, production of career-based materials, supervision of students, and as resource speakers. Various agencies provide valuable support and assistance as well.

To evaluate students' school-to-work experiences, teachers use peer assessment, performance evaluations, and a survey of those who hold school-based jobs. After only one year of program implementation, school records showed that students had an increase of 4.8% in reading and 9.4% in math scores in a national standardized test and behavior problems dropped by 17%!

This program was recognized as exemplary by the U.S. Department of Education during the 1999 National Exemplary Career Guidance and Counseling Program search.

POSTSECONDARY EDUCATION

CAREER DEVELOPMENT CENTER

Debra Louie, Counselor/Coordinator San Joaquin Delta College 5151 Pacific Avenue Stockton, CA 95207 (209) 954-5693 Fax: (209) 954-5680 E-mail: jhinds@sjdccd.cc.ca.us (Joan Hinds)

San Joaquin Delta College (SJDC) is a state-supported community college located in a low socioeconomic area in Stockton, California, with an estimated enrollment of 18,000 students. The student population is highly diverse with 48% white, 20% Hispanic, 6% black, and 26% Asian and others. To prepare SJDC students for the challenges of a changing workplace and increased global competition, the Career Development Center (CDC) assists all students and potential students at SJDC with the much needed career life planning process. The CDC framework is based on the National Career Development Guidelines, California Community College (CCC) Student Matriculation Plan, CCC Quality Indicators for Gender Equity and Single Parent/Homemaker Programs, career development theories (e.g., John Holland), and other career development resources. The purpose of the CDC is to (1) enhance students' self-knowledge and (2) refine skills in seeking and processing information, analyzing career problems, formulating creative solutions, choosing the most promising career opportunities, and implementing plans to accomplish goals that integrate their personal and career aspirations. The career life planning process empowers students to face career problems and crises as well as acquire skills and hone capabilities to manage their own career development over a lifetime. CDC offers numerous services, including assistance on educational, career, and occupational exploration; decisionmaking and goal setting; scholarship/financial aid information; résumé writing; college orientation; child care grants; and interview skills refinement. The strategies used by CDC staff in reaching out to students are individual assistance, group presentations and workshops, a sequence of one unit career development courses, and independent study.

This program was recognized as exemplary by NCRVE's Office of Student Services during the 1995 National Exemplary Career Guidance and Counseling Program search.

ALLIED JOBS PROGRAM (formerly JOBS Program—OWLS [Older, Wiser,

Learning Students]) Ruth Sutton, Director Northeastern Oklahoma A&M College P.O. Box 3989 200 I Street Northeast Miami, OK 74353 (918) 540-6361 Fax: (918) 540-6362 E-mail: rhsutton@neoam.cc.ok.us

Designed to assist individuals who have dropped out of schools, those "trapped" in low-paying jobs, Aid to Families with Dependent Children (AFDC) recipients, and displaced homemakers, the JOBS Program—OWLS at the Northeastern Oklahoma A&M College in Miami, Oklahoma, has given these individuals the hope and the opportunity to become self-sufficient and break the cycle of dependency on the welfare system. The program collaborates with various agencies such as the Department of Human Services, Job Training Agency, Native American organizations, area churches, and community action groups in helping these adult students realize their dream of obtaining an education.

Prior to admission to the program, OWLS participants complete a comprehensive intake process that involves an evaluation of cognitive, behavioral, and social skills, as well as needs, interests, and abilities. Students work with counselors in making educational and career decisions. When admitted to the program, students sign a contractual agreement to ensure program compliance and student success. Counseling services include individual and family therapy, physical and sexual abuse therapy, substance abuse counseling, parenting, and educational services. An essential educational service that those involved in OWLS receive is the availability of highly qualified tutors in math, science, health science, and English. These tutors also assist in delivering the employability module that includes "Return to Learn," résumé building, and job readiness skills.

This program was recognized as exemplary by NCRVE's Office of Student Services during the 1995 National Exemplary Career Guidance and Counseling Program search.

THE PATHWAY PROGRAM

Traci Clinton, Coordinator St. Petersburg Junior College P.O. Box 13489 St. Petersburg, FL 33733 (727) 341-3767 Fax: (727) 341-3770 E-mail: clinton.traci@voyager.spjc.cc.fl.us

The Pathway Program paves the way for aspiring disadvantaged and other underrepresented students to enter the Nursing and Allied Health programs in St. Petersburg Junior College. The program takes pride in its strong career guidance component and other services that enable students to increase their self-esteem and selfadvocacy; improve their socialization, work, and study skills; gain knowledge on conflict resolution and problem solving; and make career decisions that match their interests, abilities, and aptitudes. Services provided to Pathway participants include counseling, remediation, tutoring, assessment, financial assistance, resources, mentoring, career shadowing, and a well-planned curriculum. Pathway students sign individualized contracts that outline expectations and requirements they have to fulfill. In addition, students can avail of the services offered by other resource centers such as the New Initiative Program and Career Center. Successful graduates become ambassadors of the program. The impact of the program to students is captured best by one graduate's remark: "I want to give back what was given to me."

This program was recognized as exemplary by NCRVE's Office of Student Services during the 1995 National Exemplary Career Guidance and Counseling Program search.

STUDENT SERVICES/COUNSELING PROGRAM

Michael Crehan, Counselor Renton Technical College 3000 NE 4th Street Renton, WA 98056 (425) 235-5840 Fax: (425) 235-7832

The Student Services/Counseling Program, an integral part of the Renton Technical College in Renton, Washington, serves a diverse student population that has an average age of 32-years-old. The program was established to serve all students, not just those who come to the counseling center. Guided by the National Career Development Guidelines and A Guide for Counseling and Guidance Services in Washington State, counselors are achieving their goals of facilitating (1) lifelong learning competencies; (2) personal effectiveness competencies required for social and personal development; and (3) life role competencies in multiple settings, including school, home, work, and community. Students' basic skills, interests, and aptitudes are assessed to determine career direction. Counselors assist students in setting educational and life goals and in making appropriate career choices. They also act as liaison among students, agencies, faculty, and administrators. To enhance students' success, the program provides support services, including counseling, financial aid information, co-op placement, job fairs, career fairs, tutoring, transportation, child care, and mentoring. The program has been successful in graduating approximately 1,200 students from the various occupational programs each year.

This program was recognized as exemplary by NCRVE's Office of Student Services during the 1995 National Exemplary Career Guidance and Counseling Program search.

SHARED COUNSELOR PARTNERSHIP PROGRAM

Vicki Stanfield, Program Director North Harris College 700 W. W. Thorne Drive Houston, TX 77073 (281) 618-5434 Fax: (281) 618-5402 E-mail: stanfiv@nhc.nhmccd.cc.tx.us

North Harris College (NHC), in collaboration with its two service area school districts, Aldine Independent School District and Spring Independent School District, developed the Shared Counselor Partnership Program to facilitate the successful transition of secondary students into postsecondary education programs. The Shared Counselor Partnership Program maximizes student services in order to address the needs of all students, including members of special populations; students from different racial/ethnic, socioeconomic, and cultural backgrounds; and students at risk of failing or dropping out of school. This comprehensive student services system stresses the importance of early guidance of students in selecting education and career pathways through coordinated assessment, counseling, advisement, financial aid, and placement services. The program has forged strong ties with businesses and industries, public schools, universities, and other community entities to provide organized and connected learning opportunities for its diverse student population.

The Shared Counselor Partnership Program meets students' career development needs and concerns through group and individual counseling; group workshops on various topics, including stress management, family issues, résumé writing, and career planning; a peer/mentor system; vocational leadership conferences; and motivational speakers. The shared counselors, who function both as members of the high school's guidance program and as college advisors, assist students in career planning, preparation, and transition. Beginning in the 8th grade, students can take a career investigation class, are introduced to the Get A Life Career Portfolio, and develop their individual career plans. Senior-to-Senior Conferences provide an opportunity for graduates from the previous year to tell current seniors about college and/or career life after high school. Parents and students attend the Improved Career Decision-Making Workshop to learn about the latest career trends identified by the Texas State Occupational Information Coordinating Committee. Career fairs and college night programs provide students with relevant information to help them make appropriate career choices.

PARKLAND COLLEGE, CAREER PLANNING AND EMPLOYMENT SERVICES

Gerry Hough, Director Parkland College 2400 W. Bradley Avenue Champaign, IL 61821-1899 (217) 351-2536 Fax: (217) 351-2882 E-mail: ghough@parkland.cc.il.us

Parkland College's Career Planning and Employment Services (CPES) is very successful in assisting students in making the transition to continuing education or the workplace. The office collaborates with faculty, administration, graduates, the local university, and business and industry to help students progress. It provides students as well as people in the community with a broad range of services, including counseling, advising, testing, job placement, and other support programs designed to enhance educational experiences, promote personal growth, and supply employment assistance. The office also collects critical data on student placements, salaries, program placements, and a variety of other information used regularly for program improvement and for guiding current and prospective students. Many human resource representatives of local business and industry rely heavily on the strong pool of candidates available through CPES.

The state supported community college located in Champaign-Urbana, Illinois, has an estimated enrollment of 9,000 students. The community is unique because of its high-technology research and development programs and companies and its diversity resulting from the presence of the University of Illinois. In addition to services to its clientele in the college, CPES staff also provide assistance to local citizens, business, industry, and agriculture.

A very popular monthly career development seminar is provided for anyone who wishes to attend. These seminars are designed to help students, graduates, and community members develop individual career plans based upon their own interests, abilities, and values. CPES' unique and innovative computerized job-management system matches employers with potential employees via the announcement of active openings on job bulletin boards throughout the college, with job-specific boards in each wing where specific career preparation takes place. Students, graduates, and alumni are allowed to use résumé writing software to create professional résumés. Résumés are placed online to be reviewed by prospective employers and job listings are available for students to use in searching for jobs of interest to them. CPES also publishes a weekly placement bulletin and distributes personalized mailings to participating students and alumni on a weekly basis. Students who wish to transfer to four-year colleges use the computergenerated lists of potential institutions selected on the basis of major, location, enrollment, and other relevant criteria. CPES alerts students to their services via career fairs, college publications, in-class presentations, and orientation classes. The counseling staff of the college also supports and assists with career preparation activities.

LEWIS AND CLARK COMMUNITY COLLEGE: CAREER AND EMPLOYMENT SERVICES

Dr. Sonjia Peacock, Professor/Counselor 5800 Godfrey Road Godfrey, IL 62035 (618) 466-3411 ext. 4123 Fax: (618) 466-1294 E-mail: speacock@lc.cc.il.us

The facilities of the former Monticello Women's College opened its doors in 1970 as the Lewis and Clark Community College (LCCC). LCCC is located in Godfrey, Illinois, across the Mississippi River from St. Louis. Each year, the college serves around 5,000 students in a wide variety of programs.

A major component of the career guidance and counseling program is offered through Psychology 130, an elective class taught by several teachers, including the special populations and adult education coordinators. About 250 students take the class per year. Those not enrolled in class avail themselves of the curriculum through welladvertised and popular individual and/or group meetings with counselors. The class also has an online version available for all.

Support services personnel include part-time counselors, student aides, and volunteers who work to assist students' career development. For example, staff from LCCC join the Association of American University Women (AAUW) to conduct a middle school gender equity program run by volunteers. Teachers who are academic advisors also work hand in hand with the counselors to ensure that students receive necessary information about their credits and goals.

There are a number of collaborative efforts between college faculty and staff and the community. Various businesses collaborate with the college through co-op programs; the local AAUW chapters collaborate with the college in offering an annual program for girls; the college also offers a job matching service for local companies, such as Olin Corporation and Florissant Mutual Co., to provide customized training to employees or would-be employees; Nuevo Technology provides paid positions for the co-op and apprenticeship programs; and small businesses around the area actively participate in both co-op and apprenticeship programs.

The transition of students from school to further education is facilitated by academic advisors in various transfer programs. The career placement office assists students in transitioning to work by arranging interviews, connecting students with work opportunities, and providing other referrals to various businesses. There is a staff member who assists students with special needs (e.g., students with disabilities or those trying to advance from welfare to work) to access the services they need to succeed. The college also maintains flexibility in their offerings to make sure that students get the credit they deserve. For example, the Jobs 100 class for welfare-to-work students is available as an independent study or can be taken as an elective.

The career guidance and counseling program undergoes constant changes depending on the needs of the students and the evaluation and feedback from users of the career center. Data collection includes the number of users of the career center and their degree of satisfaction with services provided. LCCC also receives employment data from the state as well as transfer data from universities.

Past and current students who were interviewed by the site visit team feel the college offered them an opportunity to get to know themselves and learn that they can be

good at something. Overall, they feel the LCCC instructors "care about students." They like the atmosphere at the college and feel that they are "like a family here."

LEGISLATION WITH PERTINENT CAREER DEVELOPMENT MANDATES

CARL D. PERKINS VOCATIONAL AND APPLIED TECHNOLOGY EDUCATION AMENDMENTS OF 1998

The following are selected portions of the Perkins III Act relevant to career guidance and counseling:

TITLE I—VOCATIONAL AND TECHNICAL EDUCATION ASSISTANCE TO THE STATES

Part A—ALLOTMENT AND ALLOCATION

SEC. 118. OCCUPATIONAL AND EMPLOYMENT INFORMATION.

(b) STATE LEVEL ACTIVITIES - In order for a State to receive a grant under this section, the eligible agency and the Governor of the State shall jointly designate an entity in the State—

(1) to provide support for a career guidance and academic counseling program designed to promote improved career and education decisionmaking by individuals (especially in areas of career information delivery and use);

(2) to make available to students, parents, teachers, administrators, and counselors, and to improve accessibility with respect to, information and planning resources that relate educational preparation to career goals and expectations;

(3) to equip teachers, administrators, and counselors with the knowledge and skills needed to assist students and parents with career exploration, educational opportunities, and education financing;

(4) to assist appropriate State entities in tailoring career-related educational resources and training for use by such entities;

(5) to improve coordination and communication among administrators and planners of programs authorized by this Act and by section 15 of the Wagner-Peyser Act at the Federal, State, and local levels to ensure nonduplication of efforts and the appropriate use of shared information and data; and

(6) to provide ongoing means for customers, such as students and parents, to provide comments and feedback on products and services and to update resources, as appropriate, to better meet customer requirements.

SEC. 114. NATIONAL ACTIVITIES.

(c) RESEARCH, DEVELOPMENT, DISSEMINATION, EVALUATION, AND ASSESSMENT -

(3) EVALUATION AND ASSESSMENT -

(B) CONTENTS - The assessment required under paragraph (1) shall include descriptions and evaluations of—

(iv) participation of students in vocational and technical education programs;

(v) academic and employment outcomes of vocational and technical education, including analyses of—

(I) the number of vocational and technical education students and tech-prep students who meet State adjusted levels of performance;

(II) the extent and success of integration of academic, and vocational and technical, education for students participating in vocational and technical education programs; and

(III) the extent to which vocational and technical education programs prepare students for subsequent employment in high wage, high skill careers or participation in post-secondary education;

(vi) employer involvement in, and satisfaction with, vocational and technical education programs;

SEC. 122. STATE PLAN.

(c) PLAN CONTENTS - The State plan shall include information that—

(1) describes the vocational and technical education activities to be assisted that are designed to meet or exceed the State adjusted levels of performance, including a description of—

(C) how such programs will prepare vocational and technical education students for opportunities in post-secondary education or entry into high skill, high wage jobs in current and emerging occupations; and

(2) describes how comprehensive professional development (including initial teacher preparation) for vocational and technical, academic, guidance, and administrative personnel will be provided;

(3) describes how the eligible agency will actively involve parents, teachers, local businesses (including small- and medium-sized businesses), and labor organizations in the planning, development, implementation, and evaluation of such vocational and technical education programs;

(8) describes how individuals who are members of the special populations-

(C) will be provided with programs designed to enable the special populations to meet or exceed State adjusted levels of performance, and prepare special populations for further learning and for high skill, high wage careers;

(17) describes how funds will be used to promote preparation for nontraditional training and employment;

(19) describes how funds will be used effectively to link secondary and postsecondary education;

SEC. 124. STATE LEADERSHIP ACTIVITIES.

(a) GENERAL AUTHORITY - From amounts reserved under section 112(a)(2), each eligible agency shall conduct State leadership activities.

(b) REQUIRED USES OF FUNDS - The State leadership activities described in subsection (a) shall include—

(1) an assessment of the vocational and technical education programs carried out with funds under this title that includes an assessment of how the needs of special populations are being met and how such programs are designed to enable special populations to meet State adjusted levels of performance and prepare the special populations for further learning or for high skill, high wage careers;

(2) developing, improving, or expanding the use of technology in vocational and technical education that may include—

(A) training of vocational and technical education personnel to use state-ofthe-art technology, that may include distance learning;

(B) providing vocational and technical education students with the academic, and vocational and technical skills that lead to entry into the high technology and telecommunications field; or

(C) encouraging schools to work with high technology industries to offer voluntary internships and mentoring programs;

(3) professional development programs, including providing comprehensive professional development (including initial teacher preparation) for vocational and technical, academic, guidance, and administrative personnel, that—
(A) will provide inservice and preservice training in state-of-the-art vocational and technical education programs and techniques, effective teaching skills based on research, and effective practices to improve parental and community involvement; and

(B) will help teachers and personnel to assist students in meeting the State adjusted levels of performance established under section 113;

(C) will support education programs for teachers of vocational and technical education in public schools and other public school personnel who are involved in the direct delivery of educational services to vocational and technical education students to ensure that such teachers stay current with the needs, expectations, and methods of industry; and

(D) is integrated with the professional development activities that the State carries out under title II of the Elementary and Secondary Education Act of 1965 (20 U.S.C. 6001 et seq.) and title II of the Higher Education Act of 1965;

(4) support for vocational and technical education programs that improve the academic, and vocational and technical skills of students participating in vocational and technical education programs by strengthening the academic, and vocational and technical components of such vocational and technical education programs through the integration of academics with vocational and technical education to ensure learning in the core academic, and vocational and technical subjects;

(5) providing preparation for nontraditional training and employment;

(6) supporting partnerships among local educational agencies, institutions of higher education, adult education providers, and, as appropriate, other entities, such as employers, labor organizations, parents, and local partnerships, to enable students to achieve State academic standards, and vocational and technical skills;

(7) serving individuals in State institutions, such as State correctional institutions and institutions that serve individuals with disabilities; and

(8) support for programs for special populations that lead to high skill, high wage careers.

(c) PERMISSIBLE USES OF FUNDS - The leadership activities described in subsection (a) may include—

(1) technical assistance for eligible recipients;

(2) improvement of career guidance and academic counseling programs that assist students in making informed academic, and vocational and technical education decisions; (7) support for vocational and technical education programs that offer experience in, and understanding of, all aspects of an industry for which students are preparing to enter;

(9) support for education and business partnerships;

(12) providing assistance to students, who have participated in services and activities under this title, in finding an appropriate job and continuing their education.

SEC. 134. LOCAL PLAN FOR VOCATIONAL AND TECHNICAL EDUCATION PROGRAMS.

(b) CONTENTS - The eligible agency shall determine requirements for local plans, except that each local plan shall—

(3) describe how the eligible recipient will—

(B) provide students with strong experience in and understanding of all aspects of an industry; and

(4) describe how parents, students, teachers, representatives of business and industry, labor organizations, representatives of special populations, and other interested individuals are involved in the development, implementation, and evaluation of vocational and technical education programs assisted under this title, and how such individuals and entities are effectively informed about, and assisted in understanding, the requirements of this title;

(6) describe the process that will be used to independently evaluate and continuously improve the performance of the eligible recipient;

(7) describe how the eligible recipient—

(A) will review vocational and technical education programs, and identify and adopt strategies to overcome barriers that result in lowering rates of access to or lowering success in the programs, for special populations; and

(9) describe how funds will be used to promote preparation for nontraditional training and employment; and

(10) describe how comprehensive professional development (including initial teacher preparation) for vocational and technical, academic, guidance, and administrative personnel will be provided.

SEC. 135. LOCAL USES OF FUNDS.

(b) REQUIREMENTS FOR USES OF FUNDS - Funds made available to eligible recipients under this part shall be used to support vocational and technical education programs that—

(2) provide students with strong experience in and understanding of all aspects of an industry;

(3) develop, improve, or expand the use of technology in vocational and technical education, which may include—

(A) training of vocational and technical education personnel to use state-ofthe-art technology, which may include distance learning;

(B) providing vocational and technical education students with the academic, and vocational and technical skills that lead to entry into the high technology and telecommunications field; or

(C) encouraging schools to work with high technology industries to offer voluntary internships and mentoring programs;

(4) provide professional development programs to teachers, counselors, and administrators, including—

(A) inservice and preservice training in state-of-the-art vocational and technical education programs and techniques, in effective teaching skills based on research, and in effective practices to improve parental and community involvement;

(8) link secondary vocational and technical education and post-secondary vocational and technical education, including implementing tech-prep programs.

(c) PERMISSIVE - Funds made available to an eligible recipient under this title may be used—

(1) to involve parents, businesses, and labor organizations as appropriate, in the design, implementation, and evaluation of vocational and technical education programs authorized under this title, including establishing effective programs and procedures to enable informed and effective participation in such programs;

(2) to provide career guidance and academic counseling for students participating in vocational and technical education programs;

(3) to provide work-related experience, such as internships, cooperative education, school-based enterprises, entrepreneurship, and job shadowing that are related to vocational and technical education programs; (4) to provide programs for special populations;

(5) for local education and business partnerships;

(6) to assist vocational and technical student organizations;

(7) for mentoring and support services;

(8) for leasing, purchasing, upgrading, or adapting equipment, including instructional aides;

(12) to provide vocational and technical education programs for adults and school dropouts to complete their secondary school education;

(13) to provide assistance to students who have participated in services and activities under this title in finding an appropriate job and continuing their education;

(14) to support nontraditional training and employment activities; and

(15) to support other vocational and technical education activities that are consistent with the purpose of this Act.

SEC. 204. TECH-PREP EDUCATION.

(c) CONTENTS OF TECH-PREP PROGRAM - Each tech-prep program shall—

(5) include training programs for counselors designed to enable counselors to more effectively—

(A) provide information to students regarding tech-prep education programs;

(B) support student progress in completing tech-prep programs;

(C) provide information on related employment opportunities;

(D) ensure that such students are placed in appropriate employment; and

(E) stay current with the needs, expectations, and methods of business and all aspects of an industry.

SCHOOL-TO-WORK OPPORTUNITIES ACT OF 1994 (MAY 4, 1994)

The following are selected sections of the School-to-Work Opportunities Act that are relevant to career guidance and counseling:

TITLE I—SCHOOL-TO-WORK OPPORTUNITIES BASIC PROGRAM COMPONENTS

SECTION 101. GENERAL PROGRAM REQUIREMENTS.

A School-to-Work Opportunities program under this Act shall-

(1) integrate school-based learning and work-based learning, as provided for in sections 102 and 103, integrate academic and occupational learning, and establish effective linkages between secondary and post-secondary education;

(2) provide participating students with the opportunity to complete career majors;

(3) incorporate the program components provided in sections 102 through 104;

(4) provide participating students, to the extent practicable, with strong experience in and understanding of all aspects of the industry the students are preparing to enter; and

(5) provide all students with equal access to the full range of such program components (including both school-based and work-based learning components) and related activities, such as recruitment, enrollment, and placement activities, except that nothing in this Act shall be construed to provide any individual with an entitlement to services under this Act.

SECTION 102. SCHOOL-BASED LEARNING COMPONENT.

The school-based learning component of a School-to-Work Opportunities program shall include—

(1) career awareness and career exploration and counseling (beginning at the earliest possible age, but not later than the 7th grade) in order to help students who may be interested to identify, and select or reconsider, their interests, goals, and career majors, including those options that may not be traditional for their gender, race, or ethnicity;

(2) initial selection by interested students of a career major not later than the beginning of the 11th grade;

(3) a program of study designed to meet the same academic content standards the State has established for all students, including, where applicable, standards established under the Goals 2000: Educate America Act, and to meet the requirements necessary to prepare a student for post-secondary education and the requirements necessary for a student to earn a skill certificate;

(4) a program of instruction and curriculum that integrates academic and vocational learning (including applied methodologies and team-teaching strategies), and incorporates instruction, to the extent practicable, in all aspects of an industry, appropriately tied to the career major of a participant;

(5) regularly scheduled evaluations involving ongoing consultation and problem solving with students and school dropouts to identify their academic strengths and weaknesses, academic progress, workplace knowledge, goals, and the need for additional learning opportunities to master core academic and vocational skills; and

(6) procedures to facilitate the entry of students participating in a School-to-Work Opportunities program into additional training or post-secondary education programs, as well as to facilitate the transfer of the students between education and training programs.

SECTION 103. WORK-BASED LEARNING COMPONENT.

(a) Mandatory Activities.—The work-based learning component of a School-to-Work Opportunities program shall include—

(1) work experience;

(2) a planned program of job training and work experiences (including training related to preemployment and employment skills to be mastered at progressively higher levels) that are coordinated with learning in the school-based learning component described in section 102 and are relevant to the career majors of students and lead to the award of skill certificates;

(3) workplace mentoring;

(4) instruction in general workplace competencies, including instruction and activities related to developing positive work attitudes, and employability and participative skills; and

(5) broad instruction, to the extent practicable, in all aspects of the industry.

(b) Permissible Activities.—Such component may include such activities as paid work experience, job shadowing, school-sponsored enterprises, or on-the-job training.

SECTION 104. CONNECTING ACTIVITIES COMPONENT.

The connecting activities component of a School-to-Work Opportunities program shall include—

(1) matching students with the work-based learning opportunities of employers;

(2) providing, with respect to each student, a school site mentor to act as a liaison among the student and the employer, school, teacher, school administrator, and parent of the student, and, if appropriate, other community partners;

(3) providing technical assistance and services to employers, including smalland medium-sized businesses, and other parties in—

(A) designing school-based learning components described in section 102, work-based learning components described in section 103, and counseling and case management services; and

(B) training teachers, workplace mentors, school site mentors, and counselors;

(4) providing assistance to schools and employers to integrate school-based and work-based learning and integrate academic and occupational learning into the program;

(5) encouraging the active participation of employers, in cooperation with local education officials, in the implementation of local activities described in section 102, section 103, or this section;

(6) (A) providing assistance to participants who have completed the program in finding an appropriate job, continuing their education, or entering into an additional training program; and

(B) linking the participants with other community services that may be necessary to assure a successful transition from school to work;

(7) collecting and analyzing information regarding post-program outcomes of participants in the School-to-Work Opportunities program, to the extent practicable, on the basis of socioeconomic status, race, gender, ethnicity, culture, and disability, and on the basis of whether the participants are students with limited-English proficiency, school dropouts, disadvantaged students, or academically talented students; and

(8) linking youth development activities under this Act with employer and industry strategies for upgrading the skills of their workers.

ELEMENTARY AND SECONDARY SCHOOL COUNSELING IMPROVEMENT ACT OF 1999 (S.1443) (Introduced in the Senate July 27, 1999 – Action has not been taken as of the date of this publication.)

SECTION 1. SHORT TITLE.

This Act may be cited as the 'Elementary and Secondary School Counseling Improvement Act of 1999.'

SEC. 2. FINDINGS AND PURPOSE.

(a) FINDINGS - Congress finds that-

(1) elementary and secondary school children are being subjected to unprecedented social stresses, including fragmentation of the family, drug and alcohol abuse, violence, child abuse, and poverty;

(2) an increasing number of elementary and secondary school children are exhibiting symptoms of distress, such as substance abuse, emotional disorders, violent outbursts, disruptive behavior, juvenile delinquency, and suicide;

(3) between 1984 and 1994, the homicide rate for adolescents doubled, while the rate of nonfatal violent crimes committed by adolescents increased by almost 20 percent;

(4) according to the National Institute of Mental Health, up to one in five children and youth have psychological problems severe enough to require some form of professional help, yet only 20 percent of youth with mental disorders or their families receive help;

(5) the Institute of Medicine has identified psychological counseling as the most serious school health need for the normal development of our Nation's children and youth;

(6) school counselors, school psychologists, and school social workers can contribute to the personal growth, educational development, and emotional wellbeing of elementary and secondary school children by providing professional counseling, intervention, and referral services;

(7) the implementation of well-designed school counseling programs has been shown to increase students' academic success;

(8) the national average student-to-counselor ratio in elementary and secondary schools is 531 to 1, and the average student-to-psychologist ratio is 2,300 to 1;

(9) it is recommended that to effectively address students' mental health and development needs, schools have 1 full-time counselor for every 250 students, 1 psychologist for every 1,000 students, and 1 school social worker for every 800 students; (10) the population of elementary and secondary school students in the United States is expected to increase dramatically during the 5 to 10 years beginning with 1999;

(11) the Federal Government can help reduce the risk of academic, social, and emotional problems among elementary and secondary school children by stimulating the development of model school counseling programs; and

(12) the Federal Government can help reduce the risk of future unemployment and assist the school-to-work transition by stimulating the development of model school counseling programs that include comprehensive career development.

(b) PURPOSE - It is the purpose of this Act to enhance the availability and quality of counseling services for elementary and secondary school children by providing grants to local educational agencies to enable such agencies to establish or expand effective and innovative counseling programs that can serve as national models.

SEC. 3. SCHOOL COUNSELING.

Section 10102 of the Elementary and Secondary Education Act of 1965 (20 U.S.C. 8002) is amended to read as follows:

SEC. 10102. ELEMENTARY SCHOOL AND SECONDARY SCHOOL COUNSELING DEMONSTRATION.

(a) COUNSELING DEMONSTRATION -

(1) IN GENERAL - The Secretary may award grants under this section to local educational agencies to enable the local educational agencies to establish or expand elementary school and secondary school counseling programs.

(2) PRIORITY - In awarding grants under this section, the Secretary shall give special consideration to applications describing programs that—

(A) demonstrate the greatest need for new or additional counseling services among the children in the schools served by the applicant;

(B) propose the most promising and innovative approaches for initiating or expanding school counseling; and

(C) show the greatest potential for replication and dissemination.

(3) EQUITABLE DISTRIBUTION - In awarding grants under this section, the Secretary shall ensure an equitable geographic distribution among the regions of the United States and among urban, suburban, and rural areas.

(4) DURATION - A grant under this section shall be awarded for a period not to exceed three years.

(5) MAXIMUM GRANT - A grant under this section shall not exceed \$400,000 for any fiscal year.

(b) APPLICATIONS-

(1) IN GENERAL - Each local educational agency desiring a grant under this section shall submit an application to the Secretary at such time, in such manner, and accompanied by such information as the Secretary may reasonably require.

(2) CONTENTS - Each application for a grant under this section shall—

(A) describe the school population to be targeted by the program, the particular personal, social, emotional, educational, and career development needs of such population, and the current school counseling resources available for meeting such needs;

(B) describe the activities, services, and training to be provided by the program and the specific approaches to be used to meet the needs described in subparagraph (A);

(C) describe the methods to be used to evaluate the outcomes and effectiveness of the program;

(D) describe the collaborative efforts to be undertaken with institutions of higher education, businesses, labor organizations, community groups, social service agencies, and other public or private entities to enhance the program and promote school-linked services integration;

(E) describe collaborative efforts with institutions of higher education which specifically seek to enhance or improve graduate programs specializing in the preparation of school counselors, school psychologists, and school social workers;

(F) document that the applicant has the personnel qualified to develop, implement, and administer the program;

(G) describe how any diverse cultural populations, if applicable, would be served through the program;

(H) assure that the funds made available under this part for any fiscal year will be used to supplement and, to the extent practicable, increase the level of funds that would otherwise be available from non-Federal sources for the program described in the application, and in no case supplant such funds from non-Federal sources; and

(I) assure that the applicant will appoint an advisory board composed of parents, school counselors, school psychologists, school social workers, other pupil services personnel, teachers, school administrators, and community leaders to advise the local educational agency on the design and implementation of the program.

GLOSSARY

All Students means both male and female students from a broad range of backgrounds and circumstances, including disadvantaged students; students with diverse racial, ethnic, or cultural backgrounds; American Indians; Alaska Natives; Native Hawaiians; students with disabilities; students with limited-English proficiency; migrant children; school dropouts; and academically talented students. (STWOA, 1994)

Registered **Apprenticeship** describes those programs that meet specific federally approved standards designed to safeguard the welfare of apprentices. The programs are registered with the Bureau of Apprenticeship and Training (BAT), U.S. Department of Labor, or one of 27 State Apprenticeship Agencies or Councils approved by BAT. Apprenticeships are relationships between an employer and employee during which the worker, or apprentice, learns an occupation in a structured program sponsored jointly by employers and labor unions or operated by employers and employee associations. (National School-to-Work Office, 1996)

Basic Skills are essential academic and personal abilities that are necessary for success in school and the workplace. Traditionally referred to as the three R's = reading, writing, and arithmetic, in recent times, the term has been expanded by both educators and employers to include a number of cognitive and interpersonal abilities, including the capability to think and solve problems; to communicate information in oral, written, and electronic forms; to work effectively alone and in teams; and to take responsibility for one's own development. (National School-to-Work Office, 1996)

Career Awareness activities generally take place at the elementary level. They are designed to make students aware of the broad range of careers and/or occupations in the world of work, including options that may not be traditional for their gender, race, or ethnicity. Career awareness activities range from limited exposure to the world of work through occasional field trips and classroom speakers, to comprehensive exposure. The latter may involve curriculum redesign, introduction of students to a wide span of career options, and integration with activities at the middle school level. (National School-to-Work Office, 1996)

Career Development is the process through which an individual comes to understand his or her place in the world of work. Students develop and identify their careers through a continuum of career awareness, career exploration, and work exposure activities that helps them to discern their own career path. Career development encompasses an individual's education and career-related choices, and the outcome of those choices. (National School-to-Work Office, 1996)

Career Exploration generally takes place at the middle school level and is designed to provide some in-depth exposure to career options for students. Activities may include the study of career opportunities in particular fields to identify potential careers, writing individual learning plans that dovetail with career majors offered at the high school level, or review of local labor market information. (National School-to-Work Office, 1996)

Career Exposure can be defined as activities at the high school level that provide actual work experience connecting classroom learning to work. (National School-to-Work Office, 1996)

Career Guidance and Academic Counseling - The term "career guidance and academic counseling" means providing access to information regarding career awareness and planning with respect to an individual's occupational and academic future that shall include financial aid and postsecondary options. (Perkins III)

Career Guidance and Counseling means programs (1) pertain to the body of subject matter and related techniques and methods organized for the development in individuals of career awareness, career planning, career decisionmaking, placement skills, and knowledge and understanding of local, state, and national occupational, educational, and ongoing market needs, trends, and opportunities; (2) that assist individuals in making and implementing informed educational and occupational choices; and (3) that aid students to develop career options with attention to surmounting gender, race, ethnic, disability, language, or socioeconomic impediments to career options and encouraging careers in nontraditional employment. (STWOA, 1994)

Career Major means a coherent sequence of courses or field of study that prepares a student for a first job and that (1) integrates academic and occupational learning, integrates school-based and work-based learning, and establishes linkages between secondary schools and postsecondary institutions; (2) prepares the student for employment in a broad occupational cluster or industry sector; (3) typically includes at least two years of secondary education and at least one or two years of postsecondary education; (4) provides the students, to the extent practicable, with strong experience in and understanding of all aspects of the industry the students are planning to enter; (5) results in the award of a high school diploma or its equivalent; a certificate or diploma recognizing successful completion of one or two years of postsecondary education (if appropriate); and a skill certificate; and (6) may lead to further education and training, such as entry into a registered apprenticeship program or admission into a two- or four-year college or university. (STWOA, 1994)

A **Career Map** is a written plan of study that helps students select a coherent sequence of secondary (and where appropriate, postsecondary) courses and experiences to prepare them for college entry or work in a selected career cluster or area. Career maps are particularly valuable for entering high school freshmen because they can provide the students with the direction they need in scheduling their course of study in their career of choice. (National School-to-Work Office, 1996)

Connecting Activities are programs or human resources that help link school- and workbased educational programs in the manner described in the School-to-Work Opportunities Act. Connecting activities include

- 1. matching students with work-based opportunities.
- 2. using school site mentors as liaisons between educators, business, parents, and community partners.

- 3. providing technical assistance to help employers and educators design comprehensive STW systems.
- 4. providing technical assistance to help teachers integrate school- and work-based learning as well as academic and occupational subject matter.
- 5. encouraging active business involvement in school- and work-based activities.
- 6. assisting STW completers in finding appropriate work, continuing their education or training, and linking them to other community services.
- 7. evaluating post-program outcomes to assess program success, particularly with reference to selected populations.
- 8. linking existing youth development activities with employer and industry strategies to upgrade worker skills. (STWOA, 1994)

Job Shadowing is typically a part of career exploration activities in late middle and early high school. A student follows an employee at a firm for one or more days to learn about a particular occupation or industry. Job shadowing can help students explore a range of career objectives and select a career major for the latter part of high school. (National School-to-Work Office, 1996)

Nontraditional Training and Employment - The term "nontraditional training and employment" means occupations or fields of work, including careers in computer science, technology, and other emerging high skill occupations, for which individuals from one gender comprise less than 25% of the individuals employed in each such occupation or field of work. (Perkins III)

On-the-Job Training is hands-on training in specific occupational skills that students receive as part of their workplace experiences. (National School-to-Work Office, 1996)

A **Portfolio** is a collection of work that documents a student's educational performance over time. While there is no standard format that a portfolio must take, it typically includes a range of materials (e.g., reports, photographs) selected by the student. A brief introduction and summary statement may describe how the portfolio was assembled and what was learned in the compilation process. Portfolios may be used for a variety of purposes, including increasing student learning opportunities; helping students demonstrate a wide variety of skills; assisting students in recognizing their own academic growth; and teaching students to take greater responsibility for their own learning and development. Instructors report that the portfolio process can increase collaboration with students, provide an alternative means of observing students' cognitive and academic progress, help drive program improvement, and foster professional development by helping teachers to organize and manage their curriculum. (National Schoolto-Work Office, 1996)

Tech Prep is the name given to programs that offer at least four years of sequential coursework at the secondary and postsecondary levels to prepare students for technical careers. Programs typically begin in 11th grade and result in an award of an associate's degree or certificate after two years of postsecondary training. Other Tech Prep combinations are also available, depending on local consortium arrangements. Tech Prep is

designed to build student competency in academic subjects and to provide broad technical preparation in a career area. Coursework integrates academic and vocational subject matter and may provide opportunities for dual enrollment in academic and vocational courses at secondary and postsecondary institutions. (National School-to-Work Office, 1996)

Tech-Prep Program - The term "tech-prep program" means a program of study that—

- (A) combines at a minimum two years of secondary education (as determined under State law) with a minimum of two years of postsecondary education in a nonduplicative, sequential course of study;
- (B) integrates academic, and vocational and technical, instruction, and utilizes workbased and worksite learning where appropriate and available;
- (C) provides technical preparation in a career field such as engineering technology, applied science, a mechanical, industrial, or practical art or trade, agriculture, health occupations, business, or applied economics;
- (D) builds student competence in mathematics, science, reading, writing, communications, economics, and workplace skills through applied, contextual academics, and integrated instruction in a coherent sequence of courses;
- (E) leads to an associate or a baccalaureate degree or a postsecondary certificate in a specific career field; and
- (F) leads to placement in appropriate employment or to further education. (Perkins III)

A Guide for Improving Career Guidance Programs

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Allen, J. M. (Ed.). (1998). *School counseling: New perspectives and practices*. Greensboro, NC: ERIC Counseling and Student Services Clearinghouse.
- Allum, K. F. (1993). Finding one's way: Career guidance for disadvantaged youth. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Labor, Employment and Training Administration.
- American Counseling Association. (1996). A guide to state laws and regulations in professional school counseling. Alexandria, VA: Author.
- Bierema, L. L. (1998). Women's career development across the lifespan: Insights and strategies for women, organizations, and adult educators. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Brown, D., Brooks, L., & Associates. (1996). *Career choice and development* (3rd ed.). San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Brown, J. L., & Moffett, C. A. (1999). *The hero's journey: How educators can transform schools and improve learning*. Alexandria, VA: Association for Supervision and Curriculum Development.
- Burac Matias, Z., Maddy-Bernstein, C., & Harkin, G. (1999). Zeroing in on students' needs: The 1998 exemplary career guidance and counseling programs (MDS-1233). Berkeley: National Center for Research in Vocational Education, University of California, Berkeley.
- Busick, K. U., & Inos, R. H. (1992). *Synthesis of the research on educational change: Implementation phase*. Honolulu: Pacific Regional Educational Laboratory.
- California Department of Education. (1998). *Workforce career development model*. Sacramento: California Department of Education, Comprehensive Adult Student Assessment System (Foundation for Educational Achievement).
- Campbell, C. A., & Dahir, C. A. (1997). Sharing the vision: The national standards for school counseling programs. Alexandria, VA: American School Counselor Association.
- Condliffe, E. (Ed.). (1999). *Issues in education research: Problems and possibilities* (1st ed.). San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Cunanan, E. S., & Maddy-Bernstein, C. (1997, October). *1996 national exemplary career guidance programs: Making the connection* (MDS-1091). Berkeley: National Center for Research in Vocational Education, University of California, Berkeley.

- Dahir, C. A., Sheldon, C. B., & Valiga, M. J. (1998). Vision into action: Implementing the national standards for school counseling programs. Alexandria, VA: American School Counselor Association.
- Dare, D. E., & Maddy-Bernstein, C. (1998). *Career guidance resource guide for elementary and middle/junior high school educators*. Alexandria, VA: American School Counselor Association.
- Dykeman, C. (Ed.). (1998). *Maximizing school guidance program effectiveness: A guide* for school administrators and program directors. Greensboro, NC: ERIC Counseling and Student Services Clearinghouse.
- Educational Research Service. (1999). *An educators' guide to schoolwide reform*. Arlington, VA: Author.
- Edwards, R., Harrison, R., & Tait, A. (1998). *Telling tales: Perspectives on guidance and counseling in learning*. New York: Routledge.
- Ettinger, J. M., DeYoung, L., & Olson, C. (1999). Career development programs for high schools. Madison: University of Wisconsin–Madison, Center on Education and Work, School of Education.
- Farmers, H. S., & Associates. (Eds.). (1997). *Diversity and women's career development: From adolescence to adulthood*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Flanagan, A. K., & Rosenberg, H. (1999). Elementary career awareness through literature: A K-2 correlation to the National Career Development Guidelines. Chicago: Ferguson.
- Flaxman, E. (1997). Career development effects of career magnets versus comprehensive schools (MDS-803). Berkeley: National Center for Research in Vocational Education, University of California, Berkeley.
- Flynn, R. J. (1995). Follow-up evaluation of career counseling programs (ERIC Digest EDO-CG-95-85). Greensboro, NC: ERIC Clearinghouse on Counseling and Student Services.
- Godfrey, J. (1995). *No more frogs to kiss: 99 ways to give economic power to girls.* New York: HarperCollins.
- Gysbers, N. C., & Henderson, P. (1994). *Developing and managing your school guidance program* (2nd ed.). Alexandria, VA: American Counseling Association.
- Gysbers, N. C., Heppner, M. J., & Johnston, J. A. (1998). *Career counseling: Process, issues, techniques*. Needham Heights, MA: Allyn & Bacon.
- Hall, G. E., & Hord, S. M. (1987). *Change in schools: Facilitating the process*. Albany: State University of New York Press.

- Hansen, L. S. (1996). *Integrative life planning: Critical tasks for career development and changing life patterns*. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Henderson, P., & Gysbers, N. C. (1997). Leading and managing your school guidance program staff: A manual for school administrators and directors of guidance. Alexandria, VA: American Counseling Association.
- Herr, E. L., & Cramer, S. H. (1996). *Career guidance and counseling through the life span: Systematic approaches*. Boston: Little, Brown and Company.
- Herring, R. D. (1997). *Counseling diverse ethnic youth: Synergetic strategies and interventions for school counselors*. Orlando, FL: Harcourt Brace & Company.
- Hord, S. M. (1994). Staff development and change process: Cut from the same cloth. *Issues . . . about Change*, 4(2), 1-6.
- Hord, S. M., Rutherford, W. L., Huling-Austin, L., & Hall, G. E. (1987). Taking charge of change. Alexandria, VA: Association for Supervision and Curriculum Development.
- Illinois State Board of Education. (1997). *Education to careers Illinois: The role of elementary education*. Springfield: Author.
- Illinois State Board of Education. (1998). *Education to careers Illinois: The role of middle-level education*. Springfield: Author.
- Kellett, R., & Conger, S. (1995). A three-tiered model of career counseling services (ERIC Digest EDO-CG-95-75). Greensboro, NC: ERIC Clearinghouse on Counseling and Student Services.
- Kobylarz, L. (Ed.). (1996). National Career Development Guidelines: K-adult handbook 1996. Stillwater, OK: National Occupational Information Coordinating Committee.
- Lambert, R., & Ettinger, J. (1995). Career development program plan. Madison: University of Wisconsin–Madison, Center on Education and Work, School of Education.
- Lee, C. C. (Ed.). (1995). *Counseling for diversity: A guide for school counselors and related professionals*. Needham Heights, MA: Allyn and Bacon.
- Maddy-Bernstein, C., & Cunanan, E. S. (1995). Exemplary career guidance programs: What should they look like? (MDS-855). Berkeley: National Center for Research in Vocational Education, University of California, Berkeley.
- Maddy-Bernstein, C., & Cunanan, E. S. (1996). 1995 exemplary career guidance programs: Opening career paths for all students (MDS-1016). Berkeley: National Center for Research in Vocational Education, University of California, Berkeley.

- Minnesota Occupational Information Coordinating Committee. (1996). Careers in the classroom: Activities for integrating career development and work readiness into secondary curriculum and career guidance programs (2nd ed). St. Paul: Minnesota Occupational Information Coordinating Committee, Minnesota Career Information System.
- Myrick, R. (1997). *Developmental guidance and counseling: A practical approach* (3rd ed.). Minneapolis: Educational Media Corporation.
- National Occupational Information Coordinating Committee (NOICC). (1989). *National Career Development Guidelines*. Portland, OR: Northwest Educational Development Laboratory.
- The National School-to-Work Office. (1996). *School-to-work glossary of terms*. Washington, DC: Author.
- Pedersen, P., & Carey, J. C. (Eds.). (1994). *Multicultural counseling in schools: A practical handbook*. Needham Heights, MA: Allyn and Bacon.
- Pickman, A. (Ed.). (1997). Special challenges in career management: Counselor perspectives. Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Reardon, R. C. (1999). *Career development and planning: A comprehensive approach*. Belmont, CA: Wadsworth.
- Ryan, J., & Ryan, R. M. (1997). Preparing for career success: Grades 9-12. Minneapolis/ St. Paul: West Publishing Company.
- Ryan, J., & Ryan, R. M. (1999). *Career planning for the 21st century*. Cincinnati: West Educational Publishing.
- Rye, D. R., & Sparks, R. (1991). *Strengthening K-12 school counseling programs: A support system approach*. Bristol, PA: Accelerated Development.
- Savickas, M., & Walsh, B. (Eds.). (1996). Handbook of career counseling theory and practice. Palo Alto, CA: Davies-Black Publishing.
- Schmidt, J. J. (1999). Counseling in schools: Essential services and comprehensive programs (3rd ed.). Needham Heights, MA: Allyn and Bacon.
- Schutt, D. (1996). *Parents' guide to career development for all students*. Madison: Wisconsin Career Information System.
- Schutt, D. A., & Ettinger, J. M. (1998). Comprehensive career development programs. Madison: University of Wisconsin–Madison, Center on Education and Work, School of Education.
- Sklare, G. B. (1997). *Brief counseling that works: A solution-focused approach for school counselors*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Corwin Press.

- Stitt-Gohdes, W. L. (1997). Career development issues of gender, race, and class (Information Series No. 371). Columbus: ERIC Clearinghouse on Adult, Career, and Vocational Education, Center on Education and Training for Employment, College of Education, Ohio State University.
- Utah State Office of Education. (1998). *Utah model for comprehensive counseling and guidance*. Salt Lake City: Author.
- Walz, G. R., & Ellis, T. I. (Eds.). (1992). Counseling and guidance in the schools: Three exemplary approaches. Washington, DC: National Education Association.
- Ward, S., & Evans, B. (1998). Next step planning. Provo, UT: Provo High School.
- Warren, R. (1994). *Portfolios for development: A guide for trainers and managers*. East Brunswick, NJ: Nichols Publishing.
- Washington Workforce Training and Education Coordinating Board. (1998). *High skills, high wages: Washington's comprehensive plan for workforce training and education executive summary*. Olympia: Author.
- Wermuth, T. R., & Phelps, L. A. (1992). *Effective vocational education for students with special needs: A framework* (MDS-112). Berkeley: National Center for Research in Vocational Education, University of California, Berkeley.
- Zunker, V. G., & Norris, D. S. (1998). Using assessment results for career development. Monterey, CA: Brooks/Cole.

Journal Articles

- Amundson, N. E., & Penner, K. (1998). Parent involved career exploration. The Career Development Quarterly, 47(2), 135-144.
- Beale, A. V. (1999). Career planning guidelines for parents of students with mild disabilities. *The Clearing House*, 72(3), 179.
- Blustein, D. L. (1999). A match made in heaven? Career development theories and the school-to-work transition. *The Career Development Quarterly*, 47(4), 348-352.
- Burac Matias, Z., & Maddy-Bernstein, C. (1999, January/February). Through students' eyes: Career development programs. *The ASCA Counselor*, 26, 28.
- Burac Matias, Z., & Maddy-Bernstein, C. (1998, August). Through students' eyes: Exemplary career development programs. *Centerwork*, 9(4).
- Carr, J. V. (1996). Comprehensiveness of career planning: The third C Comprehensiveness. *Journal of Career Development*, 23(1), 33-42.

- Crandell, P., & Sheldon, C. (1997). Making your programs work. *Schools in the Middle*, 6(4), 4-7.
- Dedmond, R. M. (1996). Evaluation of the career planning program. *Journal of Career Development*, 23(1), 83-93.
- Emmett, J. D. (1997). The preparation of elementary school counselors for career development: What exists—what is needed. *Journal of Career Development*, 23(3), 177-187.
- Farley, R. C., & Johnson, V. A. (1999). Enhancing the career exploration and job-seeking skills of secondary students with disabilities. *Career Development for Exceptional Individuals*, 22(1), 43-54.
- Hansen, L. S. (1999). Beyond school to work: Continuing contributions of theory and practice to career development of youth. *The Career Development Quarterly*, 47(4), 353-358.
- Herr, E. L. (1999). Theoretical perspectives on the school-to-work transition: Reactions and recommendations. *The Career Development Quarterly*, 47(4), 359-364.
- Hord, S. (1993). Vision, leadership and change. Issues . . . about Change, 2(3), 1-6.
- Hoyt, K. B., & Hughey, K. F. (1997). Career counseling in the knowledge age: Implications for change in school counselor education programs. *Journal of Career Development*, 24(2), 95-102.
- Hughey, K. F., & Hughey, J. K. (1999). Preparing students for the future: Making career development a priority. *Journal of Career Development*, 25(3), 203-216.
- Jensen, R. L. (1996). Comprehensive guidance: Implementation standards and career planning in Utah schools: The sixth C Coordination. *Journal of Career Development*, 23(1), 61-72.
- Johnston, H. (1997). What's going on? From advisory programs to adult-student relationships: Restoring purpose to the guidance program. *Schools in the Middle*, 6(4), 8-15.
- Kompelien, K. S. (1996). Focusing on coherent career plans: The fifth C of career planning programs. *Journal of Career Development*, 23(1), 51-60.
- Krumboltz, J. D., & Worthington, R. L. (1999). The school-to-work transition from a learning theory perspective. *The Career Development Quarterly*, 47(4), 312-325.
- Layton, J. D., & Harkin, G. (1997). 1997 exemplary guidance and counseling programs. Office of Student Services' Brief, 9(2). Berkeley: National Center for Research in Vocational Education, University of California, Berkeley.

- Lent, R. W., & Worthington, R. L. (1999). Applying career development theories to the school-to-work transition process. *The Career Development Quarterly*, 47(4), 291-296.
- Mackert, M. J., & McDaniels, R. (1998). Career centers of the future: Recognizing our potential through technology. *Journal of Career Development*, 25(2), 89-100.
- Maddy-Bernstein, C. (1994). Exemplary career guidance and counseling programs for the nation's diverse student population: A preliminary framework. Office of Special Populations BRIEF, 5(4). Champaign: National Center for Research in Vocational Education, University of Illinois site.
- Maddy-Bernstein, C., & Cunanan, E. S. (1996, Spring). 1995 exemplary career guidance programs: Making a difference. *Guidance Division Newsletter* (American Vocational Association).
- Maddy-Bernstein, C., & Cunanan, E. S. (1995, Fall). Individualized career plans. *Guidance Division Newsletter* (American Vocational Association).
- Mau, W. C. (1998). Effects of computer-assisted career decision making on vocational identity and career exploratory behaviors. *Journal of Career Development*, 25(4), 261-274.
- McCharen, B. (1996). Measuring the effects of career planning: The seventh C Competency. *Journal of Career Development*, 23(1), 73-82.
- O'Brien, K. M., Dukstein, R. D., Jackson, S. L., & Tomlinson, M. J. (1999). Broadening career horizons for students in at-risk environments. *The Career Development Quarterly*, 47(3), 215-229.
- Rojewski, J. W., Maddy-Bernstein, C., Meers, G. D., Jones, K. H., & West, E. H. (1996). Career planning and preparation issues for adolescents with special needs: Ensuring a successful transition from school to work. *The Journal for Vocational Special Needs Education*, 18(2), 69-74.
- Sampson, J. P. (1999). Integrating internet-based distance guidance with services provided in career centers. *The Career Development Quarterly*, 47(3), 243-254.
- Savickas, M. L. (1999). The transition from school to work: A developmental perspective. *The Career Development Quarterly*, 47(4), 326-336.
- Starr, M. F. (1996). Comprehensive guidance and systematic educational and career planning: Why a K-12 approach? *Journal of Career Development*, 23(1), 9-22.
- Skorikov, V. B., & Vondracek, F. W. (1997). Longitudinal relationships between part-time work and career development in adolescents. *The Career Development Quarterly*, 45(3), 221-235.

- Sterrett, E. A. (1998). A comparison of women's and men's career transitions. *Journal of Career Development*, 25(4), 249-259.
- Trusty, J., Watts, R. E., & Erdman, P. (1997). Predictors of parents' involvement in their teens' career development. *Journal of Career Development*, 23(3), 189-201.
- Vars, G. F. (1997). Creating options. Getting closer to middle level students: Options for teacher-adviser guidance programs. *Schools in the Middle*, *6*(4), 16-22.

DIRECTORY OF STATE CAREER DEVELOPMENT/GUIDANCE COORDINATORS/SUPERVISORS

ALABAMA

Julia E. Felder, Education Specialist Department of Education Student Support Services P.O. Box 302101 Montgomery, AL 36130-2101 (334) 242-8059 Fax: (334) 242-0482 E-mail: jfelder@fdenet.alsde.edu

ALASKA

Coney Danitz, School Counseling Specialist Teaching and Learning Support Department of Education 801 W. 10th Street, Suite 200 Juneau, AK 99801-1894 (907) 465-8681 Fax: (907) 465-2713 E-mail: cdanitz@educ.state.ak.us

ARIZONA

(Vacant) Director, Guidance and Counseling Arizona Department of Education 1535 W. Jefferson Street, Bin 35 Phoenix, AZ 85007 (602) 542-5353 Fax: (602) 542-1849

ARKANSAS

J. B. Robertson, Guidance Counseling Specialist Guidance, Counseling & Career Education Arkansas Department of Education #4 Capitol Mall, Room 301-B Little Rock, AR 72202-1071 (501) 682-4354 Fax: (501) 682-5136 E-mail: jrobertson@arkedu.k12.ar.us

CALIFORNIA

Robert F. Tardif, Career Guidance Consultant California Department of Education P. O. Box 944272 721 Capitol Mall Sacramento, CA 94244-2770 (916) 657-2921 Fax: (916) 657-4424 E-mail: rtardif@cde.ca.gov Paul Meyer, Guidance and Counseling Department of Education, Suite 654 721 Capitol Mall, P.O. Box 944272 Sacramento, CA 94244-2720 (916) 445-6773 Fax: (916) 322-1757

COLORADO

Theona Hammond Harms Director, Guidance and Counseling Community College/Occupational Systems 1391 N. Speer Boulevard Denver, CO 80204-2554 (303) 620-4000 Fax: (303) 825-4295 E-mail: theona.hammondharms@cccs.cccoes.edu

CONNECTICUT

Milton Natush, Consultant Bureau of Career & Adult Education 25 Industrial Park Road Middletown, CT 06457 (860) 638-2104 Fax: (860) 807-2127

DELAWARE

(Vacant) State Supervisor of Guidance Delaware Department of Public Instruction Townsend Building, Box 1402 Dover, DE 19903 (302) 739-4676 Fax: (302) 739-2388

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

(Vacant) Director, Guidance and Counseling Support Rabaut Administrative Unit Peabody Street and North Dakota Avenue, NW Washington, DC 20001 (202) 541-3975 Fax: (202) 576-6178

FLORIDA

Zelda Rogers, Director Career Guidance Department of Education 644 Florida Education Center Tallahassee, FL 32399 (850) 487-1482 Fax: (850) 487-3601 E-mail: rogersz@mail.doe.state.fl.us

GEORGIA

Linda Smith, Program Specialist Department of Education 205 Butler Street 1770 Twin Towers East Atlanta, GA 30334 (404) 657-6588 Fax: (404) 651-8984

GUAM

Tim Puzan, Chairman, Counseling Department Guam Community College P.O. Box 23069 Barrigada, Guam 96921 (671) 735-4422 Fax: (671) 734-5238

HAWAII

Anthony Calabrese School Renewal Group 189 Lunalilo Home Road, 2nd Floor Honolulu, HI 96825 (808) 394-1312 Fax: (808) 394-1304 E-mail: Anthony Calabrese@notes.k12.hi.us

IDAHO

Sandy Reutzel, State Tech Prep Coordinator Division of Professional-Technical Education P.O. Box 83720 Boise, ID 83720-0095 (208) 334-3216 Fax: (208) 334-2365 E-mail: sreutzel@ved.state.id.us

Sally Tiel, Coordinator Division of Professional-Technical Education P.O. Box 83720 Boise, ID 83720-0095 (208) 332-6943 Fax: (208) 334-2228 E-mail: srtiel@sde.state.id.us

ILLINOIS

Nancy Harris, Principal Consultant Career Guidance Department of Education 100 N. First Street Springfield, IL 62777-0001 (217) 782-4620 Fax: (217) 782-0710 E-mail: NHARRIS@smtp.isbe.state.il.us

INDIANA

Matt Fleck, School Counselor Consultant Department of Education State House, Room 220 Indianapolis, IN 46204-2798 (317) 232-6989 Fax: (317) 232-9121 E-mail: mfleck@dew4.doe.state.in.us

Sue Reynolds, Guidance and Counseling Specialist State House, Room 220 Indianapolis, IN 46204-2798 (317) 232-9172 Fax: (317) 232-9121

IOWA

Gary Henrichs, Supervisor Guidance Services Bureau of Instructional Services Department of Education Grimes State Building Des Moines, IA 50319-0146 (515) 281-3875 Fax: (515) 242-6025

KANSAS

Tom Henley, Counseling Consultant Department of Education 120 E. 10th Street Topeka, KS 66612-1103 (913) 296-4926 Fax: (913) 296-3523

Grace Hayes, Career Counseling Consultant Department of Education 120 E. 10th Street Topeka, KS 66612-1103 (913) 296-4926 Fax: (913) 296-3523

KENTUCKY

Donnalie Stratton Division of Elementary and Secondary Education Department of Education 2114 CPT, 500 Mero St. Frankfort, KY 40601 (502) 564-3775 Fax: (502) 564-7371

LOUISIANA

Joycelyn H. Brunswick, Program Manager
Louisiana Community & Technical College System
822 Neosho Drive
Baton Rouge, LA 70802
(225) 219-8741
Fax: (225) 219-8779
E-mail: jbrunswick@lctcs.state.la.us

MAINE

Karin Congleton, President School Counselors Association 6 Berkeley Lane Topsham, ME 04086 (207) 684-3521

Buzz Gamble, Career Guidance Coordinator Maine State Department of Education State House Station #23 Augusta, ME 04333-0023 (207) 287-5854 Fax: (207) 287-5894

MARYLAND

Richard Scott, Career Guidance Specialist Department of Education 200 W. Baltimore Street Baltimore, MD 21201 (410) 767-0288 Fax: (410) 333-2423

MASSACHUSETTS

Kevin Matthews, Education Specialist Department of Education School to Employment Services 350 Main Street Malden, MA 02148 (617) 388-3300 x441 Fax: (617) 388-3394

MICHIGAN

Kathleen Crooks, Consultant Career, Curriculum and Technical Education Michigan Department of Education P.O. Box 30008 Lansing, MI 48909-7509 (517) 241-0260 Fax: (517) 373-8776 E-mail: crooksk@state.mi.us

MINNESOTA

Diane M. Miller Counseling/Career Development Department of Children, Families, and Learning 1500 Highway 36 West Roseville, MN 56113 (651) 582-8409 Fax: (651) 582-8492 E-mail: diane.miller@state.mn.us

MISSISSIPPI

Martha Garrett, Career Guidance Supervisor State Department of Education 550 High Street, P.O. Box 771 Jackson, MS 39205-0771 (601) 359-3934 Fax: (601) 359-6619

MISSOURI

Lela Kosteck Bunch, Director Department of Elementary & Secondary Education P.O. Box 480 Jefferson City, MO 65102-0480 (573) 751-7966 Fax: (573) 526-4261

Roberta Buschjost Supervisor, Guidance and Placement Department of Elementary & Secondary Education P.O. Box 480 Jefferson City, MO 65102-0480 (573) 522-1488 Fax: (573) 526-4261

MONTANA

Judy Birch, Guidance Specialist Department of Education State Capitol Building, Room 106 P.O. Box 202501 Helena, MT 59620-2501 (406) 444-3924 Fax: (406) 444-9019

NEBRASKA

Michael Shain, Director, Career Guidance & Counseling Nebraska Department of Education P.O. Box 94987, 301 Centennial Mall South Lincoln, NE 68509-4987 (402) 471-4811 Fax: (402) 471-8850 E-mail: mshain@edneb.org

NEVADA

Janet Wright, Guidance and Counseling Department of Education Capitol Complex, 700 E. 5th Street Carson City, NV 89710 (775) 687-9197 Fax: (775) 687-9114 E-mail: jwright@nsn.k12.nv.us

Michael Fitzgerald Department of Education Capitol Complex, 700 E. 5th Street Carson City, NV 89710 (775) 687-9173 Fax: (775) 687-9119 E-mail: Mfitz@nsn.k12.nv.us

NEW HAMPSHIRE

Mariane Gfoerer, Guidance & Counseling Consultant State Department of Education 78 Regional Drive, Building #2 Concord, NH 03301-3860 (603) 271-6691 Fax: (603) 271-7095 E-mail: MGfroerer@ed.state.nh.us

NEW JERSEY

Ann DiGiacomo Division of Academic Programs and Standards Department of Education, P.O. Box 500 100 Riverview Plaza Trenton, NJ 08625 (609) 777-2168 Fax: (609) 292-7276

NEW MEXICO

Nancy Mandel, School Counseling Consultant Department of Education 300 Don Gaspar Postsecondary Administrative Services Santa Fe, NM 87501-2786 (505) 827-6698 Fax: (505) 827-6696

NEW YORK

John Soja, Supervisor Consultant Health and Pupil Services Team Department of Education Washington Avenue, Room 318-M-EB Albany, NY 12234 (518) 486-6090 Fax: (518) 486-7290

Ernie Welden, Career Guidance Supervisor Department of Education, Room 319 89 Washington Avenue Albany, NY 12234-0001 (518) 474-4192 Fax: (518) 474-0319

NORTH CAROLINA

Betty Jo Wimmer, Consultant
Guidance and Career Development
North Carolina Department of Public Instruction
301 N. Wilmington Street
Raleigh, NC 27601
(919) 715-9658
Fax: (919) 715-1628
E-mail: bwimmer@dpi.state.nc.us

NORTH DAKOTA

Gaylen Becker, Director Counseling and Testing Department of Public Instruction State Capitol, 9th Floor 600 East Boulevard Bismarck, ND 58505-0440 (701) 328-2755

Dennis Steele, Assistant State Director and Supervisor, Career Development State Board for Vocational and Technical Education State Capitol Building, 15th Floor 600 East Boulevard Bismarck, ND 58505-0610 (701) 328-3196 Fax: (701) 328-1255 E-mail: dsteele@pioneer.state.nd.us

OHIO

Karen P. Health, Assistant Director Career Development Services Department of Education 65 S. Front Street, Room 908 Columbus, OH 43215-4183 (614) 466-5718 Edwin Whitfield, Associate Director Guidance/Counseling Section Ohio Department of Education 65 S. Front Street, Room 702 Columbus, OH 43215-4183 ae-whitfield@ode.ohio.gov (614) 466-9223 x5718 Fax: (614) 728-3768 E-mail: AE whitfield@ode.ohio.gov

OKLAHOMA

Kelly Arrington, Guidance Coordinator Department of Voc Tech Education 1500 W. 7th Avenue Stillwater, OK 74074-4364 (405) 743-5159 Fax: (405) 743-5142 E-mail: karri@okvotech.org

J. C. Smith

Coordinator, Guidance/Counseling State Department of Education 2500 N. Lincoln Boulevard Oklahoma City, OK 73105-4599 (405) 521-3549 Fax: (405)521-6205 E-mail: J.C.Smith@mail.sde.state.ok.us

OREGON

June Tremain Career Development and Articulation Specialist Office of Professional Technical Education Oregon Department of Education Public Services Building 255 Capitol Street NE Salem, OR 97310-0203 (503) 378-3584 Fax: (503) 373-7968 E-mail: june.tremain@state.or.us

PENNSYLVANIA

Jay D. Cannon, Career Development Administrator Bureau of Vocational and Technical Education Department of Education 333 Market Street Harrisburg, PA 17126-0333 (717) 787-6623 Fax: (717) 783-6672

PUERTO RICO

Ida Y. Alvarado Collazo, Directora, Programa de Orientacion Departamento de Educacion P.O. Box 190759 Oficina 1017, Piso 10 San Juan, Puerto Rico 00919-0759 (787) 250-1721; (787) 759-2000 Exts. 2633, 2634 Fax: (787) 751-7469

Mercedes Davila-Torres, Directora, Oficina de Planificacion
Programas de Education Tecnologica
Departamento de Educacion
P.O. Box 190759
Oficina 708, Piso 7
San Juan, Puerto Rico 00919-0759
(787) 753-7275
Fax: (787) 763-5355
E-mail: gberrios@tech-prep.com

RHODE ISLAND

(Vacant) State Career Education Coordinator Bureau of Vocational & Adult Education Department of Education Shepard Building, 5th Floor 255 Westminister Street Providence, RI 02903-3400 (401) 277-2650 Fax: (401) 277-2734

SOUTH CAROLINA

Susan Alexander, Education Associate State Department of Education 603 E. Rutledge Building 1429 Senate Street Columbia, SC 29201 (803) 734-5481 Fax: (803) 734-5953 E-mail: salexander@sde.state.sc.us

SOUTH DAKOTA

Marsha Kucker, Career Guidance Coordinator South Dakota Curriculum Center 435 S. South Chapelle Pierre, SD 57501-3210 (605) 224-6287 Fax: (605) 224-8320

TENNESSEE

Sam McClanahan, Guidance Director Department of Education Andrew Johnson Tower, 4th Floor 710 James Robertson Parkway Nashville, TN 37243-0383 (615) 532-2834 Fax: (615) 532-8226 E-mail: smcclanahan@mail.state.tn.us.

Mary Simmons, Director, School Counseling Services State Department of Education 710 James Robertson Parkway Nashville, TN 37243-0379 (615) 532-6285 Fax: (615) 532-8536

TEXAS

Sylvia Clark, Career Guidance Specialist Texas Education Agency 1701 N. Congress Avenue Austin, TX 78701-1494 (512) 463-9498 Fax: (512) 463-4584 E-mail: sclark@mail4.tea.tx.us

John Lucas, Director, Guidance & Counseling Texas Education Agency 1701 N. Congress Avenue Austin, TX 78701-1494 (512) 463-9498 Fax: (512) 463-4584

UTAH

Lynn Jensen, Coordinator, ATE Curriculum and Student Services Department of Education 250 E. 500 South Salt Lake City, UT 84111-3204 (801) 538-7851 Fax: (801) 538-7868 E-mail: Ljensen@uoe.k12.ut.us

VERMONT

Shelly Barsanti Cohen, Guidance & Counseling Consultant State Department of Education State Office Building 120 State Street Montpelier, VT 05602-2501 (802) 828-5140 Fax: (802) 828-3146 E-mail: scohen@dve.state.vt.us

VIRGINIA

Kay Brown, Career Connections Specialist Department of Education P.O. Box 2120 Richmond, VA 23216-2120 (804) 225-2057 Fax: (804) 371-2456

WASHINGTON

C. J. H. Dorsey, Director of Guidance Department of Education Old Capitol Building P.O. Box 47200 Olympia, WA 98504-7200 (360) 753-0555 Fax: (360) 664-3314

WEST VIRGINIA

Kathy D'Antoni, School-to-Work Coordinator State Capitol Complex, Building 6 1900 Kanawha Boulevard, East Charleston, WV 25305-0330 (304) 558-2122 Fax: (304) 558-3946

Theresa Wilson, Guidance and Counseling Student Services State Capitol Complex, Building 6 1900 Kanawha Boulevard, East Charleston, WV 25305-0330 (304) 558-2546 Fax: (304) 558-1613

WISCONSIN

Deborah Bilzing, Consultant, School Counseling Department of Public Instruction P.O. Box 7841 125 S. Webster Street Madison, WI 53707 (608) 266-2829 Fax: (608) 267-3746 E-mail: deborah.bilzing@dpi.state.wi.us

WYOMING

Karen Ross Milmont, Consultant, ABE/GED Department of Education Hathaway Building, 2nd Floor 2300 Capitol Avenue Cheyenne, WY 82002-0050 (307) 777-3545 Fax: (307) 777-6234 E-mail: kmilmont@educ.state.wy.us Lloyd Kjomess, Career Guidance & Counseling Coordinator Department of Education Hathaway Building, 2nd Floor 2300 Capitol Avenue Cheyenne, WY 82002-0050

Heather Wagner, Career Guidance & Counseling Department of Education Hathaway Building 2300 Capitol Avenue Cheyenne, WY 82002-0050 (307) 777-5329 Fax: (309) 777-6234

DIRECTORY OF STATE OCCUPATIONAL INFORMATION COORDINATING COMMITTEES (SOICC)

ALABAMA

Dr. Mary Louise Simms, Executive Director Alabama SOICC Alabama Center for Commerce-Room 424 401 Adams Avenue, P.O. Box 5690 Montgomery, AL 36103-5690 (334) 242-2990 Fax: (334) 353-1816 E-mail: soiccal@huntingdon.edu Homepage: soiccal.huntingdon.edu/SOICC/ default.html

ALASKA

Brynn Keith, Executive Director Alaska Department of Labor Research & Analysis Section P.O. Box 25501 Juneau, AK 99802 (907) 465-4518 Fax: (907) 465-2101 E-mail: brynn keith@labor.state.ak.us

AMERICAN SAMOA

Dr. Eneliko Sofa'i, Deputy Director Employee Training & Development Division Department of Human Resources American Samoa Government Pago Pago, AS 96799 (684) 633-4485 Fax: (684) 633-1139

ARIZONA

Rick Van Sickle, Executive Director Arizona SOICC 1789 W. Jefferson, 1st Floor P.O. Box 6123, Site Code 733A Phoenix, AZ 85005-6123 (602) 542-6481 Fax: (602) 542-6474 Homepage: www.de.state.az.us/links/ economic/webpage/index.html

ARKANSAS

Mr. C. Coy Cozart, Executive Director
Arkansas OICC/Arkansas Employment Security Department
Employment and Training Services
P.O. Box 2981
Little Rock, AR 72203
(501) 682-3159
Fax: (501) 682-3144
E-mail: cccoz@yahoo.com

CALIFORNIA

John J. Corcoran, Executive Director California OICC 660 J Street, Room 400 P.O. Box 1138 Sacramento, CA 95812-1138 (916) 323-6544 Fax: (916) 322-0842 E-mail: coicc@cwo.com Homepage: www.soicc.ca.gov/

COLORADO

Dr. James J. Podolak, Director Colorado OICC 1515 Arapahoe Street Tower Two, Level 3, Suite 300 Denver, CO 80202-2117 (303) 620-4981 Fax: (303) 620-4988 E-mail: cosoicc@indra.com Homepage: www.cosoicc.org/

CONNECTICUT

Roger Therrien, Executive Director Connecticut OICC Connecticut Department of Labor 200 Folly Brook Boulevard Wethersfield, CT 06109-1114 (860) 263-6255 Fax: (860) 263-6263 E-mail: roger.therrien@po.state.ct.us Homepage: www.ctdol.state.ct.us/soicc/ soicc.htm

DELAWARE

Dr. James K. McFadden, Executive Director
Office of Occup. & LMI - Department of Labor
University Office Plaza
P.O. Box 9965
Wilmington, DE 19809-0965
(302) 761-8050
Fax: (302) 761-6593
E-mail: jmcfadden@state.de.us
Homepage: www.oolmi.net/

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

Yvonne Howell, Executive Director District of Columbia OICC 500 C Street, NW, Suite 201 Washington, DC 20001 (202) 724-7631 E-mail: des74@erols.com Homepage: 209.122.85.51/oiccinfo.html

FLORIDA

Rebecca Rust, Manager WDICC & Bureau of LMI/DOL & ES Suite 200, Hartman Building 2012 Capital Circle, SE Tallahassee, FL 32399-2151 (850) 488-1048 Fax: (850) 488-2558 E-mail: Rebecca_Rust@jb.fdles.state.fl.us Homepage: lmi.floridajobs.org/

GEORGIA

Billy McNeece, Director Georgia OICC/Department of Labor 148 International Boulevard Sussex Place Atlanta, GA 30303 (404) 656-3177 Fax: (404) 651-9568 E-mail: billy.mcneece@dol.state.ga.us Homepage: www.dol.state.ga.us/lmi

GUAM

Mr. Stacy L. Cruz, Executive Director Guam OICC, Human Resource Development P.O. Box 3358 Hagatna, GU 96932 (671) 649-9759 Fax: (671) 649-4922 E-mail: scruz@ite.net

HAWAII

Patrick A. Stanley, Executive Director Hawaii SOICC 830 Punchbowl Street, Room 321 Honolulu, HI 96813 (808) 586-8750 Fax: (808) 586-9099 E-mail: pstanley@pixi.com Homepage: www.pixi.com/~pstanley

IDAHO

Charles R. Mollerup, Director Idaho OICC Len B. Jordan Building, Room 301 650 W. State Street, P.O. Box 83720 Boise, ID 83720-0095 (208) 334-3705 Fax: (208) 334-2365 E-mail: cmolleru@cis.state.id.us Homepage: www.sde.state.id.us/cis/

ILLINOIS

Robert K. Gray, Executive Director Illinois OICC 217 E. Monroe, Suite 203 Springfield, IL 62706 (217) 785-0789 Fax: (217) 785-6184 E-mail: bgray@ioicc.state.il.us Homepage: www.ioicc.state.il.us/

INDIANA

Sonya Pierce Jones, Director, Indiana OICC
Indiana Department of Workforce
Development & Technical Education
10 N. Senate Avenue, Room SE212
Indianapolis, IN 46204-2277
(317) 233-5099
Fax: (317) 232-1815
E-mail: sjones@dwd-is.state.in.us
Homepage: www.dwd.state.in.us/

IOWA

Penny Shenk, Executive Director Iowa OICC Iowa Workforce Development 1000 E. Grand Avenue Des Moines, IA 50319 (515) 242-5032 Fax: (515) 281-8195 E-mail: pshenk@netins.net Homepage: www.state.ia.us/iwd/isoicc

KANSAS

Steve Barnett, Acting Director Kansas OICC 119 Grant Street Chanute, KS 66720 (316) 431-4950 Fax: (316) 431-2375 E-mail: smbarnet@hr.state.ks.us

KENTUCKY

Don Sullivan, Information Liaison/Manager Kentucky OICC 500 Mero Street, Room 2031 Frankfort, KY 40601 (502) 564-4258 Fax: (502) 564-3044 Homepage: www.state.ky.us/agencies/wforce/ koicc.htm

LOUISIANA

Tom Bourg, Operations Analyst Louisiana OICC P.O. Box 94094 Baton Rouge, LA 70804-9094 (225) 342-5151 Fax: (225) 342-5115 E-mail: laloicc@cyberview.net Homepage: www.ldol.state.la.us/loicpage.htm

MAINE

Denis Fortier, Acting SOICC Director Maine OICC Bureau of Employment Services 55 State House Station Augusta, ME 04333-0055 (207) 624-6390 Fax: (207) 624-6499 E-mail: denis.fortier@state.me.us

MARYLAND

Jasmin M. Duckett, Director Maryland SOICC State Department of Labor, Licensing, & Regulation 1100 N. Eutaw Street, Room 203 Baltimore, MD 21201 (410) 767-2953 Fax: (410) 767-2957 E-mail: jduckett@careernet.state.md.us Homepage: www.careernet.state.md.us./ MOICC.htm

MASSACHUSETTS

Robert Vinson, Director Massachusetts OICC/Division of ES C. F. Hurley Building, 2nd Floor Government Center Boston, MA 02114 (617) 626-5718 Fax: (617) 727-2039 E-mail: masscis@detma.org

MICHIGAN

Robert Sherer, Executive Coordinator Michigan OICC Victor Office Center, 4th Floor 201 N. Washington Square Lansing, MI 48913 (517) 373-0363 Fax: (517) 335-0198 E-mail: shererb@state.mi.us

MINNESOTA

Marc Breton, Director
Minnesota OICC/Department of Economic Security
390 N. Robert Street
St. Paul, MN 55101
(651) 296-2072
Fax: (651) 282-5429
E-mail: mbreton@ngwmail.des.state.mn.us
Homepage: www.des.state.mn.us/lmi/careers

MISSISSIPPI

Liz Barnett, SOICC Director Mississippi SOICC 301 W. Pearl Street Jackson, MS 39203-3089 (601) 949-2240 Fax: (601) 949-2291 E-mail: LBARNETT@mississippi.org

MISSOURI

Mark Mehmert, Director Missouri OICC 400 Dix Road Jefferson City, MO 65109 (573) 751-3800 Fax: (573) 751-2149 E-mail: mmehmert@mail.state.mo.us Homepage: www.works.state.mo.us/moicc

MONTANA

Annette Miller, Director Montana OICC 616 Helena Avenue, Suite 302 P.O. Box 1728 Helena, MT 59624 (406) 444-2741 Fax: (406) 444-7499 E-mail: anmiller@state.mt.us Homepage: mcis.dli.state.mt.us/

NEBRASKA

Phillip Baker, Administrator Nebraska OICC 550 S. 16th Street Lincoln, NE 68509-4600 (402) 471-9964 Fax: (402) 471-9867 E-mail: pbaker@dol.state.ne.us Homepage: www.dol.state.ne.us

NEVADA

Patty Brisbin, Manager Nevada OICC - Research & Analysis DETR, 500 E. 3rd Street Carson City, NV 89713-0021 (775) 687-4550, Ext. 229 Fax: (775) 687-4119 E-mail: pbrisbin@govmail.state.nv.us

NEW HAMPSHIRE

George Nazer, Director New Hampshire State OICC New Hampshire Employment Security 32 S. Main Street Concord, NH 03301 (603) 228-4123 Fax: (603) 228-3209 E-mail: gnazer@nhes.state.nh.us Homepage: www.state.nh.us/soiccnh/

NEW JERSEY

Laurence H. Seidel, Staff Director New Jersey OICC P.O. Box 057, 5th Floor Trenton, NJ 08625-0057 (609) 292-2682 Fax: (609) 292-2142 E-mail: sdamiani@dolsun.dol.state.nj.us Homepage: wnjpin.state.nj.us/ OneStopCareerCenter/SOICC/

NEW MEXICO

Herb Greenwall, Director New Mexico OICC P.O. Box 1928 Albuquerque, NM 87103 (505) 841-8643 Fax: (505) 841-9007 E-mail: greenwah@bls.gov Homepage: www3.state.nm.us/dol/soicc.htm

NEW YORK

David J. Trzaskos, Executive Director New York State OICC/DOL Research & Statistics Division State Campus, Building 12 - Room 400 Albany, NY 12240 (518) 457-3805 Fax: (518) 485-1773 E-mail: usbdjt@labor.state.ny.us

NORTH CAROLINA

Nancy H. MacCormac, Executive Director North Carolina OICC 700 Wade Avenue P.O. Box 25903 Raleigh, NC 27611 (919) 733-6700 Fax: (919) 733-8662 E-mail: maccormac.nancy@esc.state.nc.us Homepage: www.esc.state.nc.us/soicc/

NORTH DAKOTA

Dr. Dan R. Marrs, Program Administrator North Dakota SOICC 1720 Burnt Boat Drive P.O. Box 5507 Bismarck, ND 58506-5507 (701) 328-9734 Fax: (701) 328-9731 E-mail: marrs@prairie.nodak.edu Homepage: www.state.nd.us/jsnd/soicc.htm

NORTHERN MARIANA ISLANDS

Bruce Bailey, Executive Director Northern Mariana Islands OICC P.O. Box 149 Room N-1, Building N, Northern Mariana College Saipan, MP 96950 (670) 234-7394 Fax: (670) 231-0915 E-mail: bruceb@nmcnet.edu Homepage: www.nmcnet.edu/NMIOICC/ Default.html

OHIO

Mark Schaff, Director Ohio OICC, Division of LMI Ohio Bureau of Employment Services 145 S. Front Street Columbus, OH 43215 (614) 466-1109 Fax: (614) 752-9621 E-mail: schaffm@obes.state.oh.us Homepage: www.ohio.gov/lmi/

OKLAHOMA

Dr. Curtis Shumaker, Executive Director Oklahoma OICC Department of Voc/Tech Education 1500 W. 7th Avenue Stillwater, OK 74074 (405) 743-5198 Fax: (405) 743-6808 E-mail: curtis_shumaker@okvotech.org Homepage: www.okvotech.org/soicc/index.htm

OREGON

Brenda Turner, Acting Director Oregon OICC 875 Union Street, NE Salem, OR 97311 (503) 947-1233 Fax: (503) 947-1210 E-mail: turnerbp@emp.state.or.us Homepage: olmis.emp.state.or.us

PENNSYLVANIA

Mary Ann Regan, Executive Director Pennsylvania OICC/Research & Statistics Pennsylvania Department of Labor and Industry 7th & Forster Streets Harrisburg, PA 17121-0001 (717) 787-6466 Fax: (717) 772-2168 E-mail: mregan@dli.state.pa.us

PUERTO RICO

Victor J. Cintron, Executive Director Puerto Rico OICC P.O. Box 366212 San Juan, PR 00936-6212 (787) 723-7110 Fax: (787) 724-6374 E-mail: vjcintron@proicc.org Homepage: www.proicc.org

RHODE ISLAND

Mildred Nichols, Director Rhode Island OICC 101 Friendship Street Providence, RI 02903 (401) 272-0830 Fax: (401) 351-9081 E-mail: mnichols@dlt.state.ri.us Homepage: www.det.state.ri.us/webdev/lmi/ rioicchm.html

SOUTH CAROLINA

Carol Kososki, Director South Carolina OICC 631 Hampton Street P.O. Box 995 Columbia, SC 29202 (803) 737-2733 Fax: (803) 737-0995 E-mail: scois@sces.org Homepage: www.scois.org

SOUTH DAKOTA

Phillip George, Director South Dakota OICC-DOL 420 S. Roosevelt Street P.O. Box 4730 Aberdeen, SD 57402-4730 (605) 626-2314 Fax: (605) 626-2322 E-mail: Phil.George@state.sd.us Homepage: www.state.sd.us/state/executive/ dol/lmic/sdoicc/sdoicchome.htm

TENNESSEE

Dr. Chrystal Partridge, Executive Director Tennessee OICC 11th Floor, Volunteer Plaza 500 James Robertson Parkway Nashville, TN 37245-1600 (615) 741-6451 Fax: (615) 532-9434 E-mail: cpartridge@mail.state.tn.us

TEXAS

Richard Froeschle, Director Texas OICC Whitney Jordan Plaza 9001 IH-35 North, Suite 103-B Austin, TX 78753-5233 (512) 491-4941 Fax: (512) 491-4966 E-mail: Richard.Froeschle@soicc.state.tx.us Homepage: www.soicc.state.tx.us
UTAH

Connie Blaine, Coordinator Utah OICC - Department of Workforce Services P.O. Box 45249 140 E. 300 South Salt Lake City, UT 84145-0249 (801) 526-9472 Fax: (801) 526-9238 E-mail: cblaine@state.ut.us

VERMONT

Sally Redpath, Director Vermont OICC 5 Green Mountain Drive P.O. Box 488 Montpelier, VT 05602 (802) 828-4394 Fax: (802) 828-4050 E-mail: sredpath@pop.det.state.vt.us Homepage: www.det.state.vt.us/

VIRGIN ISLANDS

William Wood, Coordinator Research & Analysis Virgin Islands OICC P.O. Box 303359 St. Thomas, US, VI 00803-3359 (809) 776-3700, Ext. 2036 Fax: (809) 774-5908 E-mail: bwood@sttj.k12.vi.us

VIRGINIA

Ben R. Berryman, Acting Executive Director
Virginia OICC - Virginia Employment Commission
703 E. Main Street
P.O. Box 1358
Richmond, VA 23211
(804) 786-7496
Fax: (804) 786-7844
E-mail: ben150001@sprintmail.com

WASHINGTON

Michael Paris, Executive Director Washington OICC c/o Employment Security Department P.O. Box 9046 Olympia, WA 98507-9046 (360) 438-4803 Fax: (360) 438-3215 E-mail: mparis@esd.wa.gov Homepage: www.wa.gov/esd/lmea/soicc/ sohome.htm

WEST VIRGINIA

Dr. George McGuire, Executive Director West Virginia SOICC P.O. Box 487 Institute, WV 25112-0487 (304) 599-8318 Fax: (304) 766-2689 E-mail: mcyrwv@mailexcite.com Homepage: www.wvsoicc.org

WISCONSIN

Ms. Shiau-Yun Wang, Coordinator
Wisconsin SOICC/Department of Workforce Development
201 E. Washington Avenue, GEF-1, Room 221X
P.O. Box 7944
Madison, WI 53707-7944
(608) 267-9611
Fax: (608) 266-5887
E-mail: WANGSH@mail.state.wi.us
Homepage: www.dwd.state.wi.us/dwelmi/

WYOMING

Tom Gallagher, Acting Director Wyoming OICC 246 S. Center Street, 2nd Floor P.O. Box 2760 Casper, WY 82602 (307) 473-3809 Fax: (307) 473-3806 E-mail: tgalla@missc.state.wy.us

Pre-Workshop Assessment Form 101
TEAM PLANNING WORKSHEETS 121
Action Plan Form125
Follow-Up Schedule 127
EVALUATION FORMS 129
Self-Study for Meeting Comprehensive Counseling and Guidance Program Standards (Utah)
Comprehensive Guidance Program Audit (Utah) 139

PRE-WORKSHOP ASSESSMENT FORM

DEVELOPED BY

NATIONAL CENTER FOR RESEARCH IN VOCATIONAL EDUCATION

IN COOPERATION WITH

U.S. DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION, OFFICE OF VOCATIONAL AND ADULT EDUCATION AMERICAN SCHOOL COUNSELOR ASSOCIATION ASSOCIATION FOR CAREER AND TECHNICAL EDUCATION UNIVERSITY OF WISCONSIN–MADISON, CENTER ON EDUCATION AND WORK

PRE-WORKSHOP ASSESSMENT FORM

Date: _	
Prepared by: _	
	(Name of team contact person)
Position:	
School:	
School District:	
-	

INTRODUCTION

As you know, your school is participating in a professional development program designed to help improve student outcomes through enhancing the school's career development program. This professional development program has been designed by the National Center for Research in Vocational Education in cooperation with the U.S. Department of Education Office of Vocational and Adult Education, the American School Counselor Association, the Association for Career and Technical Education, and the Center on Education and Work at the University of Wisconsin–Madison.

We are pleased to welcome you as the contact person of your school's leadership team in this effort. In order for us to customize your professional development program, we need information about your school. Please assist us by completing the survey about your existing program as well as current needs and concerns. The information you provide will be used to tailor our professional development workshop to meet your needs.

INSTRUCTIONS

A series of statements follow **about your school's career development program**. (Please see the definitions at the end of this questionnaire for terminologies used.) Opposite each statement, choose the column (*Yes, Somewhat, No, Not Applicable*) that best represents your opinion about your program. Please write any additional comments in the *Remarks* column or use additional paper as necessary. We suggest your team (1) meet and discuss these items, (2) come to a consensus, (3) call us for any clarifications (see page 9), (4) meet again, if necessary, and (5) fax or mail to us the completed questionnaire.

We appreciate your help in responding to this questionnaire. Your responses are valuable and will be used to design a professional development program that will best meet your school's needs. Thank you. We look forward to working with you.

		Curren	Current Status		
Program Status	Yes	Some- what	No	N/A	Remarks
The career development program has a vision statement, which is tied to the school's vision statement.					
The program has a mission statement that defines the purpose and how this purpose relates to the needs of the population served.					
The program goals are clearly stated and include the methods used to achieve those goals.					
An organizational chart or table identifying operational elements and adminis- trative personnel in charge is available.					
Career Development Plan, Delivery System, and Assessment	, Delive	ry Syst	em, and	l Assess	sment
		Current Status	t Status		
Program Status	Yes	Some- what	No	N/A	Remarks
 Career development is addressed at all grade and age levels. The program is based on the National Career Development Guidelines. If not, what is the basis for your program (e.g., state guidelines)? Your school's career guidance/career development program is viewed as an integral <i>program</i> with regularly scheduled student contact time for all students. The career development program is clearly described and includes schedules and the person(s) or team(s) responsible for its delivery. A specific career development curriculum is provided at each grade level. The career development curriculum is based on competencies and student indicators. Counselors team teach the career development curriculum and/or coordinate with teachers to integrate career development curriculum. Career planning curriculum and content is clearly linked to the individual career planning process at the middle and high school levels. 					

CAREER DEVELOPMENT PROGRAM

		Current Status	Status		
Program Status	Yes	Some- what	No	N/A	Remarks
All students prepare and complete an Individual Career Plan (ICP) and update it on a regular basis with direction from the counselor, teacher advisor, or other career development facilitator. The ICPs address high school preparation for postsecondary options such as Tech Prep, youth apprenticeships, four-year college, two-year college, or work. Career planning for all students is integrated with the instructional component of career development and regular classroom and/or work-based learning. All students are provided with interest and aptitude assessments, as well as interpretation. Counselors and teachers understand assessments as they apply to career planning. All students acquire appropriate work experiences, job shadowing, or other work-based learning experiences.					

Career Development Plan, Delivery System, and Assessment (continued)

Addressing Diverse Student Populations

		Current Status	Status		
Program Status	Yes	Some- what No		N/A	Remarks
Counselors and staff have and use a program for serving the diverse needs of its participants. Counselors and staff pay attention to and support participation of women, minorities, at-risk students, and those with special needs in nontraditional careers such as those in technical areas.					

Program Support Services and Facilities	t Servi	ces and	l Facili	ies	
		Curren	Current Status		
Program Status	Yes	Some- what	No	N/A	Remarks
A career center is available and contains adequate resources accessible by all students, teachers, parents, and other school staff.					
All students and parents have access to resources, including state and national, printed and computerized, career, occupational, and educational information.					
All students have access to resources that explain school-to-school and school- to-work options.					
Teachers have curriculum materials for integrating career development competencies into their content areas.					
Career and labor market information is used in the career development curriculum and in career decisionmaking.					
Counselors, staff, students, and parents have access to resources that explain school-to-work options in the district such as Tech Prep, youth apprenticeships, career clustering, work experience programs, and job shadowing.					
Counselors support teachers with career development resources such as career development curricula, information, and community resource persons.					
All students participate in activities that promote nontraditional, higher wage occupations.					
Job shadowing, work experience, and other work-based learning experiences are available to all students.					
There is adequate space for counselors to conduct individual and group activities with students and/or parents.					
Family/Parental Involvement and Support	nvolvei	nent al	ldnS pu	port	
		Curren	Current Status		
		Some-			
Program Status	Yes	what	No	N/A	Remarks
Parents are actively involved and participate in the career planning process with their children.					
Parents are involved in an advisory role in the program. Nontraditional careers/higher wage opportunities are thoroughly explained for					
all students and parents.					

		Current	Current Status		
Duccuom Status	Vas	Some-	Ň	* / 1	Domowlie
rrogram status	res	WIIAL	00	NA	Kemärks
Teachers, librarians, and other school staff/personnel are involved in and understand the goals of the career development program.					
All school staff understand how their contributions to the career development program fit in with the comprehensive K-12 program.					
Teachers understand the content of applied courses.					
Teachers understand the relationship of basic skills such as reading, writing, mathematics, communication, critical thinking, problem solving, and teamwork.					
Teachers understand articulation agreements between institutions so they can advise students appropriately.					
Teachers understand course sequences, career maps, and clusters designed to transition students between secondary and postsecondary institutions.					
				-	

Faculty/Staff Involvement

Intra- and Interagency Collaboration

		Curren	Current Status		
		Some-			
Program Status	Yes	what	No	N/A	Remarks
The program has a formal Project Advisory Committee with members repre- senting the community, teachers, parents, and students.					
Counselors promote a positive healthy school climate in which all individuals are valued for their participation.					
The career development program has a formal link with counseling programs at the postsecondary institutions where students frequently attend.					
Formal agreements for transition of secondary students to postsecondary education or training are in place.					
Postsecondary counselors (e.g., local community college) are familiar with the secondary career development programs and career options presented to students.					
Counselors are involved in developing Tech Prep, applied academics, youth apprenticeships, or other curriculum restructuring efforts.					
Counselors and staff provide schoolwide activities promoting technical as well as other career options.					
Adapted with permission from Career Development Program Plan by R. Lambert and J. Ettinger, 1995, Madison: University of Wisconsin–Madison, Center on Education and Work.	ger, 1995, N	ladison: Un	iversity of	Wisconsin-	Madison, Center on Education and Work.

			,		
		Current Status	Status		
Proora m Status	Yes	Some- what	No	N/A	Remarks
Counselors act as agents for change by working with teachers to infuse career awareness activities throughout the curriculum.					
Postsecondary counselors and instructors support teachers and counselors with resources, curriculum consultation, and career services.					
Counselors actively seek out partnerships or working relationships with other school personnel that will help students make informed career choices.					

Intra- and Interagency Collaboration (continued)

Business/Industry Collaboration

		Current	Current Status		
Program Status	Yes	Some- what	No	N/A	Remarks
Counselors are aware of, and involved in, partnerships between education and businesses/industry/labor.					
Counselors communicate regularly with business about the preparation of students for work.					
Business/industry/labor management and employers are available to talk with students about work and employment.					
A networking system exists which the program can draw upon for job shadowing, work experiences, and mentorship opportunities.					

			•		
		Current Status	Status		
Program Status	Yes	Some- what	No	N/A	Remarks
There is evidence of administrative and/or governing body support to the program.					
Policies supporting the program have been instituted and are clearly stated.					
Adequate financial resources are available for program staff's salaries, activities, and materials.					
Program funding is stable and reliable and comes from diverse sources (both local and state, internal and external).					

Institutional and Financial Support

Guidance Personnel Qualification

		Current Status	Status		
Program Status	Yes	Some- what	No	N/A	Remarks
Staff with appropriate education, experience, and professional credentials or licensing operate the program.					
The ratio between counselor to student is no higher than 1:300.					

		Current Status	Status		
		Some-			
Program Status	Yes	what	No	N/A	Remarks
There is a professional development program that is aligned with the mission and goals of the career development program.					
Counselors are actively involved in organizing for and attending professional development activities.					
Counselors conduct professional development activities for others such as peer counselors, teachers, or educational agencies.					
Support and incentives are available for counselors and staff to attend professional development activities.					
Counselors understand the relationship of basic skills such as reading, writing, mathematics, communication, critical thinking, problem solving, and teamwork.					
Counselors understand articulation agreements between institutions so they can advise students appropriately.					
Counselors understand course sequences, career maps, and clusters designed to transition students between secondary and postsecondary institutions.					
Counselors understand the content of applied courses.					

Professional Development

Current Status	p	Curren	Current Status		
Program Status	Yes	Some- what	No	N/A	Remarks
A needs assessment has been completed that looks at career development services in my school.					
Regular evaluations are conducted of the career development program.					
Evaluation reports are prepared and shared with key program personnel and a Project Advisory Committee.					
Administrators, program staff, and others use these reports for program planning and improvement.					
The program has a record or evidence of effectiveness such as career develop- ment competencies demonstrated by students, success rates of dropout pro- grams, numbers of students employed upon graduation, follow-up data, and follow-along information.					
The program has evidence showing that changes have occurred because of the guidance program.					
The program has evidence to demonstrate gains made by students in identified areas.					
Teachers and other staff members, students, parents, business/community representatives, and other individuals or groups provide feedback on program effectiveness.					
	1005 11 1	11		1	

Evidence of Program Effectiveness

To be completed during the workshop.

TEAM PLANNING WORKSHEETS

NATIONAL CENTER FOR RESEARCH IN VOCATIONAL EDUCATION

IN COOPERATION WITH

U.S. DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION, OFFICE OF VOCATIONAL AND ADULT EDUCATION AMERICAN SCHOOL COUNSELOR ASSOCIATION ASSOCIATION FOR CAREER AND TECHNICAL EDUCATION UNIVERSITY OF WISCONSIN–MADISON, CENTER ON EDUCATION AND WORK

TEAM PLANNING WORKSHEETS

The team's recorder should complete these forms.

1. Please list the following persons who will lead, record, and report for your team during this workshop.

Team Name (School):	
Team Leader:	
Tourn Loudon.	
Recorder:	
Dementeri	
Reporter:	

- 2. As a team, discuss the meaning of career development and record your definition below.
- 3. List some of the major problems in your school that a good career development program might help solve.
- 4. What project will your team plan during this workshop?
 - A. What will you do (e.g., Plan a 9th grade class that includes . . .)?
 - B. Who will do it? On a separate sheet, make a list of programs currently in place in your school that may address career development competencies/goals.

C. For whose benefit?

E. How will outcomes or evidence of success be measured? F. Who is accountable? Who will serve on your Project Advisory Committee? When will serve on your Project Advisory Committee? Professional Development A. When will you provide inservice for those who will implement the project	F. Who is accountable? Who will serve on your Project Advisory Committee? When will your team meet during the year (Dates?)?		
Who will serve on your Project Advisory Committee? When will your team meet during the year (Dates?)? Professional Development	Who will serve on your Project Advisory Committee? When will your team meet during the year (Dates?)? Professional Development A. When will you provide inservice for those who will implement the project	Е.	How will outcomes or evidence of success be measured?
When will your team meet during the year (Dates?)? Professional Development	When will your team meet during the year (Dates?)? Professional Development A. When will you provide inservice for those who will implement the projec	 F.	Who is accountable?
Professional Development	Professional Development A. When will you provide inservice for those who will implement the projec	W	no will serve on your Project Advisory Committee?
	A. When will you provide inservice for those who will implement the project		nen will your team meet during the year (Dates?)?

Program Title: Goal/Vision:					
	E				
Activity	larget Date	kesources Needed	Persons Responsible	Desired Outcomes	Assessment
National Center for Re Improving Career Guid	National Center for Research in Vocational Education Improving Career Guidance Programs Through Professional Development Project	נבונים ו Professional Developו	ment Project		

ACTION PLAN FORM

Team Name (School):

FOLLOW-UP SCHEDULE

To be completed before the end of the workshop.

Team Name (School):

• Contombou	(telephone/e-mail/letter, etc.)	Materials Due	Date Due
September			
October			
• November			
December			

Reshaping Career Development Programs City Workshop

(Day 1)

EVALUATION

1. Please evaluate each session by circling the response that best describes your opinion.

	ession/Activity Title	Not Usefu	ıl		V	ery Useful
И	Vorkshop Goal/Career Development	1	2	3	4	5
E	xemplary Program A	1	2	3	4	5
E	xemplary Program B	1	2	3	4	5
Ľ	Developing the Plan	1	2	3	4	5
V	/hat did you like about today's work					
-						
V	/hat would you have changed about	today's wor	kshop?			
-						
D	o you have suggestions for tomorro					
-						
-						
C	omments:					

Reshaping Career Development Programs City Workshop

(Day 2)

EVALUATION

1. Please evaluate each session by circling the response that best describes your opinion.

	Session/Activity Title	Not Usefu	1		V	ery Useful
	Facilitating Change in Schools	1	2	3	4	5
2.	What did you like about today's wor					
3.	What would you have changed abou					
4.	Overall, is this kind of workshop use	eful? Why or	why no	t?		
5.	Would you recommend this activity not?	to other scho	ols or sc	hool dis	tricts? V	Why or why
6.	Do you have suggestions for future					
7.	Comments:					

Self-Study for Meeting Comprehensive Counseling and Guidance Program Standards

UTAH STATE OFFICE OF EDUCATION SALT LAKE CITY, UTAH

January 1998

HIGH SCHOOL LEVEL

Self-Study for Meeting Comprehensive Counseling and Guidance Program Standards

This document is designed to help you determine how your school has progressed in the implementation of the comprehensive counseling and guidance program. When program implementation has progressed to the point that the program standards can be met, the school guidance team will complete this self-study and review it with the district Applied Technology Education Director and Student Services Director for recommendation of an on-site review.

A. Board Adoption or Approval

- 1. Has a school/district comprehensive counseling and guidance program model or manual been developed, submitted, and adopted by the local district board for approval?
- 2. Is there evidence of board approval (minutes, agenda, letter, etc.)?

Date of board approval:

B. Advisory and Steering Committees

1. What evidence do you have that both an advisory and a steering committee have been organized and are functioning effectively?

Evidence of Project Advisory Committee

Frequency of meetings (monthly, quarterly, or semi-annually) Documentation of utilization (agendas, minutes, etc.)

List Project Advisory Committee Members

Evidence of Steering Committee

Frequency of meetings (monthly, quarterly, or semi-annually) Documentation of utilization (agendas, minutes, etc.)

List Steering Committee Members

C. Needs Assessment

1. Implementation

The school has completed a formal guidance program needs assessment. () Yes () No
Data have been gathered from students, parents, and faculty.

The assessment study is not more than four (4) years old. () Yes () No

Date of last formal needs assessment:

2. Utilization

Have the results of the needs assessment been used to prioritize counseling and guidance activities?

D. Time Allocation

1. What target time allocations have been established for your guidance program in the following areas? What rationale has been used in determining your target time allocations?

Component	% of Target Time	% of Actual Time
Guidance Curriculum		
Individual Planning		
Responsive Services		
System Support		

- 2. What is the total percent of counselor time currently devoted to direct services to students (Guidance Curriculum, Individual Planning, Responsive Services)? percent
- 3. What evidence exists that all counselors are documenting the allocation of time (e.g., daily time logs, weekly/monthly calendars)? Have you built a full year school guidance program calendar that reflects your target time percentages?

E. All Students

- 1. Is the program developed to serve all students (including disadvantaged students, students with diverse ethnic or cultural backgrounds, students with disabilities, students with limited English proficiency, and academically talented students)? What evidence do you have to support this?
- 2. Describe how counselors are meeting with all students during the course of the school year (individually and in small groups). What evidence do you have to support this (average number of times counselors meet with all students, etc.)?

F. SEOP

1. Describe the school's SEOP process. Common elements of the SEOP process are . . .

Coordinated guidance curriculum activities sequenced by grade level in areas of self-knowledge, education and occupation exploration, and career planning;

Individual student assessment: aptitude, interest, and achievement;

Parental involvement: annual individual and/or small group conferences with student, parent, and counselor;

Well-defined objectives: goal setting, plans to attain goals; and

Advisement.

2. Attach a copy of the SEOP planning document used by the school. Common elements of the planning document are . . .

Evidence of school-to-work education and career goals;

Written four-year plan connected to a postsecondary goal and an approved sequence of academic and applied technology education courses;

Evidence of Board of Education graduation requirements;

Evidence of student, parent, and counselor participation in the planning process; and

Evidence of SEOP planning process activities.

3. Describe how your school's SEOP process is in compliance with your district SEOP policy and State Statute.

G. Comprehensive Nature of Program

- 1. Describe activities that have been developed and sequenced by grade level to respond to each of the 12 National Occupational Information Coordinating Committee (NOICC) Competencies. Explain how these activities demonstrate the comprehensive nature of the program (career classes, curriculum areas, counselor presentations, etc.).
- 2. How are the guidance curriculum activities directed towards the results of the needs assessment? Show evidence of this with samples of lesson plans and materials used by counselors and teachers that address competencies identified as high priority by the needs assessment.

Self-Knowledge Component

- a. Understanding the influence of a positive self-concept
- b. Skills to interact positively with others
- c. Understanding the impact of growth and development

Educational and Occupational Exploration Component

- d. Understanding the relationship between educational achievement and career planning
- e. Understanding the need for positive attitudes toward work and learning
- f. Skills to locate and evaluate and interpret career information
- g. Skills to prepare, seek, obtain, maintain, and change jobs
- h. Understanding how societal needs and functions influence the nature and structure of work

Career Planning Component

- i. Skills to make decisions
- j. Understanding the interrelationships of life roles
- k. Understanding the continuous changes in male/female roles
- 1. Skills in career planning

H. Placement

- 1. Describe how students are developing job seeking and finding skills.
- 2. Describe how students access post high school placement information. Resources may include the following:

Utah CHOICES	Career Center	ATE Coordinator
Job Service	Career Fairs	Post High School Tour
District Outreach		

3. Describe how students are assisted in their post high school placement—connecting to a "next step" in education and/or training.

I. Responsive Services

1. Describe responsive services available to address the immediate concerns of students. Include prevention and intervention activities/programs developed to address concerns and needs of students as identified by teachers, parents, community members, etc. Some areas of focus may include the following:

Dropout prevention Student Assistance Program Peer Leadership Team Community of Caring Character Education Drug and Alcohol - Prevention Dimensions Resource Abuse, grief, loss, death Suicide prevention Individual and group counseling Crisis intervention

2. How has the needs assessment been used in identifying areas of focus for responsive services?

J. Program Articulation

- 1. Describe the program articulation within the feeder school system.
- 2. What efforts have the middle/junior high and elementary schools made toward implementing a comprehensive counseling and guidance program?

K. Structural Components

1. Describe the adequacy of the following structural components:

Guidance facilities Equipment, computers, etc. Resources, curriculum material (career information delivery systems, assessment materials, occupational information, etc.) Clerical support

2. Explain how you have worked with the school district as well as the school principal to establish a budget which adequately supports the program.

L. Inservice Training

- 1. Has the high school principal attended comprehensive guidance program training?
- 2. Have all members of the counseling staff and other key staff members (or guidance program team members) completed the comprehensive guidance program training?

A Guide for Improving Career Guidance Programs

3. Describe how you are working to inservice teachers and other key staff on program implementation.

M. Pupil/Counselor Ratio

1. Comment on the pupil/counselor ratio in the school as it relates to the delivery of direct services to students.

N. Additional Comments or Observations

- 1. Describe current successes of your guidance program as well as goals yet to be accomplished.
- 2. Are you taking time to evaluate each component of the guidance program?
- 3. What data do you have which positively support comprehensive guidance program implementation?

Administrator	Date	Counselor	Date
Administrator	Date	Counselor	Date
Administrator	Date	Counselor	Date

A Guide for Improving Career Guidance Programs

Developed by the Utah State Office of Education, Salt Lake City.

COMPREHENSIVE GUIDANCE PROGRAM AUDIT

ORGANIZATIONAL FRAMEWORK, ACTIVITIES, AND TIME

Conceptual Framework

Definition

- Is there a written statement of the program's mission?
 - For the district?
 - For the building?
- Is there a written framework that describes the program's activities?
 - For the district?
 - For the building?
- Is there a yearly program implementation calendar that lays out the guidance activities to be provided?
- Do school counselors develop and adhere to a weekly schedule?

Rationale

• Is the rationale for the program based on identified student needs, local policy, state and/or federal law, professional research and literature?

Assumptions

• Are the assumptions made about the school counselor's role and responsibilities explicitly stated?

Structural Framework

- Are committees organized and functioning effectively? Do they provide assistance in designing and implementing the guidance program?
- Are the guidance facilities and space adequate to allow for the program activities?
- Is there sufficient staff to implement the guidance program?

PROGRAM COMPONENTS

Guidance Curriculum

• Are guidance curriculum activities sequenced, integrated, and conducted at each grade level?

- Is the guidance curriculum articulated between the elementary, middle/junior high, and high school levels?
- How many counselor-led guidance activities do students in each grade level participate in each year?

Individual Planning

- At what grade levels are students assisted in developing and monitoring their educational and career goals and plans (SEOP)?
- How are the SEOP activities organized?
- How are parents involved?
- Is there sufficient information available to support these activities? How is the information made available to students, parents, and teachers?
- How are students assisted in understanding assessment results and in applying this information to their goals and plans?

Responsive Services

- How do students access responsive services?
- What are the priorities for providing responsive services and how are these priorities determined each year?
- What topics are addressed through small group counseling activities? How are small group activities organized?
- Is there a written crisis management plan?
- How are students referred for assistance?

System Support

- How do counselors manage the guidance program?
- How often do counselors meet as a team in the building, with other counselors from neighboring buildings, and with other counselors from the same school level from across the district?
- Where and how are staff development offerings provided?
- How do parents and other community members learn about the guidance program?
- How do teachers and administrators learn about the guidance program?
- How do teachers and administrators access guidance program services?
- Is the program redefined and re-evaluated each year?
- What is the distribution of counselor's time among the program components?

Component

Percent of Counselor/Program Time

 Guidance Curriculum

 Individual Planning

 Responsive Services

 System Support

 Non-Guidance

• Is at least 80% of counselor time spent on direct services to 100% of the students?

CONTENT

- What content domains summarize the subject matter of your guidance program?
- Are there specific competencies identified for achievement at each grade level?
- How does the guidance team set priorities for addressing the competencies?

RESOURCES

Human

- What is the counselor/student ratio? How are counselors assigned to students and what is the rationale supporting those assignments?
- Is there a written counselor job description?
- Is there a counselor-appropriate performance improvement system in place, including performance evaluation and goal-setting for professional development activities?
- Are the guidance program leaders certified school counselors?
- Are the head counselor's roles and responsibilities clearly spelled out?
- Are recordkeeping systems efficient?
- Does the guidance team reflect the demographics of the community?

Financial

- Is there an adequate budget to support the guidance program to . . .
 - Buy or develop program materials?
 - Buy office supplies?
 - Provide staff development?

Political

- What does the local school board envision as the purpose and priorities of the guidance program?
- What does the district administration (superintendent and other senior staff members) envision as the purpose and priorities of the guidance program?
- Is the school board and district administration supportive of the guidance program?
- Are the counselors supportive of the guidance program approach? Are the counselors motivated to continuously improve the program?
- Are the counselors motivated to continually improve their performance?

Developed by the Utah State Office of Education, Salt Lake City.

APPENDIX B. PROJECT ADVISORY COMMITTEE MEMBERS AND U.S. DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION STAFF

PROJECT ADVISORY COMMITTEE MEMBERS AND U.S. DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION STAFF

Gisela Harkin

U.S. Department of Education/OVAE 400 Maryland Avenue, SW Switzer Building, Room 4324 Washington, DC 20202 (202) 205-9037 Fax: (202) 205-5522 E-mail: gisela harkin@ed.gov

Pat Schwallie-Giddis George Washington University Department of Counseling, Human and Organizational Studies 2134 G. Street NW, Room 320 Washington, DC 20052 (202) 823-8215 E-mail: schwallieg@aol.com

Roger Lambert University of Wisconsin–Madison 964 Education Sciences Building 1025 W. Johnson Street Madison, WI 53706 (608) 263-2704 Fax: (608) 262-3063 E-mail: rlambert@soe.madison.wisc.edu

Judy Ettinger University of Wisconsin–Madison 964 Education Sciences Building 1025 W. Johnson Street Madison, WI 53706 (608) 263-4367 Fax: (608) 262-3063 E-mail: jettinger@soemadison.wisc.edu

Nancy Perry American School Counselor Association 801 N. Fairfax, Suite 310 Alexandria, VA 22314 (703) 683-2722 Fax: (703) 683-1619

Nancy Harris Illinois State Board of Education 100 N. First Street Springfield, IL 62777-0001 (217) 782-4620 Fax: (217) 782-9224 E-mail: NHARRIS@smtp.isbe.state.il.us Judy Petersen Granger High School 3690 S. 3600 West West Valley City, UT 84119 (801) 964-7603 Fax: (801) 964-7610 E-mail: iguana1@slkc.uswest.net

Laura Ward Montgomery Public Schools P.O. Box 6223 Montgomery, AL 36106 (334) 241-5303 (or 5304) Voice mail: (334) 269-3784

In addition to the regular members of the Project Advisory Committee, we appreciate the guidance and assistance provided by the following:

Laura Messenger U.S. Department of Education/OVAE 400 Maryland Avenue SW MES Room 4519 Washington, DC 20202 (202) 205-5565

Jackie Friederich U.S. Department of Education/OVAE 400 Maryland Avenue SW MES Room 4526 Washington, DC 20202 (202) 205-9071

Sylvia Clark Texas Education Agency 1701 N. Congress Avenue Austin, TX 78701-1494 (512) 463-9498 Fax: (512) 463-4584 E-mail: sclark@mail4.tea.tx.us